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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA :

v. + CRIMINAL NO. 23.1257 (1SC)

DONALDJ.TRUMP, :

Defendant. *

GOVERNMENT'S MOTION FOR IMMUNITY DETERMINATIONS

The defendant asserts that he is immune from prosecution for his criminal scheme to

overtum the 2020 presidential election because, he claims, it entailed official conduct. Not so.

Although the defendant was the incumbent President during the charged conspiracies, his scheme

was fundamentally a private one. Working with a teamofprivate co-conspirators, the defendant

acted as a candidate when he pursued multiple criminal means to disrupt, through fraud and deceit,

the government function by which votes are collected and counted—a function in which the

defendant, as President, had no official role. In Trump v. United States, 144 S. Ct. 2312 (2024),

the Supreme Court held that presidents are immune from prosecution for certain official conduct

including the defendant’s use of the Justice Department in furtheranceofhis scheme, as was

alleged in the original indictment —and remanded to this Court to determine whether the remaining

allegations against the defendant are immunized. The answer to that question is no. This motion

provides acomprehensive accountofthe defendant's private criminal conduct; sets forth the legal

framework created by Trump for resolving immunity claims; applies that framework to establish

that noneof the defendant's charged conduct is immunized because it either was unofficial or any

presumptive immunity is rebutted; and requests the relicf the Government secks, which is, at

bottom, this: that the Court determine that the defendant must stand trial for his private crimes as

would anyothercitizen.
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‘This motion provides the framework for conducting the “necessarily factbound” immunity

analysis required by the Supreme Court's remand order. Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2340. It proceeds

in four parts.

Section I provides a detailed statementofthe case that the Government intends to prove at

trial. This includes the conduct alleged in the superseding indictment, as well as other categories

of evidence that the Government intends to present in its case-in-chief. This detailed statement

reflects the Supreme Court’s ruling that presidential immunity contains an evidentiary component,

id., which should be “addressed at the outsetof a proceeding,” id. at 2334.

Section II sets forth the legal principles governing claims of presidential immunity. It

explains that,foreach categoryofconduct that the Supreme Court has not yet addressed, this Court

should first determine whether it was official or unofficial by analyzing the relevant “content,

form, and context,” id. at 2340, to determine whether the defendant was acting in his official

capacity or instead “in his capacity as a candidate for re-election.” Blassingame v. Trump, 87 FAth

1,17 (D.C. Cir. 2023). Where the defendant was acting “as office-seeker, not office-folder,” no

immunity attaches. 1d. (emphasis in original). For any conduct deemed official, the Court should

next determine whether the presumptionof immunity is rebutted, which requires the Government

to show that “applying a criminal prohibition to that act would pose no ‘dangers of intrusion on

the authority and functions of the Executive Branch.” Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2331-32 (quoting

Nixon v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 731, 754 (1982)

Section I then applies those legal principles to the defendant’s conduct and establishes

that nothing the Government intends to present to the jury is protected by presidential immunity.

Although the defendant'sdiscussionswith the Vice President about “their official responsibilities”

qualify as official, see Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2336, the Goverment rebuts the presumption of
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immunity attaches.  Id. (emphasis in original).  For any conduct deemed official, the Court should 

next determine whether the presumption of immunity is rebutted, which requires the Government 

to show that “applying a criminal prohibition to that act would pose no ‘dangers of intrusion on 

the authority and functions of the Executive Branch.’”  Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2331-32 (quoting 

Nixon v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 731, 754 (1982)). 

Section III then applies those legal principles to the defendant’s conduct and establishes 

that nothing the Government intends to present to the jury is protected by presidential immunity.  
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qualify as official, see Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2336, the Government rebuts the presumption of 
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immunity. And all of the defendant's remaining conduct was unofficial: as content, form, and

context show, the defendant was acting in his capacity as a candidate for reelection, not in his

capacity as President. In the alternative, if any of this conduct were deemed official, the

Government could rebut the presumption of immunity.

Finally, Section IV explains therelief sought by the Government and specifies the findings

the Court should make ina singleorder—namely, that the defendant’s conduct set forth in Section

Tis not immunized, and that as a result, the defendant must stand trial on the superseding

indictment and the Government is not prohibited at trial from using evidence of the conduct

described in Section I.

I Factual Proffer

‘When the defendant lost the 2020 presidential election, he resorted to crimes to try to stay

in office. With private co-conspirators, the defendant launched a series of increasingly desperate

plans to overturn the legitimate election results in seven states that he had lost—Arizona, Georgia,

Michigan, Nevada, New Mexico, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin (the “targeted states”). His efforts

included lying to state officials in order to induce them to ignore true vote counts; manufacturing

fraudulent electoral votes in the targeted states; attempting to enlist Vice President Michael R.

Pence, in his role as Presidentofthe Senate, to obstruct Congress's certificationofthe election by

using the defendant's fraudulent electoral votes; and when all else had failed, on January 6, 2021,

directing an angry crowd of supporters to the United States Capitol to obstruct the congressional

certification. The throughlineof these efforts was deceit; the defendant's and co-conspirators”

knowingly false claimsof lection fraud. They used these lies in furtheranceof three conspiracies

1)a conspiracy to interfere with the federal government function by which the nation collects and

‘counts election results, which is set forth in the Constitution and the Electoral Count Act (ECA);

2)a conspiracy to obstruct the official proceeding in which Congress certifies the legitimate results
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ofthe presidential election: and 3) a conspiracy against the rights ofmillionsofAmericans to vote

and have their votes counted.

At its core, the defendant's scheme was a private criminal effort. In his capacity as a

‘candidate, the defendant used deceit o target every stageofthe electoral process, which through

the Constitution, ECA, and state laws includes the states” notification (0 the federal government

ofthe selectionof their representative electors based on the popular vo in the state; the meeting

of those electors to cast their votes consistent with the popular vote; and Congress's counting of

the electors’ votes at a certification proceeding. As set forth in detail below, the defendant worked

with private co-conspirator, including private atomeys

SI+ vvoiscprESE»
The defendant also relied heavily on private agents, such as his Campaign employees and

volunteers, like Campaign Manager[| EEE Depvty Campaign Manager| EEN

Senior CampaignAdvisor JERE and Compainoperaive[EI
In this section, the Government sets forth detailed facts supporting the charges against the

defendant," before addressing in the next section why noneofthis conduct is subject to immunity

under the Supreme Courts decision in Trump. The conduct set forth below includes the

defendant's formation of the conspiracies leading up to and immediately following the 2020

presidential election; certain information regarding his knowledge that there had not been

outcome-deteminative fraud in the election as he persistently claimed: and his increasingly

desperate efforts to use knowingly false claimsofelection fraud to disrupt the electoral process.

Section I represents the Government's efforts to provide the Court and the defendant with all of
the categoriesof evidence that it may offer in its case-in-chiefa trial. Itdoes not include citations
to every potential exhibit, nor does it account for any additional evidence that may be developed
before tral.

4
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The Government does not consider anyofthe following conduct to be subject to immunity for the

reasons set forth in Section II.

A. Formationofthe Conspiracies

Although his multiple conspiracies began after election day in 2020, the defendant laid the

‘aroundwworkfor his crimes well before then. Leading into the election, the defendant's private and

Campaign advisors, including[ERIE (hen a private citizen) and[JE (the defendant's

Campaign manager), informed him that it would be a close contest and that it was unlikely to be

finalized on election day—in part because of the time needed to process large numbersof mail-in

ballots prompted by the COVID-19 pandemic.” They also told the defendant that the inital returns

on election night might be misleading —that s, that he might take an early lead in the vote count

that would dinsinish as mail-in ballots were counted because his own supporters favored in-person

Voting, while supporters of his opponent, Joseph R. Biden, favored mail-in ballots.>

Privately, the defendant told advisors—including Campaign personnel,

I (¢ White House staffer and Campaign volunteer), and (the Vice President's

ChiefofStaff) —that in such a scenario, he would simply declare victory before al the ballots were

‘counted and any winner was projected.* Publicly, the defendant began to plant the seeds for that

false declaration. In the months leading up to the election, he refused to say whether he would

accept the election results, insisted that he could lose the election only because of fiaud, falsely

Jon501.510 : 6a 591-599(EE G- 2c

249 ): GA 132-153 2
GA 505.507 ): GA 250-255 ): GA 588-589

)
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claimed that mail-in ballots were inherently fraudulent, and asserted that only votes counted by

election day were valid. For instance:

« Inan interview on July 19, 2020, when asked repeatedlyif he would accept the results
of the election, the defendant said he would “have to see” and “it depends.”

«On July 30, despite having voted by mail himself carlier that year, the defendant
suggested that widespread mail-in voting provided cause for delaying the lection,
tweeting, “With Universal Mail-In Voting (not Absentee Voting, which is good), 2020
will be the most INACCURATE & FRAUDULENT Election in history. It will be a
great embarrassment to the USA. Delay the Election until people can properly, securely
and safely vote???

« Inan interview on August 2, the defendant claimed, without any basis, that “[tJhere is
no way you can go through a mail-in vote without massive cheating.”

Ata campaign event in Wisconsin on August 17, the defendant told his supporters,
“[tJhe only way we're going to lose this election is if the election is rigged, remember
that. Its the only way we're going to lose this election, so we have to be very careful.”

«In his acceptance speech at the Republican National Convention on August 24, the
defendant said that “[iJhe only way they can take this election away from us isif this is
a rigged election.”

«On October 27, during remarks regarding his campaign, the defendant said, “[iJt would
be very, very proper and very nice ifa winner were declared on November 3rd, instead
of counting ballots for two weeks, which is totally inappropriate, and 1 don't believe
that that's by our laws. T don’t believe that. So well see what happens.” The
defendant said this despite—or perhaps because—his private advisors had informed
him that it was unlikely that the winner of the election would be declared on
November 3

© GA 1968 at 37:20 (Videoof Trump Interview with Chris Wallace 07/19/2020).
© See hups://x.com/realDonaldTrump/status/1288818160389558273 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
07302020).
7 See Donald Trump Interview Transcript with Jonathan SwanofAxios on HBO, Rev (Aug. 3,
2020) hitps://www.rev.com/blog/transeripts/donald-trump-interview-transcript-with-axios-on-
hbo.
¥ GA 1943 at 57:33 (VideoofOshkosh Rally 08/17/2020).
GA 1951 at 22:08 (Video of RNC Speech 08/24/2020).

19GA 1927 at 3:11-3:28 (VideoofDonald J. Trump Statement 10/27/2020)
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great embarrassment to the USA.  Delay the Election until people can properly, securely 
and safely vote???”6

 In an interview on August 2, the defendant claimed, without any basis, that “[t]here is 
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6 See https://x.com/realDonaldTrump/status/1288818160389558273 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 
07/30/2020). 
7 See Donald Trump Interview Transcript with Jonathan Swan of Axios on HBO, Rev (Aug. 3, 
2020) https://www.rev.com/blog/transcripts/donald-trump-interview-transcript-with-axios-on-
hbo.
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By October2020,[JI private political advisor who had worked for the defendant's

2016 presidential campaign, began to assist with the defendant's re-election effort. Three days

before electionday,JERI described the defendants pan to a private gathering of supporters:
“And what Trump's going to do is just declare victory. Right? He's going to declare victory.

‘That doesn’t mean he’s the winner, he’s just going to say he’s the winner.”!! Afier explaining that

Biden's supporters favored voting by mail, [JEIll stated further, “And so they're going to have

anatural disadvantage and Trump'sgoingto ake advantageof it—that’s our strategy. He's going

to declare himselfa winner.”

Inumediately following election day on November 3, the defendant did exactly that. As his

private and Campaign advisors had predicted to him, in certain states, the defendant took an early

lead on election day that began to erode. At approximately 11:20 p.m. Fox News projected that

Biden would prevail in the stateofArizona, and according to Campaign advisor[Jl he and the

defendant were shocked and angry at this development." As election day fumed to November 4,

he contest was too close to project a winner, and in discussions about what the defendant should

say publicly regarding the election, senior advisors suggested that the defendant should show

restraint while counting continued. Two private advisors, however, advocated a different course:

ISIN0IESE suseested that the defendant just declare victory. And at about 2:20 a.m.

the defendant gave televised remarks to a crowd of his campaign supporters in which he falsely

1.GA 1886 10:00 | .
2 1d.1020 | .
GA 376-380 at 70-74 )
GA 600-602 § ): GA 610-614 ): GA 380-
383 : GA128-130 :Ga161(EE

Ga 15a : Ga 600 ): GA 181-182
.

7.
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claimed, without evidence or specificity, that there had been fraud in the election and that he had

won: “This is a fraud on the American public. This is an embarrassment to our country. We were

getting ready to win this election. Frankly, we did win this election. We did win this election.”

In the immediate post-election period. while the defendant claimed fraud without proof.

his private operatives sought to create chaos, rather than seek clarity, at polling places where states

were continuing to tabulate votes. For example, on November 4, [JJEll}—a Campaign employee,

agent, and co-conspirator of the defendant —ried to sow confusion when the ongoing vote count

at the TCF Center in Detroit, Michigan, looked unfavorable for the defendant. There, when a

colleague at the TCF Center told[Jl] “We think [a batchofvotes heavily in Biden's favor is]

right"?[JE responded, “find a reason it isnt,” “give me options to file litigation,” and “even

ifitbis [sic] ”** When the colleague suggested that there was about tobe unrest reminiscentof the

Brooks Brothers Riot, a violent effort 10 stop the vote count in Florida after the 2000 presidential

election, responded, “Make them riot” and “Do it!!!" The defendant's Campaign

operatives and supporters used similar tactics at other tabulation centers including in Philadelphia,

Pennsylvania, 2! and the defendant sometimes used the resulting confrontations to falsely claim

16.GA 1974 at 7:44 (Videoof White House Speech 11/04/2020).
76a 96506(
NG

1d
qd.

-8-
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that his election observers were being denied proper access, thus serving as a predicate to the

defendant’ claim that fraud must have ocurred in the observers” absence.2

Contrary to the defendant’s public claims of victory immediately following election day,

his advisors informed him that he would likely lose. On November 7, in a private Campaign

meeting that include ENNEE GR vtWhite HousesoeIAN ho came
to serve as a conduit for information from the Campaign to the defendant, Campaignstaff told the

defendant that he hadonlyaslim chanceofprevailing in the election, and thatanypotential success

‘was contingent on the defendant winning all ongoing votecountsor litigation in Arizona, Georgia,

‘and Wisconsin.” Withina weekof that assessment, on November 13, the defendant's Campaign

conceded its ligation in Arizona™—meaning that based on his Campaign advisors’ previous

assessment, the defendant had lost the election.

‘That same day, in an implicit acknowledgment that he had no lawful way to prevail, the

defendant sidelined the existing Campaign staff responsible for mounting his legal election

challenges. From[JEEM and others who were telling the defendant the truth that he did

not want to hear—that he had lost—the defendant tumed to[SH]. a private attomey who was

willing to falsely claim victory and spread knowingly false claimsofelection fraud.

As the defendant placed altemating phone calls to [Jl] and [SSH throughout

November 13,2 [Jl informed [GEG another private Campaign advisor, of the change,

writing, “Close hold don’t tell anyone Trump just fired| ENE 2d put [SH in charge” and

2 GA 774775 (Donald J Trump Tweet 11062020 GA 776.
hitps:/x comvreal DonaldTrump/status/1325194709443080192 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
1107/2020).
>a 15-15(EE
** GA 1001 (DonaldJ. Trumpfor President, Inc. v. Hobbs Hearing Transcript 11/13/2020); GA
1002-1003 (Minute entry and order dismissing DonaldJ. Trumpfor President, Inc. v. Hobbs)
=a 75175: (EE

“9
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“Youare to reportto[SSI When[ESSE asked itJEM was “zone too”,[JEHH replied

that “{t]bey all report to[SH and that [JJIl]bad “made a recommendation directly that ifSl]

was not in charge this thing is over[.] Trump is in to the end." The next day, consistent with

description, the defendant announced hisstaff change by Tweet, writing, “I look forward

to[SSI spearheading the legal effort to defend OUR RIGHT to FREE and FAIR

eLECTIONS! [vo1]
[Il «truly ereat team, added to our other wonderful lawyers and representatives!"

B. The Defendant Knew that His Claims of Outcome-Determinative Fraud Were
False

Following election day and throughout the charged conspiracies, the defendant, his co-

‘conspirators, and their agents spread lies that there had been outcome-determinative fraud in the

election and that he had actually won. These lies included dozens of specific claims that there had

been substantial fraud in certain states, such as that large numbers of dead, non-resident, non-

citizen, or otherwise ineligible voters had cast ballots, or that voting machines had changed votes

for the defendant to votes for Biden. And the defendant and co-conspirators continued to make

hese unsupported. objectively unreasonable, and ever-changing claims even afler they had been

‘publicly disproven or after advisors had directly informed the defendant that they were unirue.

‘The evidence demonstrates that the defendant knew his fraudclaims were false because he

continued to make those claims even after his close advisors —acting not in an official capacity

but in a private or Campaign-related capacity—told him they were not true. These advisors

Gx 100:
74
2 GA 784-785 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/14/2020)

-10-
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included[JEG the White House staffer and Campaign conduit, and Pence, the defendant's

running mate.

relationship with the defendant began before JENNER worked for im
in the White House. [NEE vadknown [IEEE t:c defendant's son-in-law, since

was a child, and through met and then the defendant.
REN1: ove ofseveral aitomeys who represented the defendant in his first impeachment

trial in the Senate in2019and 2020, including presenting argument on the Senate floor on January

27,20, began working in the White House as an Assistant to the President in
August 2020 In October 2020, became interested in learning more about the

defendant’s Campaign, and in early November 2020, after he began interfacing with Campaign

tot,JENconsulted with the White House Counsel's Office to ensue he complied with
any applicable laws regarding Campaign activity.” Thereafter, and throughout the post-election

period,[JERI became a conduit of information from the Campaign to the defendant, and

over the course of the conspiracies told the defendant the unvamished truth about

his Campaign legal team and the claims of fraud that they and the defendant were making

Examples of these instances include:

. repeatedly gave the defendant his honest assessment thtJGR could not
mount successful legal challenges to the election. For instance, when the defendant told

{hat he was going 0 purlESSIR in charge ofthe Campaign's legal efforts but
pay hum only if he succeeded. ‘old the defendant he would never have to pay

anything; in response, the defendant laughed andsaid, “we'll see.” Thereafter,
in Oval Office meetings with the defendant, and others, in which) made
pec chin,[EI 1dISSR ot of thedefendanttt

¥GA 699 )
PGA 61 .
3 GA 672-673; GA 686 .
GA 205 D.

21d

“u-
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would be unable to prove his allegations in a courtroom ™ In a separate private
conversation, when[EE reiterated to the defendant that would be unable
to prove his false fraud allegations in court, the defendant responded, *The details don’t
matter

Inthe post-electionperiod,JJNEENI +1so took on the roleofupdating the defendant on
a near-daily basis on the Campaign's unsuccessful efforts to support any fraud claims. *
JERR 0: hc defendant that the Campoizn was ooking mt his nd las, nd
had even hired extemal experts to do so, but could find no support for them. He told the
defendant that ifthe Campaign took these claims (0 court, they would get slaughtered,
because the claims are all “bullshit.”|EEN wos privy in real time to the findings
of the wo expert consulting firms the Compaian retained to investigate fraud claims.

SN WERiced wihth defendant fir
debunkings on all major claims * For example. told the defendant that
Georgia's audit disproved claims tha had altered votes.”

In the post-election time period, Pence —the defendant’s own running mate, who he had

directed o assess fiaudallegations —told the defendant that he had seen no evidenceofoutcome-

determinative fraud in the election “© This was in one of the many conversations the defendant

and Pence had as running mates, in which they discussed their shared electoral interests. Pence

aradually and gently tried to convince the defendant to accept the lawful results of the election,

evenifit meant they lost. These conversations included:

«A conversation on November 4 in which the defendant asked Pence to “study up” claims
ofvoter fraud in states that they had won together in 2016 to determine whether they could
bring legal challenges as candidates in those states. *! Pence described the conversation as
follows: “Well, I think, I think it was broadly. 1t was just look at all of it. Let me know
what you think. But he told me that the Campaign was going to fight, was going o go to

#GA 198-204 ).
BGATIS, 18 )
GA 213214 .
GATS .

* Ga 715721 Ga 207215 (EE
J

YGazln .
“GA 414-420 .
GA 412413 3

n2-
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court and make challenges. ... And then he just said we're going to fight this and take a
look at it. Let meknow what you think "2

+ Acall between the defendant and Pence on November 7, the day that media organizations
began (0 project Biden as the winner of the election. Pence “tried fo encourage” the
defendant “asa friend,” reminding him, “you tookadying political party and gave it a new
lease on life."

+ A November 11 meeting among the defendant, Pence, Campaign staff, and some White
Housestaff during which Pence asked when most ofthe lawsuits wouldberesolved (“when
does this come to a head?”) and the Campaign staff responded, the “week after
Thanksgiving"

+ A November 12 meeting among the defendant, Pence, Campaign staff, and some White
House staff during which, Pence recalls, the “Campaign lawyers gave a sober and
somewhat pessimistic report on the stateof election challenges.”

A private lunch on November 12 in which Pence reiterated a face-saving option for the
defendant: “don’t concede but recognize process is over."

« Aprivate lunch on November 16 in which Pence tried to encourage the defendant to accept
the resultsofthe election and run again in 2024, to which the defendant responded. “I don’t
know, 2024 is so far oft.”

+ A November 23 phone call in which the defendant told Pence that thedefendant's private
attorney,JENIN, was not optimistic about the election challenges. *

© A December 21 private lunch in which Pence “encouraged” the defendant “no to look at
the election as a loss — just an intermission.” This was followed later in the day by a
private discussion in the Oval Office in which the defendant asked Pence, “what do you
think we should do?” Pence said, “afier we have exhausted every legal process in the
courts and Congress, if we stil came up short, [the defendant] should ‘take a bow.”

“GA 413414 .
“Gaal ). See GA 1016 (Pence, So Help Me Godp. 430).
“G03 : Ga 1034-1035(EE

).
GA 422-424 ). See GA 1017 (Pence, So Help MeGodp. 431).

“GA 1037 .
GA 425426 ). See GA 1018 (Pence, SoHelp Me Godp. 432)
“ori me
* GA 442-448 ). See GA 1020-1022 (Pence, So Help Me God p. 437-

S13-
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«Discussions in which Pence apprised the defendant of conversations he had had with
governors in Arizona and Georgia in the contextof “election challenges,” in which Pence
had called the governors “simply to gather information and share it with the president,”*"
and in which the governors did not report evidence of fraud in the elections in their states
and explained that they could not take actions to convene their states’ legislatures.!

But the defendantdisregardedJJG and Pence in the same way that he disregarded

dozens of court decisions that unanimously rejected his and his allies” legal claims, and that he

disregarded officials in the targeted states—including those in his own party—who stated publicly

thathe had lost and that his specific fraud allegations were false. Election officials, for instance,

issued press releases and other public statements to combat the disinformation that the defendant

and alles were spreading** At one point long after the defendant had begun spreading false fraud

439).
GA 1039(EE Sco GA 1018 (Pence, So Help Me God p.

432).
“1 GA 427-429, GA431-435(EE). Sc GA 1018 (Pence, So Help Me God
p.432).
52 GA 1040 (Joint Statement 11/20/2020); GA 1041 (Statement 12/04/2020).
© See, e.g, GA 1043 (Letter to Maricopa County voters 11/17/2020); GA 838 (Arizona
Govemors Tweet 12/01/2020); GA 1041 (Arizona Legislators Statement 12/04/2020); GA 1044-
1046 (Georgia Secretary of State News Release 10/23/2020); GA 1047-1048 (Georgia Secretary
of State News Release 11/05/2020); GA 1947 (Video of Georgia Press Conference 11/06/2020);
GA 1959 (Video of Georgia Press Conference 11/09/2020); GA 1960 (Video of Georgia Press
Conference 11/12/2020); GA 1049-1050 (Georgia Secretary of State News Release 11/18/2020);
GA 1051-1052 (Georgia Secretary of State News Release 11/19/2020); GA 1053-1054 (Georgia
Secretary of State News Release 12/07/2020); GA 1946 (Video of Georgia News Conference
12/07/2020); GA 1948(VideoofGeorgia Press Conference 12/16/2020); GA 1055-1057 (Georgia
Secretary of State News Release 12/29/2020); GA 1949 (Videoof Georgia Secretary of State
Interview with Cavuto 01/02/2021); GA 1958 (Video of Georgia Press Conference 01/04/2021);
GA 1058-1059 (Michigan Secretary of State web page 11/06/2020): GA 1040 (Michigan
Legislators’ Joint Statement 11/20/2020); GA 1060-1062 (Michigan Attomey General and
Secretary of State News Release 12/14/2020); GA 1063-1064 (Michigan SecretaryofState web
page 12/17/2020); GA 1065 (Michigan Secretary of State web page 12/18/2020); GA 1066
(Michigan SecretaryofState web page); GA 1907 (Video of Michigan Clerk's Statement): GA
1068-1070 (New Mexico Secretary of State News Release 12/14/2020); GA 1953 (Video of

Interview with CNN 11/11/2020); GA 822 Tweet 11/27/2020); GA 1071-1072
(Pennsylvania Department of State Public Response Statement 12292020); GA 1073-1076

14
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claims,[JEN » White House staffer traveling with the defendant, overheard him tell family

members that “it doesn't matteifyou won or lost the election. You sill have to fight like hell."

The defendant and his co-conspirators also demonstrated their deliberate disregard for the

truth—and thus their knowledge of flsity—when they repeatedly changed the numbers in their

baseless fraud allegations from day to day. At trial, the Government will introduce several

instancesofthis pattem, in which the defendant and conspirators’ lies were proved by the fact that

they made up figures from whole cloth. One example concems the defendant and conspirators”

claims about non-citizen voters in Arizona. The conspirators started with the allegation that 36,000

non-citizens voted in Arizona;* five days later, it was “beyond credulity that a few hundred

thousand didn’t vote”;* three weeks later, “the bare minimum [was] 40 or 50,000. The reality is

about 250,000"; days after that, the assertion was 32,000; and ultimately, the conspirators

Tanded back where they started, at 36,000—a false figure that they never verifiedorcorroborated. *

Ultimately, the defendant's steady stream of disinformation in the post-election period

culminated in the speech he gave at a privately-funded, privately-organized rally at the Ellipse on

the momingof January 6, 2021, in advanceofthe official proceeding in which Congress was to

certify the election infavorof Biden Tn his speech, the defendant repeated the same lies about

(Wisconsin Elections Commission web page 11/05/2020); GA 1077-1081 (Wisconsin Elections
‘Commission web page 11/10/2020); GA 1082-1087 (Wisconsin Elections Commission web page).
ey~~)
GA 1890a 20:46 (Common Sensevith[JENN 11/25/2020)

% GA 1906 at 2:06:25 (VideoofArizona Hotel Hearing 11/30/2020).
GA 1980 at 18:52 )
GA 1981 at 35:19
% GA 1106 (Dalton Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/04/2021); GA 1134 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr.
01/06/2021).
© GA 1114-1141 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021); GA 1142 (EEE
[FEE
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election fraud in Arizona, Georgia, Michigan, Nevada, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin that had been

publicly,ordirectly, debunked.®' The defendant used these lies to inflame and motivate the large

and angry crowd of his supporters to march to the Capitol and disrupt the certification

proceeding.

C. The Defendant Aimed Deceit at the Targeted States to Alter Their Ascertainment
and Appointment of Electors

Shortly after election day, the defendant began to target the electoral process at the state

level by attemptingtodeceive state officials and to prevent or overturn the legitimate ascertainment

and appointmentofBiden's electors. As President, the defendant had no official responsibilities

related to the states” administrationofthe election or the appointment of their electors, and instead

contacted state officials in his capacity as a candidate. Tellingly, the defendant contacted only

state officials who were in his political party and were his political supporters, and only in states

he had lost. The defendant's attempts to use deceit to target the states” electoral process played

out in Arizona, Georgia, Michigan, Nevada, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin, as well as across these

and other states that used certain voting machines. In addition to the following evidenceof the

defendant's conduct during the charged conspiracies, at trial the Government will elicit testimony

from election officials from the targeted states to establish the objective falsity—and often,

impossibility—ofthe defendant's fraud claims. Notably, although these election officials would

have been the best sources of information to determine whether there was any merit to specific

allegationsofelection fraud in their sates, the defendant never contacted anyof them to ask.

© GA 1126-1129, GA 1131-1136 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
GA 1140 (Ellipse Rally Specch Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
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state officials who were in his political party and were his political supporters, and only in states 

he had lost.  The defendant’s attempts to use deceit to target the states’ electoral process played 

out in Arizona, Georgia, Michigan, Nevada, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin, as well as across these 

and other states that used certain voting machines.  In addition to the following evidence of the 

defendant’s conduct during the charged conspiracies, at trial the Government will elicit testimony 

from election officials from the targeted states to establish the objective falsity—and often, 

impossibility—of the defendant’s fraud claims. Notably, although these election officials would 

have been the best sources of information to determine whether there was any merit to specific 

allegations of election fraud in their states, the defendant never contacted any of them to ask.

 
61 GA 1126-1129, GA 1131-1136 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
62 GA 1140 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
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1. Arizona

‘The defendant was on notice that there was no evidence of widespread election fraud in

Arizona withinaweekofthe election. On November 9, for instance, twodaysafter news networks

projected that Biden had won, the defendant called Arizona Govemor| EHKHE to ask him

‘what was happening at the state level with the presidential vote count in Arizona. At that point,

though Fox News had projected that Biden had won the state, several other news outlets

including ABC, NBC, CNN, and the New YorkTimes—had not yet made a projection** [gE
walked the defendant through the margins and the votes remaining to be counted, which were

primarily fiom Pima County, which favored Biden, and Maricopa County, which was split

described the situation to the defendant as “the ninth inning. two outs, and [the defendant]

was several runs down." The defendant also raised claims of election fraud,and[JI asked

the defendant to send him supporting evidence.” Although the defendant said he would—stating,

“we're packaging it up”—he neverdid. Shortly thereafter, on November 13, Campaign Manager

told the defendant directly that a false fraud claim that had been circulating—that a

Corso:Io
See, e.g., Democrats flip Arizona as Biden, Kelly score key election wins, Fox News, Nov. 3,

2020, available at https://www. foxnews.com/video/6206934979001: Dan Merica, Biden carries
Arizona, flipping a longtime Republican stronghold, CNN.com, Nov. 13, 2020, available at
hitps://wavwv.cnn.com/2020/11/12/politics biden-wins-arizonalindex html; Luis Ferré-Sadumi et
al, Biden flips Arizona, further cementing is presidential victory, N.Y. Tues, Nov. 12, 2020,
available at hitps://www.nytimes.com/2020/11/12/us/biden-wins-arizona html; Election Latest.
Biden Projected Winer in Arizona, NBC 4 New Yorx. Nov. 12, 2020, available at
hitps://www.nbenewyork. com news polities/decision-2020/election-latest-biden-talks-to-world-

leaders-about-virus 2718671
“aa co
“1d,
“orcs
“1d.
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substantial number of non-citizens had voted in Arizona—was false.” The same day, as noted

previously, Campaign attomeys conceded in court that the remaining election lawsuit in Arizona

was moot.

The defendantand[JSS] continued to try to influence Forexample,[SEI

tried to contact[JI] on November 22—the same day the defendant and[JSSH reached out to

the Arizona Speaker of the House, as described below.” And on November 30, the day

signed the Arizona certificate of ascertainment formally declaring Biden's electors as the

legitimate electors for Arizona, received a call from the defendant and Pence.”

advised them that Arizona had certified the election; when the defendant brought up fraud claims,

eager to see the evidence—again asked the defendant to provide it, but the defendant

never did.” Instead, later that evening and into the following morning, the defendant repeatedly

publiclyattackedJEG (a well as GeorgiaGovernor[JED on Twitter e-tweetng posts
by others, such as “Who needs Democrats when you have Republicans Ike| EREHEN~~» REY

Jching the Arizona hearings and then watchingGo JEG sen thosepapers,why
bother voting for Republicansif what you getis[EEand|HEN": ‘TEKIN 1 state

a the most compt election in American history. “Hold my beer,” and “Why
is[EEG sil pretending he's a member of the Republican Party after he just certified

fraudulent election results in Arizona that disenfranchised millionsof Republicans?”

© GA 603-608 J
GA 661 .
GA 658
GA 658, GA 667-668 .

7 GA 840 (Trump Twitter Archive 11/30/2020),
7 GA §33-834 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/30/2020).
75 GA 831-832 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/30/2020).
76 GA 839 (Trump Twitter Archive 12/01/2020),

1s-
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“The defendant and co-conspirators also attempted to use false fraud claims to convince

political allies in the Arizona sate legislature to ignore the popular vote and appoint illegitimate

electors. On November 22, the defendant andJESScole INE the Speaker of the
Arizona House of Representatives.” did most of the talking” During the call, the

defendant and[EGR levied multiple fle fnudclaims—including of non-citizen, non-resident,
and dead voters that affected the defendant's race—andasked [JER to use them as a basis to

call the state legislature nto session to replace Arizona's legitimate electors with illegitimate ones

for the defendant” When[JGR voiced his deep skeptics,JESSIR ssid. “wel, you know,
we're all kindofRepublicans and we need to be working together."** refused, and asked

ISS to provide evidence supporting his fraud claims # never did ®
Indeed,[JESS met with in person approximately a week later and still had

nothing to back up his claims. On November 30,[SEH and others arrived in Arizona for

a “hotel hearing” —an unofficial meeting with Republican legislators—during which they

promoted false fraud allegations** In a meeting the day aftr the hearing, when sate legislators

pressedJESS] and[EJ for evidence to support theirclaims,JESS] conceded that even on that

late date, “{w]edon’t have the evidence, but we have lots of theories.” When the legislators were

frustrated that had no support for his claims and asked him tough questions,

expressed suprise at the way he was being treated, stating “Man, I thought we were all

7 See GA 30 .
» GA
GAS .
GA 2233 .
£GA2s .
GA 1906 at 56:19 (Videoof Arizona Hotel Hearing 11/30/2020).
“5c

19-
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Republicans... [T]his is a little more hostile a reception. I'm amazed at the reception I'm getting

here"

On December4,JEN released a public statement in which he explained that he did not

have the authority to use the legislature “to reverse the results of the election” and that doing so

wouldconstitute an attempt “to nullify the people’s vote based on unsupported theoriesof fraud.”

‘made clear that he was disappointed with the legitimate election results because he “voted

for President Trump and worked hard to reelect him” but would not “violate current law to change

the outcome ofa certified election.” OnTwitter,| EEN » Campaien statfer who worked

with[ESE attacked JERE for is statement, writing that[EH] is intentionally misleading

the people of Arizona to avoid the inevitable.” The defendantre-tweeted[JIE] false post and

praised her #*

Amonth later, just twodaysbefore January 6,JGEE] anotherofthe defendant's private

attomeysand a co-conspirator—called[JETER ancNEEcouse.INE -vee

one last time to use the legislature to decertify Arizona's legitimate electors and overtum

the valid election results. ** When[JH told[ESSER that there was no evidenceofsubstantial

fraud in Arizona, and that he could not legally call the legislature into session, was.

undeterred. He conceded that he “[didn’t] know enough about the facts on the ground” regarding

$GA3S —
GA 1041-1042 Statement 12/04/2020).
GA 1042 Statement 12/04/2020).

® GA 854-855 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/06/2020); GA 852-853 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
12/06/2020).
eas + 0+
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fraud in Arizona, and said that[JIE] should nonetheless falsely claim that he had the authority

to convene the legisfature and “let th courts sort tout”[KH] again refused *
In the post-<lecton period, wis Yemen on savers ovsarioss, Bediviferls

gatheredoutside[JER] home with bullhoms and screamed and honked their vehicle homs to

create noise.” Once, an individual in visible possession ofa pistol and wearingat-shirt in support

ofa militia group cameonto[JREI property and screamed at him. Atthe timeof these events,

danger vas at Home and was very ill, and the noise caused her “disruption and angst™
2. Georgia

The defendant had early notice that his claims of election fraud in Georgia were fale.

Around mid-November, Campaign advisor[JJil] told the defendant that his claim that a large

number of dead people had voted in Georgia was false. The defendant continued to press the

claim anyway, including in a press appearance on November 29, when he suggested that a large

enough mumberof dead voters had cast ballots to change the outcome ofthe election in Georgia. *

Four days later, on December 3, orchestrated a presentation to a Judiciary
‘Subcommitteeof the Georgia State Senate.” In the moming in advance of it, had spoken

to the defendant on the phone for almost twenty minutes.* And at the hearing,[JSS] arranged

for co-conspirators and agents to repeat the false dead voter claim. The claim was so patently false

oan 02 5
GA 1-42 .
GA 4547 .
GA 46-47 .
GAT .
GA 388-390 )

9 GA 1969 at 22:43-23:51 (Videoof Trump Interview with Maria Bartiromo 11/29/2020)
9 GA 1934 (Videoof Georgia Senate Judiciary Subcommittee Hearing 12/03/2020).
carson

Le
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that everyone around the defendant knew it: during the hearing, ChiefofStat| HN nd

exchanged text messages on their personal phones confirming that a Campaign

atomey, had verified thot [JGR claim of more than 10,000 dead voters was
false and that the actual number was around 12 and could not be outcome-determinative

During the subcommittee hearing, the conspirators also set in motion a sensational and

dangerous lie about election workers at State Farm Arena that would result in the defendant's

supporters harassing and threatening those workers. First,[J EEN ove of the defendant's

private ttomeys, claimed that more than 10,000 dead people had voted in Georgia." NextJ

JI 2» oentofthe defendant, played misleading excerptsof closed-circuit camera footage from

State Farm Arena and insinuated that it showed election workers committing misconduct

counting “suitcases”of illegal ballots.'®! Lastly, based on the false fraud allegations,| ESSE

who had already been engaged as a private lawyer for the defendant but did not disclose that at the

hearing —encouraged the Georgia legislators to decertify the state’s legitimate electors.”

While the hearing was ongoing, the defendant simultaneously amplified the

misinformation about the State Fam Arena election workers, falsely tweeting, “Wow!

Blockbuster testimony taking place right now in Georgia. Ballot stuffing by Dems when

Republicans were forced to leave the large counting room. Plenty more coming, but this alone

ECENG2261260):GA1146mE—
1% GA 1934 at 30:54 (Videoof Georia Senate Judiciary Subcommittee Hearing 12/03/2020): GA
1146pr EREEEEEEE
191 GA 1934 at 34:06 (VideoofGeorgia Senate Judiciary Subcommittee Hearing 12/03/2020);
ECF No. 2261 26(b).
192 GA 1934 at 4:44:05 (Video ofGeorgia Senate Judiciary Subcommittee Hearing 12/03/2020)
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leads to an easy win of the State!”'®% He did this just after re-tweeting two of his Campaign

account's Tweets that promoted the false claim about election workers at State Farm Arena. '™

Over the next week, the claim of misconduct at State Farm Arena was disproven publicly

as well as directly to the defendant. The day after thehearing,|JJIEENE the ChiefOperating

Officer of the Georgia Secretary of State's Office, posted a Tweet explaining that Secretary of

State officers had watched the video in its entirety and confirmed that it showed “normal ballot

processing. "1% again forcefully debunked the conspirators” claim about the State Farm

video in a press conference on December 7, explaining at length the election workers’ innocent

‘conduct depicted in the closed-circuit camera footage and stating:

And what's really frustrating is the President's attomeys had this same videotape.
‘They saw the exact same things the retof us could see. And they chose to mislead
state senators and the public about what was on that video. I'm quite sure tht they.
will not characterize the videoif they try to enter it into evidence because that’s the
Kindofthing that could lead to sanctions because it i obviously untrue. They knew.
it was untrue and they continue to do things like this."

On December 8, the defendant called Georgia Attomey General| EERE"[GER vad

advance notice that the topic of the call was Texas v. Pennsylvania, an election lawsuit in which

Texas was suing other states—including Georgia—to attempt to prevent the certification of the

election'® U.S. Senator told[J that the defendant had heard that[J was

“whipping,” or lobbying, other state attomeys general against filing amicus briefs in support of

19 GA 846-847 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/03/2020).
194 GA $45, GA 1893 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/03/2020); GA 844, GA 1894 (DonaldJ. Trump
‘Tweet 12/03/2020).
195 GA 848 Tweet 12/04/2020).
1% GA 1933 at 8:43 (Videoof Georgia SecretaryofState Press Conference 12/07/2020).
19GA 742 .
1%GA 61-62 .
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Texas. '*”[EI was not lobbying against the suit, andtold[EE so:EHH]asked[ga ifhe would

speak with the defendant about it,and[gf agreed." Shortly thereafter, the defendantcalled[|

and immediately raised Texas v. Pemnsylania, saying, “I hope you're not talking to your AGs and

encouraging them not to get on the lawsuit!!! told the defendant that he was not

affimatively calling other state attomeys general, but thatifthey called him, he was telling them

what he was seeing in hisstate—which was something that the defendant probably did not want

to hear:J] was just not seeing evidenceoffraud in Georgia."> The defendant nonetheless raised

various fraud claims. told him that state authorities had investigated the State Farm Arena

allegations and found no wrongdoing, and that he thought another claim the defendant mised about

Coffee County, Georgia, had been similarly resolved, but would check.” The defendant asked

0 look at them again “because we're running out of time."[EE] tried to steer the call to

an end by thanking the defendant and telling him that he had voted for him twice and appreciated

the defendant, to which the defendant responded, “Yeah, I did a hell ofa job, didu’t 7"! At one

point, the defendant raisedwithJG the impending run-off election for Georgia's USS. Senate
seats and how important it was to re-elect|EE and[ERNE The day after the call, the

defendant—in his private capacity as a candidate forpresident—intervened in support of Texas v.

Pennsylvania: his attomey for that matter was[ESSE"

GA 62
1° GA 61-62 .
GAG .
gy
GA 65-66 )

14GA 66. 2023).
GAGE .
6 a.
1 Mot. to Intervene, Texas v. Pennsylvania, No. 22-0-155 (5. Ct. Dec. 9, 2020).

a.
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On the same day as the defendant's call with [J the defendant's Campaign staff

acknowledged that the State Farm Arena claim was unsupported, emailing one another about the

fact that television networks may decline fo run Campaign advertisements promoting it. In

frustration regarding the claim and others lkeit,JJJEIl|—-bo spoke with the defendant on a daily

basis and had informed him on multiple occasions that various fraud claims were false—wrote,

“When our research and campaign legal team can’t back up any of the claims made by our Elite

Strike Force Legal Team, you can see why we're 0-32 on our cases. I'll obviously hustle to help

onal fronts, but it's tough to own any ofthis when its all just conspiracy shit beamed down from

the mothership.”!'*

On December 10, however,[SSI] further perpetuated the false State Farm Arena claim

when he appeared at another hearing, this one before the Georgia House of Representatives”

‘Govemment Affairs Committee. During it, he displayed some of the same footage as had been

used in the December 3 hearing that had been debunked in the interim by Georgia officials, and

‘nonetheless claimed that it showed “voter fraud right in frontofpeople's eyes.” He then named

two election workers— |EEN~d ber wotber.[EEN «nd bosclessly

accused themof “quite obviously sumeptitiously passing around USB ports asifthey are vials of

heroin or cocaine,” and suggested that they were criminals whose “placesof work, their homes,

should have been searched for evidence ofballots,forevidenceofUSB ports, for evidence of voter

fraud." As these false claims about [EEN and[EE spread. the women were barraged by

racist death threats. Tn the years since, they have spoken about the effectofthe defendant and co-

conspirators’ lies about them; as explained in an interview with congressional

119 GA 1932 at 1:37:18-1:48:33 (VideoofGeorgia House Committee Hearing 12/10/2020).
129 GA 1932 at 1:57:10-1:58:00 (Videoof Georgia House Committee Hearing 12/10/2020).
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investigators, “when someone as powerful as the Presidentofthe United States eggs on a mob,

hat mob will come. They came for us with their cruelty, their threats, ther racism, and their hats

They haven't stopped even today.” Indeed, to this day, the defendant has never stopped falsely

attacking [JESS and JEN Althoush none of the false claims against them were ever

corroborated, the defendant has continued 10 levy them on social media, including when the

defendantattacked[JGR] in January 2023 just after her testimony to congressional investigators

was made public."

‘Throughout the post-election period, the defendant used Twitter to publicly attack Georgia

Govemor[gl] with particular agaression. In the thirty-five days between November 30, 2020,

and January 3, 2021, the defendant tweeted critically aboutJJ] by name or title, more than

forty times. These tweets included the ones also attacking [JI] described above, as well as

others particular to[J] tike, “Why won't Governor| SERIE the havtess Govemor of

‘Georgia, use his emergency powers, which can be easily done, to overrule his obstinate Secretary

of State, and do a matchof signatures on envelopes. It will be a ‘goldmine’offraud, and we will

easily WIN the state”; “I will easily & quickly win Georgia if Governor or

the Secretary of State permit a simple signature verification. Has not been done and will show

large scale discrepancies. Why are these two ‘Republicans’ saying no? If we win Georgia,

everything else falls in place!”; “The Republican Governor ofGeorgia refises to do signature

verification, which would give us an easy win. What's wrong with this guy? What is he

oa 1
122 GA 966 (Donald J. Trump Truth Social Post 01/03/2023); GA 964 (Donald J. Trump Truth
Social Post 01/02/2023); GA 965 (DonaldJ. Trump Truth Socal Post 01/03/2023).
125 GA 29-830 (DonaldJ. Trump Tweet 11/30/2020).
124 GA 850-851 (DonaldJ. Trump Tweet 12/05/2020)

2-
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hiding?™%; and “How does Governor |NEEKIN Vow certification of votes without

verifying signatures and despite the recently released tape of ballots being stuffed? His poll

numbers have dropped like a rock. He is finished as governor!” 126

In the post-election period, the defendant also made false claims in court about fraud in

Georgia—unsuccessfully. For example, in Trump v. Kemp, a federal lawsuit in which the

defendant sued Georgia's Govemor and Secretary of Stat, the defendant signeda verification of

fraud allegations that he and bis attomey on thecase,JESSE knew was inaccurate
spoke with the defendantand[JESSE] in 1ate December regarding the proposed verification. First,

he told and another private attomey, that they could not have the

defendant sign it because they could not verify any of the facts." And|GENE told the

defendant that any lawyer that signed the complaint that the verification supported would get

disbarred. 2* acknowledged this problem in an email on December 31to|EEE

lead counsel forthe defendant as candidate in Trump v. Kenp, and another private attomey, writing

that in the time since the defendant signed a previous verification n the case, he “had been made

aware that some of the allegations (and evidence proffered by he experts) has been inaccurate”

and that signing a new affirmation “with that knowledge (and incorporation by reference) would

not be accurate.” Nonetheless, on December 31, the defendant signed the verification, and

caused it to be filed."

125 GA 857, GA 859 (DonaldJ. Trump Tweet 12/07/2020)
126 GA 864 (DonaldJ.Trump Tweet 12/10/2020).
GA 238-239 .
GA 239 )

10 Complaint at 33-34, Trump v. Kemp, No. 1:20-¢v-5310 (N.D. Ga. Dee. 31, 2020), ECF No. 1

7
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On January 2, Georgia Secretary of State[SEEN +vveed on Fox News and
said that various rumors of election fraud were false, and the defendant had lost in Georgia

Our office has been very busy with what I cal the rumor whack-a-mole. Every
day, a rumor will pop up and then we whack it down. What we do is, we basically
whack it down with the truth. And people can’t handle the truth sometimes because

they're very disappointedintheresults. AndIgetthat. I votedfor President Trump,
also, but at the end of the day, we did everything we could. We did an audit of the
race; President Trump still lost Then we didafull recount; President Trump still
Tost... we had a safe, secure process.

like [JH bad been on the receiving end of the defendant's Tweets. These

included: “Why isn't the @GASecofstateNNER so-called Republican, allowing
us to look at signatures on envelopes for verification? We will find tensof thousands of fraudulent

and illegal votes”; “xiNosoR«MEI Seren of State
Iibc solely responsible for the potential losof our two GREAT Senators fiom
Georgia, REI < IEEE Won't call a Special Session or check for Signature
Verification! People are ANGRY: and “Georgia, where is signature verification approval? What

do you have to lose? Must move quickly! cNNNERINN cIECN
@GaSecofState.”

Shorly aftr seeing the interview, the defendant setupa cal withNRto discuss
his pending private lawsuit, Zrunpv. Kemp, in which| TEESE was a named defendant.

For hisreason,JENNER «firs hoped to avoid speaking with the defendant but ultimately

GA 1949 at 3:22 (VideoofJRE tnterview with Cavuto 01/02/2021),
12 GA 813-814 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/24/2020); GA 862-863 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
12/08/2020); GA 865-866 (DonaldJ.Trump Tweet 12/11/2020).
1 GA 367.368

Complaint at 35-34, Trim v. Kemp, No. 1:20-cv-5310(ND Ga. Dec. 31. 2020), ECE No. 1.

s-
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‘acquiesced because the defendant was persistent in seeking to set it up.’ Also because of the

vending lawsuit,| EEN arranged for his general counsel,EET to perticipate.**

Joining the defendant on the call were Chiefof StaftEI]and three privateattormeys—[EE

and[IEEE counsel of record in Trump v. Kemp and the attorneys whom[ESSER] bad

‘emailed about the defendant's false verification, and|EHI whom EEN introduced on the

call as someone “who is not the attomeyofrecord but has been involved.”

Thedefendant began the call with an animated monologue in which he argued that he had

won the election in Georgia, saying, “Okay, thank you very much. Hello[J and and
everybody. We appreciate the time and the call. So we've spent a lotof time on this, andif we

could just go over some of the numbers, I think it’s pretty clear that we won. We won very

substantially, uh, Georgia.” Throughout the call the defendant continued to state that he had

won and referenced Biden's marginofvictory that he needed to overcome fo preva in the state,

including by asserting that “I just want to find 11,780 votes.” He did not reference other

elections on the same ballot. After the defendant's opening salvo,| IEEE stared. “Well. 1

listened to what the President has just said. President Trump, we've had several lawsuits, and

we've had to respond in court to the lawsuits and the contentions. We don’t agree that you have
J

‘The defendant raised multiple false claimsofelection fraud, each of which|

refuted in tum. When the defendantattacked[JE called her “a professional vote scammer

iHe

5GA 514515 ).
GA 1154 (Tr. of Call 01/02/2021).

17GA 1165(Tr. of Call 01/02/2021).
5 GA 1157 (Tr. of Call 01/02/2021)

.29-
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and hustler,” and mentioned her dozens of times throughout the call,| TNEEENE seid.

“You're talking about the State Fam video. And I think it's extremely unfortunate that

I o: bis people. they sliced and diced that video and took it out of context.” He then

offered the defendant a link 10 a video disproving the claim, to which the defendant responded, “1

dont care about a link, don't need it. [have a much,[GEE 1 have a much bette ink." When
the defendant claimed that 5.000 dead people had voted in Georgio,| NEN sid. “Well.

Mr. President, the challenge you have is the data you have is wrong.. The actual number were

two. Two. Two people that were dead that voted. And so that's wrong, that was two.” When

the defendant claimed that thousands of out-of-state voters had cast ballots

counsel, responded, “We've been going through each of those as well, and those

‘numbers that we got, that Ms. [JGR was just saying,they re not accurate.”

At one point, the defendant became frustrated after both|EEN ~~ IEEE

explained repeatedly that his claims had been investigated and were not true and stated, “And

you're gonna to find that they are—which is totallyillegal —it’s, it’s, i's more illegal for you than

itis for them because, you know what they did and you're not reporting it. That's a criminal, you

kaow, that'sacriminal offense. And you know, you can’t let that happen. That's a big risk 10 you

and to[ER your lawyer. That's a big risk.” The call ended with[JIEE stating that he

9 GA 1155(Tr.HCall 01/02/2021).
10GA 1160 (Tr. of JENSEN Call 01/02/2021).
146A 1161 (Tr.of [EREERN Cal 01/02/2021).
12 GA 1159 (Tr. of JEERSERNN Call 01/02/2021)
19 GA 1162(Tr. of [RENE Call 01/02/2021).
144GA 1165 (Tr. of [RESIN Call 01/02/2021),

-30-
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would coordinate with the lawyer representing| EEEHEE office in the private lawsuit and

at together ithJER os sence cairn the call.
“The day after the call, on January 3, the defendant falsely tweeted, “I spoke to Secretary of

state|EEEEEE yesterday about Fulton County and voter fraud in Georgia. He was

unwilling, or unable, to answer questions such as the ‘ballots under table” scam, ballot destruction,

out of state ‘voters’, dead voters, and more. He has no clue!” promptly

responded ina Tweetofhis own: “Respectfully, President Trump: What you're saying is not true.

“The truth wil come out”

3. Michigan

On November 20, three days before Michigan's Govemor signed a certificate of

‘ascertainment appointing Biden's electors based on the popular vote, the defendant metwith[JE]

IIEEEchicos Senate Majority Leader and Speaker of the House, at the

Oval Office. * The defendant initiated the meetingby asking RNCChairwoman| EEE

to reach out to and gauge his receptivity to a meeting." The defendant also asked

[IEE co participate in the meeting, but [JIEEH told bim that she had consulted with her

attomey and that she could not be involved in a meeting with legislators because it could be

perceived as lobbying '** After[JJGEEI] made the first contact, on November 18, the defendant

reached out to[JE and[EEEEMN to extend an invitation! The same day that he contacted

A.
16 GA 919-920 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/03/2021)
GA 925 Tuweet 01/03/2021).

5 GA 555-557, 565 p: 6a 15(EE
GA 7071 .

norTE151 GA 556-557 .

ae
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and[JEEH the defendant issued a false Tweet: “In Detroit, there are FAR MORE

VOTES THAN PEOPLE. Nothing canbedone to cure that giant scam. Twin Michigan!”!52

When the defendant calledJEG andJEGto invite them otheWhite House, he did
not provide the topic of the meeting, but he did ask about allegations of fraud in the election in

Michigan." The legislators told him that they and the Michigan legislature were examining the

allegations.'** Both, and[JEEH assumed that the defendant wanted to see them to

discuss claims of election fraud, and they wanted to be firm that they had not seen evidence that

would change the outcome of the election.’ For this reason, and to avoid talking only about

election fraud, they prepared materials to raise regarding COVID-19, and planned in advance to

release a statement once the meeting was over that said that the legislators were unaware of

information that would change the outcome of the election.

Over the courseof the meeting, the defendant dialed inboth[EEE]despite her request

not to participate—and [KSSH was present for some, but not all,of the meeting.*

After some small talk with the legislators in the Oval Office, the defendant raised various fiaud

claims, including that he had lost Michigan because of fraud or misconduct in Wayne County,

where Detroit is located.” comected thedefendant and told him that he had lost primarily

because in two routinely Republican counties, the defendant had wnderperformed with educated

152 GA 797-798 (DonaldJ. Trump Tweet 11/18/2020).
153 GA 556-557 .
14 GA 558 D-
15 GA 7478 .
GATS .

17 Ga 330.337 ): Ga 52(EDG55
s61 2

GA 361-362 .
19 GA 562-564 .

2.
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females, and if he had received the same numberof votes there as the two winning local sheriffs,

he likely would have won Michigan. could tell by the defendant's body language that

te as not happy to hearJREERN] assessment." Notably, the defendant only raised fraud claims
to the extent that they affected the outcome in his own race, not those for other offices in

Michigan. '®*

participation came after the legislators assured the defendant that they were

looking into fraud claims; the defendantdialed[SESH] into the meeting and said, [SHY tell them

what's going on.” then launched nto a fraud monologue. Final,JENnerrpted
and asked, “So when are you going to file a lawsuit in Michigan?"—a question that[SH

ignored and did not answer.

Immediately after the meeting.[JEEN and[GEGEN released a public statement in which

they stated that they had “not yet been made awareof any information that would change the

outcomeof the election in Michigan. ”'** On November21, the defendantacknowledged[GERI

and[JJEEEI statement when he tweeted. “This is true, but much different than reported by the

media” and implicitly conceded that he had not provided evidence of fraud yet when he added,

“We will show massive and unprecedented fraud!” Days later, the defendant’s Campaign

i_

161 GA 563-565 ).
1 GA 560-571 ):ra
19 GA 575 ): GA 567-569 ).
194GA 569 ). Ga 575 .
1© GA_1040 Joint Statement 11/20/2020); GA 94-95

3-
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declined to request a state-wide recount in Michigan, for which it would have had to pay unless

the recount succeeded in changing the outcome of the election.”

Despite failing to establish any valid fraud claims,[|SSH] followed up with[EHH and

and attempted to pressure them to use the Michigan legislature to overturn the valid

tection resus, On Decennber4,[EGER sent message toJRE claiming that Georgia was
poised to do so (basedon[JESS and[SSE false advocacy there in the December 3 hearing)

andaskedJIE fo help: “Looks lke Georgia may well hold some fetal herings and change

the certification under Artll sec 1 12of the Constitution. As|SSI<xvioined they

don’t just have the right to do it but the obligation... Help me get this done in Michigan.” On

December 7,JESS attempted tosendJE o message (though filed because he typed the

wrong mumber into his phone): “So I need you to pass a joint resolution from the Michigan

legislature that states that, * the election is in dispute, * there's an ongoing investigation by the

Legislature, and * the Electors sent by Governor Whitmer are not the official Electors of the State

of Michigan and do not fall within the Safe Harbor deadline of Dec 8 under Michigan law."

Campaignoperative[JE] was involved in the drafting of this message with the assistance of

who was associated with the defendant's Campaign efforts in Michigan!” The

following day, shared the draft with the defendant, sending it to his executive assistant.

by email

:a

GA 117s p.
GAIT ): 6a 1178-
187 ):
MGA ISS .
GA 1189 .
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These efforts failed. On December 14, the day that duly-appointed electors across the

country met and cast their electoral votes, [EEE and issued public statements

confirming that the defendant had lost Michigan and the legislators still had not received evidence

ofoutcome-determinative fraud in their state.”[JJ public statement included, “[W]e have

not received evidence of fraud on a scale that would change the outcome of the election in

Michigan.”'" stated,inpart:

We've diligently examined these reports of fraud to the best of our ability. .. I
fought hard for President Trump. Nobody wanted him to win more than me.
think he’s done an incredible job. But I love our republic, too. I can’t fathom
risking our norms, traditions and institutions to pass a resolution retroactively
changing the electors for Trump, simply because some think there may have been
enough widespread fiaud to give him the win. That's unprecedented for good
reason. And that’s why there is not enough support in the House to castanew slate
of electors. 1 fear we'd lose our country forever. This truly would bring mutually
assured destruction for every future election in regards to the Electoral College.
AndT can't stand for that. T won't.

On January 3, the defendant's Campaign publiclyposted[GEN phone number, and

attempted topost[EERE (but ered by one digi), in a Tweet urging, “ContactSpeaker[Jl]

ER «seve Majority Leader[EEN received four thousand test
messages in two hours, forcing him to get a new phone number.

4. Nevada

On November 17, in Lawv. Whitmer. agentsof the defendant in Nevada filed suit, claiming

“substantial irregularities, improprieties, and fraud” in the presidential election, including based

GA 1190-1192 Press Releases 12/14/2020).
GA 191 Press Releases 12/14/2020).
GA 192 Press Releases 12/14/2020).

175 GA 917 (Team Trump Tweet 01/03/2021); GA 918 (Team Trump Tweet 01/03/2021).
aa st-sm. 516577EE
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‘on machines used in ballot signature matching and votes by non-resident and dead voters.” The

defendant approved a press conferenceby his surrogates announcing the suit

On November 19, the RNC Chief Counsel, sent an email to|HEE
[I : RNC spokesperson, wamiing about inaccuracies in the suit: “Just FYI that I don’t

believe the claims in the contest regarding dead voters, those voting from out-of-state, etc. are

substantiated. We are working with the campaign on a data matching project and those numbers

are going to be a lot lower than what the NV people have come up with. They are also targeting

our military voters. To be frank, the contest has litle chanceofsucceeding. Happy to discuss this

stuffifyou want more info.” then senta copyof[JERERl] email fromher personal

email account to the personal email accountofJNEREIEE oveofthe defendant's White House

staffers who also volunteered for the Campaign.

Notwithstanding the RNC Chief Counsel’s waming, the defendant re-tweeted and

‘amplified news of the lawsuit on November 24, calling it “Big News!” that a Nevada Court had

agreed to hear it." But the defendant did not similarly promote the fact that within two weeks,

‘on December4, the Nevada District Court dismissed Law. Witmer, finding ina detailed opinion

hat “there is no credible or reliable evidence that the 2020 General Election in Nevada was

affected by fraud,” including through the signature-match machines, and that Biden won the

election in the state." Four days later, on December §, Nevada's Supreme Court unanimously

177 Complaint at 1, Law v. Whitmer, No. 200C001631B (Nev. Dist. Ct. Nov. 17, 2020) available
at: hitps://electioncases osu. edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/1/Law-v-Gloria-Complaintpdf; GA
1963 (Video of Trump Campaign Press Conference 11/17/2020).
VGA 1193-1194 )
PGA 1195 .
GA 196-1197, 1195 .

18 GA 817-818 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/24/2020).
152 Onder at 13-24, 28-34, Law v. Whitmer, No. 200C001631B (Nev. Dist. Ct. Dec. 4, 2020)

-36-
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affinmed the District Courts decision, noting that despite its “earlier order asking appellants to

identify specific findings with which they take issue, appellants have not pointed to any

unsupported factual findings, and we have identified none.”'** Late, in his Ellipse speech on

January 6, the defendant repeated multiple claims explicitly rejected by Nevada courts."

On December 18, the Nevada Secretary of State’s Office released a “Facts vs. Myths”

document to combat disinformation that the defendant and others were propagating about the

election, including false claims that the Secretary of State’s Office had not investigated claims of

fraud even though it had “been presented with evidence of wide-spreadfraud”—to which the

Office responded, “While we are pursuing action in a numberofisolated cases, we have yet to see

any evidenceofwide-spread fraud.”'** The “Facts vs. Myths” document also stated publicly that

courts had universally rejected fraud claims: “Four separate cases were heard by Nevada judges

including the NV Supreme Court. After examining records presented, each case was discounted

due to.lack ofevidence. ”'%

5. Pennsylvania

‘Two days after the election, on November 6, the defendantcalled |RENE

‘Chairman ofthe Pennsylvania Republican Party—the entity responsible for supporting Republican

available at: hitps:/electioncases.osued wp-contentuploads/2020/1  Law-v-Gloria-Order-
‘Granting-Motion-to-Dismisspd.
15 Law. Whitmer, 136 Nev. $40 (Nev. 2020).
154 Compare Order at 18-20, Law v. Whiner, No. 200C001631B (Nev. Dist. Ct. Dec. 4, 2020)
available at: bitps:/electioncases.osued wp-content/uploads/2020/1 Law-v-Giloria-Order-
‘Granting-Motion-to-Dismisspdf (finding no support for claims of double ballots, non-resident,
and deceased voters) with GA 1134-1135 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021) (“There
were also more than 42,000 double votes in Nevada’; “1,500 ballots were cast by individuals
whose names and datesofbirth match Nevada residents who died in 2020 prior to November 3rd
election. More than §,000 votes were cast by individuals who had no address and probably dida’t
live there.)
15 GA 1198 (Nevada Factsvs.Myths 12/18/2020).
19 GA 1199 (Nevada Factsvs.Myths 12/18/2020).
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candidates in the commonwealth at the federal, state, and local level.'s" had a prior

relationship with the defendant, including having represented him in litigation in

Pennsylvania after the 2016 presidential election.'*® The defendantasked[gl how. without

fraud, he had gone from winning Pennsylvania on election day to trailing in the days

afterward! Consistent with what Campaign staff already had told the defendant,
confirmed that it was not fraud: it was that there were roughly 1,750,000 mail-in ballots still

being counted in Pennsylvania, which were expected to be eighty percent for Biden.'*® Over the

following two months, the defendant spread false claimsof fraud in Pennsylvania anyway.

In early November, in a Campaign meeting, when the defendant suggested that more

people in Pennsylvania voted than had checked in to vote, Deputy Campaign Manager [El

corrected him.” Around the same time, Philadelphia City Commissioner[JG appeared

on television and stated that there was no evidence of widespread fraud in Philadelphia." Afier

seeing the interview, the defendant targeted tweeting, “A guy named a

Philadelphia Commissioner and so-called Republican (RINO), is being used big time by the Fake

News Media to explain how honest things were with respect to the Election in Philadelphia. He

refuses to look at a mountain of comuption & dishonesty. We win! As a result of the

defendant’s attack, threats that already was receiving became more targeted and

detailed—and included his address and the names of his family members. '**

1% GA 616-617 .
1% GA 619-620 .
GA 620 .

#1GA 159 .
192 GA 1953 at 2:20-4:13 (Video o Interview with CNN 11/11/2020).
193 GA 777-778 (DonaldJ. Trump Tweet 11/11/2020).
6a 550551(ED
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On the defendant'sbehalf,[SSH too spread patently false claims about Pennsylvania.

On November 25, and [GB] attended an unofficial hearing with Republican state
legislators in a Gettysburg hotel conference room.” The defendant called in, claimed to have

been watching, and demanded that the election in Pennsylvania “has to be fumed around.”

During theevent,JKGSIR flsly stated that Pennsylvania issued 1.8 millon absentee ballots and
received 2.5 million in return.'”’ The claim was rooted in an obviouserror —the comparison of

the number of ballots sent out in the primary election to the number of ballots received in the

general election. Afterseeing[SSH make thisclaim,[JER] the RNC's Chief Counsel,

tweeted publicly, “This is not true.”"% In the following days, Campaignstaffintemally confirmed

that was lying; when one Campaign staffer wrote in an email that[JESSIE claim was

“just wrong” and “{1Jhere’s no way to defend it”JJ] responded. “We have been saying this for

awhile. It's very frustrating ™'* Likewise, in late November or December,| J EI informed

the defendant directly that aclaim [JESS] was spreading, that “Pennsylvania received 700,000

more mail-in ballots than were mailed out.” was “bullshit” and explained the error 20

followed up on his public Tweet in a private email on November 28 to|ERE

the RNC spokesperson, expressing his concerabout[JESSH]andJIE spreadofdisinformation:

“I'm really not trying to give you a hard time but what and[J are doing is a joke and

they are getting laughed out of court. I's setting us back in our fight for election integrity and

195 GA 1945 (Video of Pennsylvania Hotel Hearing 11/25/2020),
19 GA 1945 at 2:06:23-2:07:23 (Videoof Pennsylvania Hotel Hearing 11/25/2020).
197 GA 1945 at 2:21:30-2:21:53 (Videoof Pennsylvania Hotel Hearing 11/25/2020).
GAS1 Tweet 11/25/2020).

2 GA 71 ): GA 1207-1208
.
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they are misleading millions of people who have wishful thinking that the president is going to

somehow win this thing." When [SSH] teamed ofJJRER] Tweet and email, on November

28, hecalledJERR and left threatening voicemail, stating, “I really do need an explanation for
what you said today because if there isn’t a good one, you should resign. Got it? So call me or

Ill call the boss and get you fo resign. Call me. I'd be better for youifyou do." also

contacted RNC Chairworan[EEE to demandthas[JEREH befired. and thereafie:[JEREH] was

relievedof his duties as RNC Chief Counsel ®*

On December 3, four Republican leaders of the Pennsylvania legislature issued a public

letter tating that the General Assembly lacked the authority to overtum the popular vote and

appoint its own slate of electors, and that doing so would violate the state Election Code and

constitution.**|EENagent of the defendant who worked closely with [SSH

issueda Tweet showing the four legislators’ names and signatures and wrote, “These are the four

cowardice Pennsylvania legislators tha intend to allow the Democrat machine to #StealtheVote!

#Cowards #Liars #Traitors” while linking to the legislators’ Twitter accounts On Sunday

December 6, at 12:56 a.m., from the White House residence —having just returned from a political

rally in Valdosta, Georgia—the defendant re-tweeted andamplified [JEN post.

GA 1209 )
GA 1976ee

2 GA 1210-1214 GA
1215 ): GA 342-346

GA 1222-1223 (Letter from Pennsylvania Legishators 12032020); 6 173 (EEN

296 GA 856, 858 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/06/2020),
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6. Wisconsin

On November 29, a recount that the defendants Campaign had petitioned and paid for

confirmed that Biden had won in Wisconsin—and increased the defendant’s marginofdefeat

‘On December 14, the Wisconsin Supreme Court rejected the Campaign's election lawsuit there.

As a result, on December 21, Wisconsin's Govemor signed a certificate of final determination

confirming the prior certificate of ascertainment that established Biden's electors as the valid

electors for the state.”

In response, the defendant issued a series of Tweets attacking the

Wisconsin Supreme Court Justice who had written the majority opinion rejecting his Campaign's

lawsuit and advocating that the Wisconsin legislature overtum the valid election results:

Two years ago, the great people of Wisconsin asked me to endorse a man named
IRE1Sc Spree Court tice,henhewas geting destroyed
the Polls agaista tough Democrat Candidate whohadno chance of losing. Afier
my endorsement, easily won! WOW, he just voted against me in a Big
Court Decision on voter fraud (of which there was much), despite many pages of
dissent from three highly respected Justices. One thing has nothing to do with,
another, but we ended up losing 4-3 in a really incorrect ruling! Great Republicans
in Wisconsin should take these 3 strong decisions to their State Legislators and
overturn this ridiculous State Election. We won in a LANDSLIDE!”

Afterthedefendant's Tweet, the state marshals responsiblefor|REsafety arranged

to provide with additional police protection based on social media traffic and other

hreatening communications 2!

297 GA 1224-1225 (Wisconsin Order for Recount 11/19/2020); GA 1226 (Wisconsin Statement of
‘Canvass 11/3022020); Trump v. Biden, 394 Wis. 2d 629, 633 (Wis. 2020).
2% Trump v. Biden, 394 Wis. 24.629, 633 (Wis. 2020).
2 GA 1235 (Wisconsin CertificateofAscertainment 11/03/2020)
20 GA §75, GA 876, GA 877, GA $80, GA 879, and GA 878 (Donald J. Trump Tweets
1221/2020).
216A 184-156, GA 135-159(I
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7. Voting Machines in Multiple States

‘Throughout the post-election period. the defendant and co-conspirators repeatedly made

claims about the security and accuracyofvoting machines across multiple states, despite the fact

hat they were on notice that the claims were false. As early as November 12, for instance, the

National Association of SecretariesofState, the National AssociationofState Election Directors,

‘and other coordinated federal, state, and private entities issued a public statement declaring that

he 2020 election was “the most secure in American history” and that there was “no evidence that

any voting system deleted or lost votes, changed votes, or was in any way compromised. "2!

On November 14, in the Tweet announcing that ‘was to lead his Campaign legal

efforts, the defendant also named[GSE] a private attomey who was fixated on voting machine

claims, and[JH avother private attomey.” Two days later, on November 16, on the

defendant's behalf, executiveassistant[JERRY sevJEGSEN and other private attomeys an email,

titled “From POTUS,” attaching a document containing bullet points criticalof [| SSH

I company that manufactured voting machines used in certain states, and writing, “See

attached - Please include as is, or almost asis, in lawsuit." [GSE] responded nine minutes later,

writing, “IT MUST GO IN ALL SUITS IN GA AND PA IMMEDIATELY WITH A FRAUD

CLAIM THAT REQUIRES THE ENTIRE ELECTION TO BE SET ASIDE in those states and

‘machines impounded for non-partisan professional inspection.”*

On November 17, the director of the Department of Homeland Security's

Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency (CISA). publicly tweeted thata group ofprivate

212 GA 1236 (Election Security Joint Statement 11/12/2020).
213 GA 784-785 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/14/2020).

5GA 1240 .
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election security experts concluded that claims of computer-based election fraud “either have been

unsubstantiated or are technically incoherent”!

Two days later, on November 19, IEEE +d others held a press

conference at the RNC headquarters, onbehalfof the defendant and his Campaign. During it,

made false and factually impossible claims regarding[JJSEI and the integrity of the

country’s election infrastructure. ”'* That night, Fox News television personality

stated on air that becauseof [JGSE] incendiary comments about voting machines, he had invited

her on his television program. He further stated, “[but she never sent us any evidence, despite a

otof requests, polite requests. Nota page. When we kept pressing. she got angry and told us to

stop contacting her. When we checked with others around the Trump Campaign, people in

positionsofauthority, they toldus [[S8EJ] has never given them any evidence either ... she never

demonstrated that a single actual vote was moved illegitimately by software from one candidate

to another. Not one.”

The defendant saw his private attorneys’ RNC press conference and| discussion

of[JSEEN and he acknowledged to [JH that had appeared “unhinged” in the press

conference 2 On November 20, the day after the press conference, the defendant made a similar

comment to [Jl] and two White House staffers who also volunteered for his

Campaign In casual conversation after another meeting had ended, the defendant told[ll

21 GA 790 (GE Tweet 11/17/2020)
217 GA 1950 (Video of RNC Press Conference 11/19/2020).
21% GA 1950 at 38:58-52:34 (Video of RNC Press Conference 11/19/2020).
29 GA 1972 a 9:18-10:02 (Video of Show 11/19/2020).

1 GA 248249 ): Ga 525(EE
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and[JEREN thot ESI bad “eviscerated” or “destroyed”[SEI The defendant then bad a

call with[JGR] on speakerphone,while[Jl] and [JEREH listened in, and mentionedthe[EHH

segmenttof Whi oJBSEHresponded. the defendant placed the call on mute and oJl
and [JER mocked and laughed atJESSE] called her claims “crazy,” and made a reference to

the science fiction series Star Trek when describing her allegations * Tn the same time period,

when [JENEEHEN told the defendant that claims were unreliable and should not be

included in lawsuits, the defendant agreed that he had not seen anything to substantiate[JESSEN]

allegations

On November 22, notwithstanding the defendant’s Tweetfrom eight days prior announcing

involvement, [JSS issued a statement on behalf of the Campaign distancing the

defendantfrom[ESSER [ESSERE is practicing law on her own. She is not a member of the

Trump Legal Team. She is also not a lawyer for the President in his personal capacity "26

Nonetheless, the defendant continued to support and publicize. knowingly false claims.

For example, within daysof[SSH statement, the defendant promoted a lawsuit that

was about to file, tweeting on November 24, “BREAKING NEWS: (|ESSERE soys her

lawsuit in Georgia could be filed as soon as tomorrow and says there’s no way there was anything

but widespread election fraud. #MAGA #AmericaFirst #Dobbs.”’ filed a lawsuit the next

day against the Govemor of Georgia falsely alleging “massive election fraud” accomplished

GA 256-259 )
4 GA 258-260 )
GA 206 ).

26 GA 1241 (Trump Campaign Statement 11/22/2020).
7 GA 815-816 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/24/2020).
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through[JESERI ¢lection software and hardware. The defendant againpromotedthelawsuit

ina Tweet.” The lawsuit was dismissed within two weeks, on December 7.

On November 29,JG] who was no longer the CISA Director, appeared on the television

‘program 60 Mines >! stated that he was confident that the election had been secure and

“that there was no manipulation of the vote on the machine count side? In response, the

defendant tweeted publicly about [JEN] appearance: “@60Minutes never asked us for a

‘comment about their ridiculous, one sided story on election security, whichisan international joke.

Our 2020 Election, from poorly rated[J SEI to 2 Country FLOODED with unaccounted for

Mail-In ballots, was probably our least secure EVER!" A few days later, [JEEHI appeared

ona radio program as the defendant's agent and said that becauseof JJJl] comments to promote

confidence in the security of the election infrastructure,[JJ “should be drawn and quartered.

Taken out at dawn and shot." Thereafter, ‘was subjected to death threats. In a press

conference on December 1 that the defendant acknowledged watching, a Georgia

election official, decried [JHENE and the defendants public statements spreading

disinformation and said thatif they did not stop, “someone is going to get killed"

2% Complaintat2,Pearsonv.Kemp, No. 1:20-cv-4809 (N.D. Ga. Nov. 25, 2020), ECFNo. 1.
29 GA 820-821 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/26/2020).
2 Transcript of Mots. Hr'gat 41-44, Pearsonv. Kemp, (N.D. Ga. Dec. 7, 2020), ECF No. 79.
21 GA 1940 (Video of[EH on 60 Minutes 11/29/2020).
2 GA 1040 at 4:14-4:19 (Videoof[GER on 60 Minutes 11/29/2020),
5 GA §25-826 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/29/2020).

24 GA 1887 (AudioofINSEE on 11/30/2020).
35 GA 295-296 .
6 GA 841-842 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/01/2020).
7 GA 1961 at 3:32-3:55 (Videoof[JERR Press Conference 12/01/2020).
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On December1, Attorney General[JJJEEEII stated publicly that the Justice Department

had not seen evidence of fraud sufficient to change the election results. ** With respect to voting

machines, he said, “There's been one assertion that would be systemic fraud and that wouldbethe

claim that machines were programmed essentially to skew the election results. And the DHS and

DOJ have looked into that, and so far, we haven't seen anything to substantiate that ">

and immediately issued a formal Campaign statement attacking and the Justice

Department, writing, “With all due respect to the Attomey General, there hasn't been any

semblance of a Department of Justice Investigation... his opinion appears to be without any

Knowledge or investigationof the substantial irregularities and evidenceofsystemic fraud."

In mid-December, the defendant spoke with RNC Chairwoman [JE]and asked her to

publicize and promote a private report that had been released on December 13 that purported to

identify flaws in the useof[JESS machines in Antrim County, Michigan >!

refused, telling the defendant that she already had discussed the report with[EEE] Michigan's

‘Speaker of the House, who had told her that the report was inaccurate. conveyed to

thedefendant[JERR exact assessment: the report was “fucking nuts."

On January 2, during the defendant's call with Georgia Secretary ofState|SEEN

I<iof folse claims regarding voting machines, “I don’t believe that you're really

questioning the[JJESS machines. Because we did a hand re-tally, a 100 percent re-tallyofall

the ballots, and compared them to what the machines said and came up with virtually the same

2a 2-13(EE
9 GA 1242-1243 (Email from Comms Alert 12/01/2020).
0 GA 1244 (Tramp Campaign Press Release 12/01/2020)
GA 338-339 ).

wd
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result. Then we did therecount,and we got virtually the same result. So I guesswecan probably

take thatoff the table.”** In response, the defendant falsely claimed that “in other states, we think

‘we found tremendous corruptionwith[JESS] machines, but we'll have to see."

At the Ellipse on January 6, the defendant and co-conspirators who spoke at the rally

continued to make unsubstantiated and false claims about[JJESEI] machines. claimed

that in the U.S. Senate run-off election in Georgia the day before, “the votes were deliberately

changed by the same algorithm that was used in cheating President Trump and Vice President

Pence" continued the false attack: “We now know because we caught it live last time

in real ime, how the machines contributed to that fraud. . .. They put those ballots in a secret

folder in the machines sitting there waiting, until they know how many they need. And then the

machine after the closeof polls, we now know who's voted. And we know who hasn't. And Ican

‘now in that machine match those unvoted ballots with an unvoted voterandput them together in

the machine. ... We saw it happen in real time last night and it happened on November 3rd as

well.” Tn his own speech, the defendant again raised the false specter of “the highly troubling

‘matterof | CERN : lied about machines flipping votes from the defendant

to Biden and an “astronomical and astounding” error rate in the machines’ ballot scanning.**

D. The Defendant Organized and Caused His Electors to Submit Fraudulent
Certificates Creating the False Appearance That States Submitted Competing
Electoral Slates

By late November 2020, every effort —both legitimate and illegitimate— th the defendant

had made to challenge the results of the election had been unsuccessful. The defendant, his

04 GA 1889 a 15:58-16:27 (Audio. | Call 01/02/2021).
5 GA 1889 at 16:32-17:26 (Audio of Trump Call 01/02/2021).
6 GA 1928 at 2:22:41-2:23:07 (VideoofEllipseRally 01/06/2021).
7 GA 1928 at 2:25:25-22:26:56 (VideoofEllipseRally 01/06/2021)
GA 1136 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021),
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‘Campaign, and their allies had lost or withdrawn one election lawsuit after another in the seven

targeted states. And the defendant and co-conspirators’ efforts to overtum the legitimate vote

count through a pressure campaign on state officials, and through false claims made directly to

state legislators in formal or pseudo-hearings, continued to fail. So in early December, the

defendant and his co-conspirators developed a new plan regarding the targeted states that the

defendant had lost (Arizona, Georgia, Michigan, Nevada, New Mexico, Pennsylvania, and

Wisconsin): to organize the people who would have served as the defendant's electors had he won

he popularvote, andcause them to sign and send toPence,as Presidentofthe Senate, certifications

in which they falsely represented themselves as legitimate electors who had cast electoral votes

for the defendant. Ultimately, the defendant and his co-conspirators would use these fraudulent

electoral votes—mere pieces of paper without the lawful imprimatur of a state executive—to

falsely claim that in his ministerial role presiding over the January 6 certification, Pence had the

authority to choose the fraudulent slates over the legitimate ones, or to send the purportedly

“dueling” slates to the state legislatures for consideration anew.

The fraudulent elector plan's arc and obstructive purpose is reflected in a series of

memoranda drafted in late November and early December by an attomey who
volunteered to assist the defendant’s Campaign in lawsuits challenging the election in

Wisconsin.** Beginning with a memorandum drafted on November 18,[JESSE] advocated that

the defendant’s elector nominees in Wisconsin meet and cast votes on the date required by the

ECA (in 2020, December 14) in the event that an ongoing recount in the state reversed the

defendant’ los thre. But his course ofaction —which[JESSE] Wisconsin memorandum

29 GA 1245-1246 : 6a 1247-1245 (EE
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presented as a contingency plan to preserve the possibility that the defendant's electors’ votes be

counted at the January 6 certification proceeding if he prevailed in the Wisconsin litigation and

won the state—quickly transformed ino a comupt strategy to overtum the legitimate election

results 2! revealed this obstructive plan in two additional memoranda, dated December

6% and December, which proposed thatthe defendant'selector nominees in six ofthe targeted

states—all but New Mesico, a state the defendant lost by more than ten percent of the popular

Vote, sparsely referenced in his false claimsofvoter fraud, and did not envision challenging a the

inceptionof the elector scheme®'—meet on December 14, sign fraudulent certifications, and send

them to the Vice President to manufacture a fake controversy during the January 6 congressional

certification.

The defendant personally set the fraudulent elector plan in motion in early December,

ensured that it was carried out by co-conspirators and Campaign agents in the targeted states, and

monitored ifs progress. By December 5, the defendant was starting to think about Congress's role

inthe election process: for the firs time, he mentioned to Pence the possibiltyofchallenging the

election results in the House of Representatives. ™* In the same call, Pence told the defendant that

he Georgia Bureau of Investigation was investigating their race.

- amin

2 GA 1260-1265 ‘memo 12/06/2020).
GA 1266-1270 memo 12/09/2020).

BGA 1271 : GA 1272 (New Mexico
Certificate of Ascertanment); GA. 1273-1282

. I cs
I:G- 1019 (Pence, So Help Me God. p. 433).

id —c==
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On December 6, the same day that[JESS] put the plan on paper,” the defendant and

called RNC Chairwoman[GEIR ot ofthe blue didnotknowJSS
and the defendant introduced him to by saying that he was a professor and lawyer;

thereafter, was the primary speaker during the conversation. > sero|

that he and the defendant wanted the RNC “to help the campaign assemble the electors in the sates

where we had legal challenges, or litigation that was ongoing.. . in case anyofthat litigation

changed the result of a state so that it would meet the constitutional requirement of electors

meeting" When the call ended, JES immediatelycaticaJE one of the defendant's
deputy Campaign managers, and relayed her conversation with the defendant and [SSE

ferJlassure JERI that the Campaign seas “on it.[GEER called the defendant back
and told him so On the same day, from his personal email account,[JENN forwarded to

Campaignsta [JJESSERI November 18 memorandum and wrote, “We just need to have someone:

coordinating the electors for states” And the following day, on the evening of December 7,

sentJERE » ext message siting in part, “1 have lawyers assigned in each state
working on Dec 14 electors meeting and what they need. Iwill send you a list "*

‘The defendant's co-conspirators worked with his Campaign staff, and used his pre-election

Campaign apparatus, to execute the fraudulent elector plan. ** The defendant communicated with

7 GA 1260-1265 memo 12/06/2020).
GA 323325 ).
GA 324-325 .
GA 325 .

61 GA 325-327 .
GA 326-327 .
GA 1285 .

5 GA 1286-1287 D.
25 GA_1288-1290 : GA 1247

.
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and about the plan, and they in tum communicated with and

EEE Ultimately, ‘and other Campaign staff and agents helped carry out

On December §, spoke on the phone withJENKIN » private atomey
whomJESS anJSST had identifiedas acontact for the plan in Arizona ™ Following the

call, recounted the conversation in an email:

just talked to the gentleman who did that memo, His idea is
basically that all of us (GA, WI, AZ, PA, etc.) have our electors send in their votes
(even though the votes arent legal under federal law —because they're not signed
by Govemor); so that membersof Congress can fight about whether they should be
counted on January 6*. (They could potentially argue that they're not bound by
federal law because they're Congress and make the law, ete.) Kind of wild creative
— Pm happy to discuss. My comment to him is that | guess there’s no harm init,
(legally at least) i.e. we would just be sending in “fake” electoral vores to Pence
50 that “someone” in Congress can make an objection when they start counting
Votes, and start arguing that the “fake” votes should be counted?"

On December 0,JESScontactedJERR fo assistancewitharequest ronJESSE
for “a list of our electors in each state and copies of the certificates sent in 4 years ago.”

responded that Campaign employees were already assisting in the effort and referred

IThe nest day, oJESSdirection,IESE cenerated directions o he

26 GA 1291-1295 D.
27 GA_1296.1299 GA 1300-1309

.
MGA : 6A1315-
1320 GA 1321-1324

.
GA 1296-1299 .

MGA 1325 .
1 GA 1296-1299 .
GA 1326-1327 .

2 GA 1288-1290 .
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electors in all ofthe targeted states except for Wisconsin (which had already received his memos)

and New Mexico (which he had not yet been asked to do) on how best to mimic the manner in

which valid electors were required by state law to gather and vote, along with fraudulent

certificatesofvote for the defendant’ electors to sign. 7"

The day before the defendant's electors were scheduled to meet and sign fraudulent

certificates of vote, the defendant asked Campaign advisor [J gil for an update on the elector plan

anddirectedJEG to issue statement, and[EGER askedJH to pvicpate in a messaging
conference call 75 discussed these developments in a text thread with
Campaignstoies ININN Ac: RNproposed a communications lan
for the Campaign on the elector vote, wrote to[JE “I'l cal soon and we'll talk
with boss.” The participants then discussed to whom a Campaign statement couldbeattributed.

‘wrote, “Here's the thing the way this has morphed it’s a crazy play so I don’t know who

wants to put their name on it ">" then shared with those on the text thread the invitees to

the cn JES vsconven [ESN woEE
[I derogatorily referred to them as the “Star Wars bar,” meaning a motley assortment of

characters, and in this case specifically ones whose professional competence[J gil] doubted and

7 GA_1328 § GA 1310-1311

[rons pane PGA 1336
13354 GA 1350-1311

to] GA 152.1534 :
GA 1345-1346 |
5 GA 1300 | )
GA 394-395 .
GA 1301 § .
Ga 1304 § .
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whom he personally would not choose to hire.”|EEE responded. “Certifying illegal

Votes "2" Thereafter, the text participants collectively agreed that no message would go out under

their names because hey “can’t stand by it" Tn he mids ofthese text messages,INNER
‘and[JG] bad a nineteen-minute phone call with the defendant **!

In practice, the fraudulent elector plan played out somewhat differently in each targeted

state. In general, the co-conspirators deceived the defendant’s elector nominees in the same way

that the defendantand[SEER]deceivedJGEEIN by folsely claiming that thir electoral votes
would be used only if ongoing litigation were resolved in the defendant's favor. ** A seleet few

of the defendant's agents and elector nominees, however, had insight into the ultimate plan to use

the fraudulent elector certificates to disrupt the congressional certification on January 6.2 In

several states, the defendant, his co-conspirators, and agents were unable to convince allof the

defendants elector nominees to participate. for instance, a former US.
Representative and US. Attomey and oneof the defendants elector nominees in Pennsylvania

who opted outofthe plan, told the state pty vice char trying to organize the defendant's electors

8 GA_1305-1306
EG396-597 I
PGA 1306 .
0 GA 1308 .
GAT .
GA 13471349 : GA

1350-1356 2020); GA 97-95 :
GA 317-51 3
2 GA 1888ai 3:15.4:32 2020): GA 1296-1299

.
See, e8 GA 625.633 ) oa 5021(I

GA 265 ) GA 1362-1365 (Fraudulent “Georgia's Electoral Votes for
President and Vice President’): GA 1372-1373 (Fraudulent “Michigan's Electoral Votes for
President and Vice President”); GA 1383-1389 (Fraudulent “Pennsylvania's Electoral Votes for
President and Vice President”)
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hat he would not participate because the plan did not follow the proper process and was illegal **

When electors ikeJE]declined, the conspirators and agents had to recruit substitutes willing
to go along with the plan. Other electors who participated based on the conspirators’ false

assurances that their votes were only a contingency were later surprised to lea that they were

used on January 6—and would not have agreed to participate if the conspirators had been truthful

about their plan 7

In Pennsylvania, thedefendantselector nominees” concern about the proprietyof the plan

presented a problem fo the conspirators. In text messages tha[JETER and exchanged
on December 11 into the early momning hoursofDecember 12.[JEtold ESSE to:EX

the state Republican Party Chairman whom the defendant had called shortly after the election"

“is winding up the electors. Telling them if thefy] sign the petition they could be prosecuted.

Need acounter argument or someone has to call him and tell him to stop.” responded,

“Have someone who knows him call him to tell him to stop.” replied, “That's the plan.

PA is squishy right now. Going fo need call with tomorow
On December 12, and others held a conference call

organized by the Campaign to placate the defendant's Pennsylvania electors.> falsely

GA 320-321 .
6 GA 519-520 024),
Ga 64-163 ): 6a 522523(EDG155-

195 .
= GA 615-619 ): 6a 723-721, Ga 726(EE
|
WGA 1318 .
2GA 1319 .
21d.
22 GA 1394-1308 ): GA 1399

.

“sie

Case 1:23-cr-00257-TSC   Document 252   Filed 10/02/24   Page 54 of 165



Case 1:23-r-00257-TSC Document 252 Filed 10/02/24 Page 55 of 165

assured them that their certificates of vote would be used only if the defendant succeeded in

litigation ** During the call, some of the defendants conspirators and agents exchanged text

sesongon expriseing Rostmtion of the cory’ vomomma™ wiote, “Whoever selected
this slate should be shot.” responded, “These people are making this so much more

complicated than it needs to be omg” and “We couldn't have found 20 people better than this???”

agreed, writing, “We need good substitutes.” When the possibility arose that the

electors’ certificatesof vote include conditional language making clear that they were not yet the

duly-appointed electors, wrote, “The other States are signing what prepared -

fit gets out we changed the language for PA it could snowball."

On December 13, theeve of when the electors were to meet, the defendant was preoccupied

with preventing the certificationofthe electoral vote. He tweeted: “Swing States that have found

massive VOTER FRAUD, which is all of them, CANNOT LEGALLY CERTIFY these votes as

‘complete & correct without committinga severely punishable crime. Everybody knows that dead

people, below age people, illegal inumigrants, fake signatures, prisoners, and many others voted

illegally. Also, machine “glitches (another word for FRAUD), ballot harvesting, non-resident

Voters fake ballots, ‘stuffing the ballot box’, votes for pay. roughed up Republican Poll Watchers,

and sometimes even more votes than people voting, took place in Detroit, Philadelphia,

Milwaukee, Atlanta, Pittsburgh, and elsewhere. In al Swing State cases, there are far more votes

GA 743 : Ga 1400(ED:G» o>!

|
emg]_—
J
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than are necessary to win the State, and the Election itself. Therefore, VOTES CANNOT BE

CERTIFIED. THIS ELECTION IS UNDER PROTEST!"

Ultimately, the Pennsylvania electors insisted upon using conditional language in their

elector certificates to avoid falsely certifying that they were duly-appointed electors And in

New Mexico—the state that [JKSSEHl's memoranda did not even address™—the defendant's

Campaign filed a pretextual lawsuit just minutes before the fraudulent electors met so that there:

was litigation pending atthe time ofthe vote." Notwithstanding obstacles, the defendant and his

co-conspirators successfully organized his elector nominees and substitutes to gather on December

14 in the targeted states, cast fraudulent electoral votes on his behalf, and send those fraudulent

Votes to Washington, D.C., in order to falsely claim at the congressional certification that certain

states had sent competing slatesofelectors."

‘When possible, the defendant and co-conspirators tried to have the fake electoral votes

appear to be in compliance with state law governing how legitimate electors vote. For example,

27 GA 867-872 (Donald J. Trump Tweets 12/13/2020).
2 GA 1407-1408

): GA 1409-1410
D: GA 1411-1412 ); GA 1413-1415

); GA 622-625 ).
2GA1416 ): GA 1273-1252(RE

D.
39GA 1417-1419

.
01 GA 1420-1424 (Fraudulent “Arizona's Electoral Votes for President and Vice President”); GA
1357-1368 (Fraudulent “Georgia's Electoral Votes for President and Vice President”); GA 1369
1379 (Fraudulent “Michigan's Electoral Votes for President and Vice President”); GA 1425-1444
(Fraudulent “Nevada's Electoral Votes for President and Vice President”); GA 1445-1450
(Fraudulent “New Mexico's Electoral Votes for President and Vice President”); GA 1380-1393
(Fraudulent “Pennsylvania's Electoral Votes for President and Vice President”); GA 1451-1457
(Fraudulent “Wisconsin's Electoral Votes for President and Vice President’); GA 1458-1472
I
2GA 1266-1270 ‘memo 12/09/2020).
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the co-conspirators knew that some states required that the duly-appointed electors meet and cast

their votes in the state capitol building.” To make it seem like they had complied with this

requirement, state officials were enlisted to provide the fraudulent electors with access to state

capitol buildings so that they could gather and vote there. In many cases, however, the

conspirators and fraudulent electors were unable to comply with state law for legitimate electors.

For example, Pennsylvania law required the Governor to give notice whenever an elector was

substituted, but the conspirators ould not mange for the Governor to give noice when[gl and

others opted out and had to be replaced. Thereafler, and others brainstormed fake

excuses for their failure to follow state law, writing, “maybe we can use Covid19 as an excuse for

the Govemmor not giving notice.”

“Then, on December 14—the date that duly-appointed electors across the country met to

cast their votes, and when the defendant's fraudulent electors in seven states mimicked them

[IEEER followed up with the defendant When she received an intemal RNC email titled

“Electors Recap - Final,” which summarized the day’s activities with respect 10 electors and

included a list of six “contested” states in which the defendant's electors voted, she forwarded it

fo the defendant’ exceutive assistant, Who responded, “Is in front of him"

GA 1268-1270 memo 12/09/2020).
GA 14T31475 GA 1458-1472

GA 1476
.

3% GA 1438-1472 .
GA1270 memo 12/09/2020); GA 1390 (Fraudulent “Pennsylvania's Electoral Votes
for President and Vice President”).
GA 1477-1482 .
GA 328-320 .
Jd: seealso GA 1483-1484 )
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also called the defendant to tell him that she had sent him the update,*'® and she spoke

1oJESSE shorty beforeJESS spoke tothe defendant
Atthe same time that the defendant's fraudulent electors were preparing to gather and cast

fraudulent votes, the defendant’s co-conspirators began planning how to use the fraudulent votes

10 overtum the election results at the January certification. On December 13, sent
a memorandum that envisioned a scenario in which Pence would use the fraudulent slates

asa pretext to claim tha there were dueling slates of electors from the targeted tates and negotiate

a solution to defeat Biden "> On the same day, the defendant resumed almost daly direct contact

with [Jl who maintained a podcast that disseminated the defendant's false fraud claims. *'*

On December 14, [JI podcast focused on spreading lies about the defendant's fraudulent

electors—including the false claim that their votes were merely a contingency in the event the

defendant won legal challenges in the targeted states ***

On December16,[JESSEN traveled to Washington with a groupof private attorneys who

had done work for the defendant's Campaign in Wisconsin for a photo opportunity with the

defendant in the Oval Office. ** During the encounter, the defendant complained about Wisconsin

GA 329 ).
GATS ): GA 1485 .

32 GA lass ): GA 1487-1493
.

35 See eg, GA 744 ): GA 749
): GA 750 : GA 751
p: Ga 753 : GA 756
GA 758-759 : GA 763

): GA 764 GA 765
GA 768, 770 : GA 771

.
GA 1979 .
3 GA 1494 ): GA 11495

SA T95-1500
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Supreme Court Justice[JJEEI] who two days earlier had cast the deciding vote in rejecting the

defendant's election challenge in the state.” As the group was leaving, the defendant spoke

directly—and privately—to ESS”

As late as early January. the conspirators attempted to keep the full natureofthe fraudulent

elector plan secret, On January 3, for instance, ina private text message exchange,JKGSGR] wrote
to JIESSER “Careful with your texts on text groups. No reason to text things about electors to

anyone but and me” responded, °K. and followed up, “T'm
probably a bit prsncid eke wote, “A valuable trait?

E. The Defendant Attempted to Persuade Pence to Reject Votes Cast by Duly-
Appointed Electors and Choose the Defendant's Fraudulent Ones

As the defendant’s various attempts to target the states failed, and the Jamuary 6

congressional certification approached, the defendant and co-conspirators tumed their attention to

Pence, who as President of the Senate presided over the certification proceeding. In service ofa

new plan—to enlist Pence to use his role to fraudulently alte the election results at the January 6

certification proceeding—the defendant and his co-conspirators again used deceit. They lied to

Pence, telling him that there was substantial election fraud and concealing their orchestration of

the plan to manufacture fraudulent elector slates, as well as their intention to use the fake slates to

attempt to obstruct the congressional certification. And they lied to the public, falsely claiming

that Pence had the authority during the certification proceeding to reject electoral votes, send them

Ga 716 ay GA 747-748
-— GA 100-100 .

IGA 497-498 ).
3 GA 498-500 .
8 GA 1501-1502 .
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back to the state, or overtum the election—and that Pence agreed he had these boundless powers.

With these lies, the defendant created the tinderbox that he purposely ignited on Jamuary 6.

‘The defendant first publicly turned his sights toward January 6 in the early morning hours

ofDecember 19. At 1:42 a., the defendant posted on Twitter a copy ofa report falsely alleging

fraud and wrote, . ..Statistically impossible to have lost the 2020 Election. Big protest in D.C.

on January 6th. Be there, will be wild!™*'* When| leamed about the Tweet, he sent a

link about it to another of the Wisconsin attorneys who had met with the defendant in the Oval

Office on December 16 and wrote, “Wow. Based on 3 days ago, I think we have unique

understanding ofthis” Later on December 19, the defendant called Pence and told himof plans

fora rally on January 6 and said that he thought it would be a “big day” and good to have lots of

their supporters in town. 2!

“The defendant and his co-conspirators recognized that Pence, by virtue of his ministerial

ole presiding over the January 6 congressional certification, would need to be a key part of their

plan to obstruct the certification proceeding. On December 23, in a memorandum drafted with

assistance, JJSSEH] outlined a plan for Pence to “gavel” in the defendant as the winner

ofthe election based on the false claim that 7 states have transmitted dual slates of electors to the

Presidentofthe Senate,” and proposed that Pence announce that “becauseofthe ongoing disputes

in the 7 States, there are no electors that can be deemed validly appointed in those States.”

39 GA 873-874 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/19/2020).

GA 440-441 { : GA 1020 (Pence, So Help Me God p. 437).
52 GA 1506-150 | Ga 1509 §

GA 1515-1515 ( p
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emphasized concealment, writing that “the main thing here” was that Pence act without

“asking for permission—either from a vote of the Joint Session or rom the Court”?

‘memorandum stood in stark contrast to concessions he had previously made

about the Vice Presidents lackof authority in the certification proceeding. Two months earlier

on October 1, he had written to a colleague that neither the Constitution nor the ECA provided

the Vice President with discretion in the countingofelectoral votes or permited him to “make the

detenmination on his own.” And just one day earlier, on December 22, when asked by other

private attomeys to provide views on a draft complaint that would, if filed, have raised the issue

of the Vice President's authority on January 6, had recommended that the complaint not

be filed He wrote that “the risk of getting a court ruling that Pence has no authority to reject

the Biden-certified ballots [is] very high."

On the evening of December 23,after[SSH sharedISIE and[GSE pian with

the defendant, the defendant publicly re-tweeted a document called “Operation Pence Card.”

which, tke [JESSE memorandum, advocated tha Pence block the lawl certification of he
legitimate electoral votes >” Also on December 23, JESSE emailed[REH asking to speak to

the defendant “to update him on our overall strategic thinking.” The following day, December

BGAISIS .
GA ls17 .
BGA ls21 D-
26g
7 GA 100s GA 752.754

GA 1523
): GA 883 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/23/2020): GA #49 H

3A 1022-1023 (Pence, So Help Me Godp.439-40); see also GA 1524-1527
|
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24, the defendant called and they spoke for forty minutes. ** Then on December 25,

proposed ina text messageto[JESSEandJEG that Pence permit an unlimited
filibuster of the certification, in violation of the ECA, and ultimately gavel in the defendant as

president. When [JES asked, “Is Pence really likely to be on board with this?” [SSE

responded, “Let's keep this off text for now.”

From that point on, the conspirators plotted to manipulate Pence.

andJI worked in concert 0 enlist Pence 0 act lawfully, and o rachet up public
pressure from the defendant's supporters that he do so. The defendant began to directly and

repeatedly pressure Pence at the same time that he continued summoning his supporters to amass

in Washington, D.C., on the dayof the congressional certification. On December 25, when Pence

called the defendant to wish hima Merry Christmas, the defendant raised the certification and told

Pence that he had discretion in his role as President of the Senate.” Pence emphatically

responded, “You know Idon’t think I have the authority to change the outcome.” The next day,

the defendant tweeted, “Never give up. See everyone in D.C. on January 6% He also tweeted

false fraud claims: “Time for Republican Senators to step up and fight for the Presidency, like the

Democrats would do if they had actually won. The proof is imefutable! Massive late night mail-

in ballot drops in swing states, stuffing the ballot boxes (on video), double voters, dead voters,

fake signatures, illegal immigrant voters, banned Republican vote watchers, MORE VOTES

THAN ACTUAL VOTERS (check out Detroit & Philadelphia), and much more. The numbers

GATS )
MGA1529 EE —
mg
26 450-452(SI: GA 1024-1025 (Pence, So Help MeGodp. 441-42)
mg
48557 oni. TrTee 12262620
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are far greater than what is necessary to win the individual swing states, and cannot even be

contested. Couts are bad, the FBI and ‘Justice’ didn’t do their job, and the United States Election

System looks like thatof a third world country. Freedom of the press has been gone for a long

time, it is Fake News, and now we have Big Tech (with Section 230) to deal with. But when it is

all over, and this period of time becomes just another ugly chapter in our Country's history, WE

WILL WINtr3s

On December 28, and[JESSEN exchanged text messages in which

expressed concern that Golmert v. Pence—a lawsuit filed the day before that asserted

that Pence had discretion to choose electoral votes during the certificationproceeding —would

‘prompt a federal court to publicly reject, and thus preclude, the plan that the conspirators were

advancing in private. Thereafter, at 11:00 a.m. on January 1, the defendant called Pence to

berate him because he had leamed that Pence had filed a brief opposing the relief sought in

Golmert**? When Pence explained, ashehad before, that he did not believe that he had the power

under the Constitution to decide which votes to accept, the defendant told him that “hundreds of

thousands”ofpeople “are gonna hate your guts” and “people are gonna think you're stupid,” and

berated him pointedly, “You're 00 honest.” Immediately before the call, the defendant had

spoken separatelyto[SSH] (from 10:06 am. 10 10:14 a.m.) and[JH (from 10:36 am. to

10:46 a.m.) and late that afternoon, the defendant spoke separately with | ETN EGESEH «nd

5 GA 888-895 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/26/2020).

a.1026-1027 (Pence, So Help Me God p. 446-47); GA

2G 13rae 5 leGop 14
-63-

Case 1:23-cr-00257-TSC   Document 252   Filed 10/02/24   Page 63 of 165



Case 1:23-r-00257-TSC Document 252 Filed 10/02/24 Page 64 of 165

ESS Within hours of the call with Pence, the defendant reminded supporters to travel fo

Washington for the certification proceeding, tweeting, “The BIG Protest Rally in Washington,

D.C., will take place at 11.00 AM. on January 6th. Locational details to follow. StopTheSteal!”*

The next day, on January 2, [EES ant —
podcast WhenJI asked whether the January certification would be “a climactic battle,”

responded that “a lot of that depends on the courage and the spine of the individuals

involved." The defendant spoke to[JGSI shortly after his appearance on the podcast. *** That

afternoon,JES worked to amange a meting among thedefendant,JESSE and Pence in
order to enlist Pence to misuse bis role as Presidentof the Senate at the certification proceeding >

When KSEE tested JIN about the meeting,JENho bad just ished a phone call
wilh the defendant reiterated that the defendant wanted Pence “briefed” by

immediately. *** Thereafter, the defendant called Pence, informing him “that he had spent the day

speaking 10 a secretary of state, state legislators, and membersof Congress.” (As described

Supra pp. 29-31 he defendant spoke with Georgia Secretary of tateJERhe sane dy)
On the call with Pence, the defendant said he had leaned that a US. Senator was going to propose

a ten-day delay in the certification proceeding, and told Pence, “you can make the decision” to

= oars I
0 GA 905-906 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/01/2021),
GA 1981 ).
GA 1981 at 24:56-25:40 -
GA T6176 .
GA 1006-1008, 1011-1014 .

6A763 ): GA 1007
-

GA 1027 (Pence, So Help Me God p. 447); GA 1532153(EE
_
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delay the count for ten days. **" The defendant then referred Pence to[ESSER for the first time

and askedif Pence would meet with him.

On January 3, the defendant again told Pence that at the certification proceeding, Pence

had the absolute right 10 reject electoral votes and the ability to overtum the election. * Pence

responded that he had no such authority, and that a federal appeals court had rejected a lawsuit

making that claim the previous day. *® Then, the defendant took to Titer to again falsely claim

hat fraud had permeated the election: “Sorry, but the numberof votes in the Swing States that we

are talking about is VERY LARGE and totally OUTCOME DETERMINATIVE! Only the

Democrats and some RINO'S would dare dispute this - even though they know it is true”! The

sameday,JESSE circulated a second memoranda that included a new plan under which, in
violation of the ECA, the Vice President would send the elector slates to the sate legislatures to

determine which slate to count **

‘The meeting that[JESSE had organized so that the defendantand[JESSEN could entist

Pence to reject Biden's legitimate electoral votes was scheduled late in the aftemoon of January

4.3% In advanceof the meeting| ESS INESISERNMESSE «IEE =thered at the Willard

Hotel near the White House, and from there, called and spoke with the defendant

i
0

oasisI + 5++155(EE
1

ld.
39 GA 926-927 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/03/2021).
32 GA 1537-1543 .

GA 1007-1012 : GA 766
D.

$54 GA 1904 at row 909 Ga loll
): GA 765 SGA

1544-1546 GA 1547-1548 )
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WhenJER arived at the White House forthemeeting,INE confrontedJESSEN about

the legal basis for his proposal. *** went line by line through[JSSHl's second memo,

andJIGS conceded that no court would support i; in response, INNER var INGSE]

that pressing his admittedly unlawful plan would cause “riots in the streets.” then

spoke to the defendant, telling him that the theory that[JS(S3l] and others were promoting would

not work, and that[ESSER] had acknowledged that it was “not going to work”; the defendant

responded, “other people disagree” but did not identify those other people.” also

pointed out to the defendant thatJSSE's theory regardinga strategic Democratic plan to subvert

the election was inconsistent with other allegations that had been floating around about[JEKSENEN

and foreign interference. *

‘The meeting among the defendant, JGSEH. Pence, and PencestaffersJE and

J began around 4:45 pn No one from the defendant's White House Counsel's Office
attended. *® During the meeting, the defendantaskedJSR to explain his plan to Pence.*!

presented two options: Pence could unilaterally decide objections to electors, or
altemnatively, in the planthatJSS had devised the prior day, Pence could send the clector

slates to the targeted states” legislatures to determine which electors’ votes should be counted. *?

In the defendant's presence, in response to Pence’s questioning, admitted that the ECA

355 GA215-221 ); GA 1901 at row 5745(EE
): GA 766 ).

GA21521
764219223(EE
GA 22¢
6 766(I: 27-275
GA 120-121(EE)
GA 276277(I:G 575-550(EE
* GA 276277(I:G 550-555(EE

edge
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forbade what he proposed and that no one hadtested[JESSE new plan to send elector slates to

state legislatures for review.» Nonetheless, the defendant repeatedly expressed a preference that

Pence unilaterally reject valid elector slates. 5"

Throughout the meeting, the defendant repeated his knowingly false fiaud claims as a

purported basis for Pence to act illegally. Pence’s five pages of contemporaneous notes from the

meeting reflect that the defendant said, “when there's fraud the rules get changed”: “bottom line ~

won every state by 10,0005 of votes” “this whole thing is up to MP"; “has to do w/you- you can

be bold" and “sfigh]t to do whatever you want to do." The meeting concluded with Pence—

firmandclear—telling the defendant “I'm not seeing this argument working" Nonetheless, the

defendant requested that Pence’s staff meet with [JESSE] again to discuss further, and Pence

agreed

The conspirators were undeterred. Immediately after leaving the White House.

gathered with[JESSE]and[EEN back at the Willard Hotel * Over the days that followed,

these conspirators strategized onhow[JESSE] could influence Pence through the Vice President's

counsel, and normalized the unlawful plan by discussing it on[Jl podcast > Meanwhile,

the defendant continued to pressure Pence publicly.

GA 277 ): Ga 582-584 .
GA 1519-1553 .
GA 280-281 .

7 GA 1028-1029 (Pence, So Help Me Godp. 450-51).
GA 1011-1013§ .
5 Ga 766 §

.
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For his part, immediately upon leaving the meeting with Pence, the defendant traveled to

Dalton, Georgia, to speak ata political rally at the invitationoftwo U.S. Senators engaged in run-

off elections there." During his political speech, the defendant promoted many of the same

falsehoods that he previously had been informed were untrue. He said, “theyre not taking the

White House. We're gonna fight like hell, Ill tell you right now,” and remarked, “1 hope Mike

Pence comes through for us, I have to tell you. T hope that our great Vice President, our great Vice

President comes through for us...Of course, if he doesn’t come through, I won't ike him quite

as much”! He also used the Dalton Campaign speech as a call to action to his own supporters,

telling the crowd that [ifyou don’t fight to save your country with everything you have, you're

not going to have a country left,”*” and demanded that his supporters take action to prevent what

he falsely called “the outright stealing of elections, like they're trying to do with us."

‘emphasizing, we “can’t let that happen.””"*

‘The next morning, on January , the defendant spoke on the phone with[I Less

than two hours later, on his podcast, said in anticipation of the January 6 certification

proceeding, “All Hell is going to break loose tomorrow.”

Also on the momingof January 5, JESSE] participated in a federal court hearing in Trump.

v. Kemp" the Georgia lawsuit against [El and [IEEEESHE i» which the defendant had

7 Ga 767( 930-931 (Donald 1. Trump Tocet
010412021),
#7! GA 1090 (Dalton Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/04/2021).
37 GA 1096 (Dalton Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/04/2021).
7 GA 1090 (Dalton Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/04/2021).
74 GA 1096 (Dalton Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/04/2021).
5 GA 768 ).

776 GA 1984 at 29:00-29:50 D.
57 Transcript of Mots. Hr'g, Trumpv. Kemp, No. 1:20-¢v-5310(N.D. Ga. Jan. 5, 2021), ECFNo.
21
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signed a false verification days earlier. ™ on the defendant's behalf, asked the federal

court 10 decertify the presidential election in Georgia and declare that the state legislature may

choose the state’s electors.” During the hearing, the federal court denied the relief requested ***

Immediately following the federal court’s rejectionof the legal basis for the conspirators”

‘plan, [JESSE went to the meeting that the defendant had requested that Pence’sstaff,[EE] and

take." At theoutset,[JESSEN] changed his tack and advocated that Pence simply reject the

Biden electors outright This was contrary to his primary recommendation the day before for

Pence to send the slates to the state legislatures, but consistent with the preference the defendant

had expressed made additional concessions during this meeting. For example,

‘agreed that the Supreme Court would unanimously reject his proposed action, consistent

historical practice since the Founding was that the Vice President never asserted authority o reject

electors, no reasonable person would want the Constitution read that way because the office would

never switch political partes, no sate legislature appeared poised to try to change its electors, and

if Democrats were fo claim the sameauthority,JESSE would not credit it** [GE expressed
to[JJESSER that the defendant's plan would result in a “disastrous situation” where the election

*7% Complaint at 33.34. Trumpy: Kemp. No_1:20-cv-5310 (N.D. Ga. Dec. 31, 2020), ECF No. 1;
GA 1152 .
5% Transcript of Mots. Hr'g at 29-34, Trumpv. Kemp, No. 1:20-cv-5310 (N.D. Ga. Jan. 5, 2021),
ECF No.21
3% Transcript of Mots. Hg at 55-56, Trumpv. Kemp, No. 1:20-¢v-5310 (N.D. Ga. Jan. 5, 2021),
ECF No.21
# GA 1563 .
GA 283284 : GA 1939 at 1:20.00121:30 (Video of Select

Commitee Testimony 00102022): GA 150°(EE
#2 6a 283284 (ID;C1939 at 1:20:00-121:30 (Video of Select
Committee Testimony 06/16:2022); GA 156+(J

GA 1939 at 56:53-57:36, 1:05:59-107:021:21:55120:30 (Video of Select Committee
Testimony 06/16/2022); Ga 267-27(ER
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might “have to be decided in the streets.” Having failed to enlist in the criminal

conspiracy, [JES told him that the “tea” was going to be “really disappointed” The

“team,” in fact, was disappointed; after updated[EES on the meeting,
confirmed toJJ that the “Pencelawyer —that is, JEERwas “totally against us.” prompting

to respond, “Fuck his lawyer.” That same day,JRGEE] received an email confirming
what he already had admittedto[JER] no chamber of any legislature in any state, including

Arizona, Georgia, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin, was requesting that ts electoral votes be retumed

to the state for review.

Meanwhile. who had traveled to Washington as directed by the defendant's

public messages, obtained duplicate originals of the fraudulent certificates signed by the

defendant's fraudulent electors in Michigan and Wisconsin, which they believed had not been

delivered by mail to the Presidentof the SenateorArchivist. **”[JESSER received these duplicates

from Campaignstaffand surrogates, who flew them to Washington at private expense. He then

3 GA 1939 at 1:26:01-1:26:32 (VideoofSelect Comittee Testimony 06/16/2022).
GA 289-290 § .
Ga 1014 | ).
GA 1565-1567 § ).

3 GA 1568-1574 GA 1575
A TST0-1550

GA ISS11552 A 1385-1385
{ : GA 1586158
| GA 1590-1593§

): GA 1395-1396

0 GA 1601-1607 : 6a 1608
)
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hand-delivered them to staffers for a U.S. Representativeat the Capitol as part ofaplan to deliver

them to Pence for use in the certification proceeding. *!

‘The defendant did not leave the pressure campaign to his co-conspirators; he redoubled his

own efforts. On January 5 at 11:06 am, shortlybefore[ESSER] meeting with the

defendant tweeted, “The Vice President has the power to reject fraudulently chosen electors”?

and designate the defendant as the winner of the electoral college vote. That aflemoon, the

defendant met privately with Pence in the Oval Office.” During the meeting, the defendant once

again told Pence, “I think you have the power to decertfy.”™ When Pence was unmoved, the

defendant threatened to criticize him publicly (“Tm gonna have to say you did a great

disservice"): this concernedJ] to whom Pence had relayed the defendant's threat, to the
point that he alerted Pence’s Secret Service detail Next still, the defendant initiated a phone

call with Pence,|EE IEEEN and one or two other private attorneys—likely including

ISS:cin raised the scenarioof the Vice President sending the elector slates to state

Jegistatures [GE agnin pointed out that such a strategy violated the ECA, and Pence
reaffirmed that he did not believe he had the authority to do so.” Shortly after the call that

1 GA 1583.1385 : Ga
1586-1589 A 1595
1596
#2 GA 934-935 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/05/2021),
GA 461-462 ): GA 1031-1032 (Pence, So Help Me Godp. 453-54).
GA 461.463 Ga 1031-1032 (Pence, So Help Me God p. 453-54),

GA 1656 .
GA 61, 463.470 GA 1031-1032 (Pence, So Help Me God p. 453-

54); GA 1656 .
3% GA 586-587 .
#16 1657 Ga 1215(EE + 1+:
HG» 165 .
¥$GA 282-288 .

1d.
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evening, at 5:43 p.m. the defendant tweeted, “I will be speaking at the SAVE AMERICA RALLY

tomorrow on the Ellipse at 11AM Eastem. Aive early ~ doors open at 7AM Easter. BIG

CROWDS!

“The defendant continued his pressure campaign on Pence that evening. Afier a New York

Times article that night detailed the aftemoon’s private conversation in which Pence had rejected

the defendant's demand to act unlawfully, the defendant directed to issue a statement

rebutting it and approved he statement at 9:28 p.m. *' Minutes later, the defendant called Pence

and told him, “you gotta be tough tomorrow.” After concluding the call with Pence, the

defendant sequentially spoke to[TI followedby[JESSER*** Then. at around 10:00 p.m. that

night, the defendant issued the public statement, which read “the Vice President and I are in total

agreement that the Vice President has the power to act™—a statement that the defendant knew

was a lie from Pence’s repeated and fim rejectionsofhis efforts, but that gave false hope to the

defendant's supporters aiving in the city at the defendant’s request, and maximized pressure on

Pence.

F. The Defendant Caused Unlawful Conduct on January 6 and Tried to Take
Advantage of the Riot that Ensued

‘The defendant continued his intense pressure campaign against the Vice President into the

early moming hours of January 6. Around 1:00 a., the defendant tweeted, falsely: “If Vice

President @Mike_Pence comes throughfor us, we will win the Presidency. Many States want to

“9 GA 938-939 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/05/2021).
“GA 769 : GA_1660-1661

: GA 662 : GA 384-3
.

GA TI0 ): GA 1033 (Pence, So Help Me Godp. 455).
“GA TT0 .
“4 GA 1663 (DonaldJ. Trump Campaign Statement 01/05/2021).

-n-
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decertify the mistake they made in certifying incorrect & even fraudulent numbers in a process

NOT approved by their State Legislatures (which it must be). Mike can send it back!™** At

8:17 a.m. as the supporters he had summoned to the city gathered near the White House, the

defendant again falsely tweeted about the certification: “States want to correct their votes, which

they now know were based on imegularities and fraud, plus comupt process never received

legislative approval. All Mike Pence has to do is send them back to the States, AND WE WIN.

Do it, Mike, this is a time for extreme courage!”

Later that moming, worked with another attomey for the defendant, who

contacted a U.S. Senator to ask him to obtain the fraudulent Wisconsin and Michigan documents

from the U.S. Representatives office and hand-deliver them to the Vice President When one

of the US. Senator's staffers contacted a Pence staffer by text message to arrange for delivery of

what the U.S. Senator's staffer had been told were “[a]lternate slate[s) of electors for MI and WI

because [the] archivist didn’t receive them,” Pence’sstaffer rejected them. **

AUILIS am, shortly before traveling to the Ellipse to speak to his supporters, the

defendant called Pence and made one last attempt to induce him to act unlawfully in the upcoming

session.” When Pence again refused. and told the defendant that he intended to make a statement

to Congress before the certification proceeding confirming that he lacked the authority to do what

“05 GA 940-941 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021).
“0 GA 1929 at 02:16:45 (VideoofEllipse Rally 01/06/2021)
“07 GA 942-943 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021).

2GA 102-103 GA 262-263

2 GA 1666 : 6a 1667(

one
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the defendant wanted. the defendant was incensed *!! He decided to re-insert into his Campaign

speech at the Ellipse remarks targeting Pence for his refusal to misuse his role in the

certification. "2 And the defendant set into motion the last plan in furtherance of his conspiracies;

if Pence would not do as he asked. the defendant needed to find another way to prevent the

certification of Biden as president. So on January 6, the defendant sent to the Capitol a crowd of

angry supporters, whom the defendant had called to the city" and inundated with false claims of

outcome-determinative election fraud, to induce Pence not to certify the legitimate electoral votes

and to obstruct the certification. 14

At the Ellipse Campaign rally and[JESSER spoke just before the defendant. In

PR— sought to clo the conspiracies in wn sir of lagifiasy, sswneing the

defendant's supporters that “every single thing that has been outlined as the plan for today is

perfectlylegal,”**and introducing[JER] as “preeminent constitutional scholar(]" who would

further explain this plan." He falsely claimed that legislatures in five states were “begging” to

have their electoral ballots retumed.*'” then asserted that Pence could “decide on the

“11 GA 371-373 ): Ga 227.228 :
GA4TIMT2 GA 1668-1669
412 GA 405-406 GA 1670

GA 635-612 : GA 1650
GA 1681 GA 231

GA 371 .
“13 Se, eg., GA 886-887 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/26/2020); GA 897-898 (Donald J. Trump
Tuveet 12/27/2020); GA 899-900 (Donald J. Trump Teveet 12/30/2020); GA 905-906 (Donald J.
“Trump Tweet 01/01/2021): GA 907-908 (DonaldJ.Trump Tweet 01/01/2021): GA 913-914, GA
1891 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/01/2021); GA 928-929 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/04/2021);
GA 932-933 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/05/2021); GA 938-939 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
01/05/2021).
“4 See GA 1928 (VideoofEllipse Rally 01/06/2021).
15 GA 1928 at 2:19:27 (VideoofEllipse Rally 01/06/2021)
#16 GA 1928 at 2:19:40 (VideoofEllipse Rally 01/06/2021).
“17 GA 1928 at 2:20:13 (Video of Ellipse Rally 01/06/2021)
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validityofthese crooked ballots™!* and told the crowd, “(let's have trial by combat.” ***|ESSE]

in his speech, claimed that Pence must send electoral votes to state legislatures for “the American

people [to] know whether we have control of the direction of our goverment or not, and

decried that “[w]e no longer live in a self-governing republicifwe can’t get the answer to this

question!

‘When the defendant took the stage at the Ellipse rally to speak to the supporters who had

‘gatheredthere athisurging, he knew thatPencehad refused, once and for all o use the defendant's

fraudulent electors” certificates. The defendant also knew that he had only one last hopetoprevent

Biden's certification as President: the large and angry crowd standing in frontofhim. So for more

than an hou, the defendant delivered a speech designed to inflame his supporters and motivate

them to march o the Capitol. #2

The defendant told his crowd many of the same lies he had been telling for months—

publicly and privately, including to the officials in the targeted states—and that he knew were not

true. In Arizona,he claimed, more than 36,000 ballotshadbeen cast by non-citizens.*** Regarding

Georgia, the defendant repeated the falsehood that more than 10,300 dead people voted, and he

raised the publicly disprove claims about fraud by election workers at State Farm Arena. He

made baseless allegationsofdead voters in Nevada and Michigan and false claims about illegally

#15 GA 1928 at 2:22:10 (VideoofEllipse Rally 01/06/2021).
1d.

“9 GA 1928 at 2:27:08 (VideoofEllipse Rally 01/06/2021).
21 GA 1928 at 2:27:21 (Video of Ellipse Rally 01/06/2021).
“22 GA 1928 at 3:31:20-4:42:50 (VideoofEllipse Rally 01/06/2021).
#3 GA 1134 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
“4 GA 1133-1134 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021),
#23 GA 1133 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
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counted votes in Wisconsin. And in Pennsylvania, he claimed that there were hundreds of

thousands more ballots counted than there had been voters.

“The defendant also lied to his rally supporters when he claimed that certain states wanted

to reconsider or recertiy their duly appointed electors. For instance, he said. “By the way.

Pennsylvania has now seen all of this. They didn’t know because it was so quick. They had a

vote. They voted. But now they see all this stuffit's all come to light. Doesnt happen that fast.

And they want to recertify their votes. They want to recertify. But the only way that can happen

is ifMike Pence agrees to send it back. Mike Pence has to agree to send it back. In response

to this lie about Pennsylvania, the defendant's crowd began to chant, “Send it back! Send it

back!"

‘The defendant gave his supporters false hope that Pence would take action to change the

resultsof the election and claimed that Pence had the authority to do so. He falsely told the crowd

that Pence could still “do the right thing and halt the certification, and he extemporized lines

about the Vice President through the speech. including the indirect threat, “Mike Pence. I hope

you're gonna stand up for the good of our Constitution and for the good of our country. And if

you're not, I'm gonna be very disappointed in you. Iwill tell you right now. I'm not hearing good

stories.

“6 GA 1131 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
“GA 1127, 1137 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
“GA 1128 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
9 GA 1896 at 5:10 (RallygoerVideo 01/06/2021)
“GA 1116 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021)
5 Compare GA 1133 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021) with GA 1683 (Ellipse Rally
teleprompter speech excerpt).
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‘The defendantgalvanizedhis supporters by painting the stakesascritical and assuring them

that “history [was] going to be made.”**? He made clear that he expected his supporters to take

action, telling them regarding his lossofthe election that “we're not going to let that happen,”

calling on them to “fight”** and to “take back” their country through strength, while suggesting

hat legal means were antiquated or insufficient to remedy the purported fraud, because “[wJhen

you catch somebody in a fraud, you're allowed to go by very different rules.” Throughout the

speech—from as early as about fifteen minutes into it and twice in its final ines —the defendant

directed his supporters {0 20 10 the Capitol and suggested that he would go with them

“The overall impactofthe defendant's speech—particularly in lightof monthsofstatements

and Tweets falsely claiming election fraud and following on the heelsof [SSHand[SSSI

speeches—was to fuel the crowd’s anger. For instance, when the defendant told his supporters

that “fwe will not let them silenceyour voices. We're not going to let it happen.” the crowd

chanted, “Fight for Trump,” in response.” When the defendant soon after told supporters that

“we're going to walk down to the Capitol,” that they would “never take back our country with

2 GA 1122 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
53 GA 1116 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
434 See, eg, GA 1120, 1140 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
wp
436 GA 1137 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
“7 GA 1120, 1140, 1141 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).

“38 GA 1116 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
49 GA 1897 at 3:18 (Rallygoer Video 01/06/2021).
#0 GA 1120 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021)

7
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weakness,”*! and that they had “to show strength and [had] to be strong”? members of the

crowd shouted, “Invade the Capitol building!” and, “Take the Capitol!”

Thousands of the defendant’s supporters obeyed his directive and marched to the

Capitol,“* where the certification proceeding began around 1:00 p.m.*“S Minutes earlier, Pence

had issued a public statement explaining that his role as President of the Senate did not include

“unilateral authority to determine which electoral votes should be counted and which should

101 On the floor of the Houseof Representatives, Pence opened the certificatesofvote and

certificate of ascertainment from Arizona, consistent with the ECA. After an objection from a

Senator and Representative, the Houseand Senate retired to their separate chambers to debate it”

Outside of the Capitol building, a mass of people—including those who had traveled to

‘Washington and the Capitola the defendant's direction—broke through barriers cordoningoff the

Capitol grounds and advanced on the building.“* Among these was[JESEER who had attended

the defendant's speech from the Washington Monument, marched with the erow to the Capitol,

and breached the restricted area surrounding the building. “* A large portionofthe crowd at the

Capitol— including rioters who violently attacked law enforcement officers frying fo secure the

“a
“p
+5 GA 1898 at 00:19 (Rallygoer Video 01/06/2021).

See, e.g.. GA 1930 at 1:09:30 (VideoofEllipse Rally 01/06/2021); GA 1942 (Videoof March
to Capitol 01/06/2021); GA 1941 at 02:10-2:33 (Video of March to Capitol 01/06/2021)
5 GA 1937 at 20:47 (Video of House Floor 01/06/2021).
6 GA 1685 (Pence Dear ColleagueLetter 01/06/2021).
“7 GA 1937 at 26:24 (Video of House Floor 01/06/2021).
“8 See, e.g., GA 1915 at 3:25 (Video of Capitol Riot 01/06/2021).
GA 1687 [Ne

} GA 1583-1385
.
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building —wore clothing and carried items bearing the defendant's name and Campaign slogans,

leaving no doubt that they were there on hisbehalf and at his direction. **

Beginning at about 1:30 pn., the defendant setled in the dining room off of the Oval

Office. He spent the aftemoon there reviewing Twitter on his phone, ! while the dining room

television played Fox News’ contemporaneous coverageofevents a the Capitol. 2

AU2:13 pan, the crowd at the Capitol broke into the building, and forced the Senate to

recess. * Within minutes, staffers fled the Senate chamber carrying the legitimate electors’

physical certificates of vote and certificates of ascertainment“ Next to the Senate chamber, a

aroup of rioters chased a U.S. Capitol Police officer up a flight of stairs to within forty feet of

where Pence was sheltering with his family. *** As they did so, the rioters shouted at the officer,

in searchof public officials, “Where the fuck they at? Where the fuck they counting the votes at?

Why are you protecting them? You're a fucking traitor. *** On the other side of the Capitol, the

House was also forced to recess.”

+9 GA 1912 at 56:36 (Videoof Capitol Riot 01/06/2021); GA 1924 at 38:48 (Video of Capitol
Riot 01062021); GA 1918 (Video of Capitol Riot 01/06/2021); GA 1919 (VideoofCapitol Riot
01/06/2021): GA 1921 at 04:30 (Video of Capitol Riot 01/06/2021); see also GA 2-3—

.
#1GA 1902
[1
#2GA 168-169 ): GA 292-203 ):
GA 340, 541-544 GA 232, 236 )
#3 GA 1957 at 1:04-1:25 (Video of Senate Wing Door CCTV 01/06/2021); GA 1954 at 44:16
(VideoofSenate Floor 01/06/2021),
“4 United States v. Hale-Cusanelli, No. 21-ct-37, ECF No. 93 at 38-39 (DD.C. June 3, 2022)
(Trial Tr. 05/24/2022),
#55 GA 1923 (VideoofCapitol Riot 01/06/2021); GA 177-178 }
ReAE ):
GA 1916 at 00:30 (Video of Capitol Riot 01/06/2021).
457 GA 1937 at 1:34:00 (Video of House Floor 01/06/2021)
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Fox News's coverage of events at the Capitol included, at about 2:12 p.m, reports of the

Capitol being on lockdown and showed video footage of large crowds within the restricted area

surrounding the Capitol; much of the crowd was wearing clothing and carrying flags evidencing

their allegiance o the defendant. *** At about 2:20 p.m. video of crowds on the Capitol lawn and

West Terrace were shown alongside a chyron stating, “CERTIFICATION VOTE PAUSED AS

PROTESTS ERUPT ON CAPITOL HILL. At2:21 p.m., an on-the-street reporter interviewed

an individual marching from the Ellipse to the Capitol who claimed to have come to Washington

“because President Trump told us we had something big to look forward to, and I believed that

Vice President Pence was going to certify the electorial [sic] votes and, or not certify them, but

guess that's just changed, comect? And it’s a very big disappointment. 1 think there’s several

hundred thousand people here who are very disappointed. But I sill believe President Trump has

something else left." And at approximately 2:24 p.m., Fox News reported thata police officer

may have been injured and that “protestors ... have made their way inside the Capitol.”

At2:24 pm, Trump was alone in his dining room when he issued a Tweet attacking Pence

and fueling the ongoing riot: “Mike Pence didn’t have the courage to do what should have been

done to protect our Country and our Constitution, giving States a chance to certifya corrected set

of facts, not the fraudulent or inaccurate ones which they were asked to previously certify. USA

demands the truth!”*® That aftemoon, at the Capitol, a rioter used a bullhom to read the

defendant's Tweet about the Vice President aloud to the crowd trying to gain entry to the

#5 GA 1931 at 12:12 (Video of Fox News Coverage 01/06/2021),
#9 GA 1931 at 20:11 (Video of Fox News Coverage 01/06/2021),
“0 GA 1931 at 21:47 (Video of Fox News Coverage 01/06/2021),
“1 GA 1931 at 24:05-24:17 (Video of Fox News Coverage 01/06/2021).
2 GA 946-947 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021); GA 546(IED
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Capitol being on lockdown and showed video footage of large crowds within the restricted area 
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their allegiance to the defendant.458 At about 2:20 p.m., video of crowds on the Capitol lawn and 

West Terrace were shown alongside a chyron stating, “CERTIFICATION VOTE PAUSED AS 

PROTESTS ERUPT ON CAPITOL HILL.”459  At 2:21 p.m., an on-the-street reporter interviewed 

an individual marching from the Ellipse to the Capitol who claimed to have come to Washington 

“because President Trump told us we had something big to look forward to, and I believed that 

Vice President Pence was going to certify the electorial [sic] votes and, or not certify them, but I 

guess that’s just changed, correct?  And it’s a very big disappointment.  I think there’s several 

hundred thousand people here who are very disappointed.  But I still believe President Trump has 

something else left.”460 And at approximately 2:24 p.m., Fox News reported that a police officer 

may have been injured and that “protestors . . . have made their way inside the Capitol.”461

At 2:24 p.m., Trump was alone in his dining room when he issued a Tweet attacking Pence 

and fueling the ongoing riot: “Mike Pence didn’t have the courage to do what should have been 

done to protect our Country and our Constitution, giving States a chance to certify a corrected set 

of facts, not the fraudulent or inaccurate ones which they were asked to previously certify.  USA 

demands the truth!”462  That afternoon, at the Capitol, a rioter used a bullhorn to read the 

defendant’s Tweet about the Vice President aloud to the crowd trying to gain entry to the 

 
458 GA 1931 at 12:12 (Video of Fox News Coverage 01/06/2021). 
459 GA 1931 at 20:11 (Video of Fox News Coverage 01/06/2021). 
460 GA 1931 at 21:47 (Video of Fox News Coverage 01/06/2021). 
461 GA 1931 at 24:05–24:17 (Video of Fox News Coverage 01/06/2021). 
462 GA 946-947 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021); GA 546 ( ). 
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building ** The defendant issued the incendiary Tweet about Pence despite knowing—as he

would later admit in an interview in 2023—that his supporters “listen to [him] like no one else.

One minute later, at 2:25 p.m., the Secret Service was forced to evacuate Pence to a secure

location.* At the Capitol, throughout the aftemoon, membersofthe crowd chanted, “Hang Mike

Pence!”4; “Where is Pence? Bring him out!™*”; and “Traitor Pence!™*** Several rioters in those

chanting crowds wore hats and carried flags evidencing their allegiance to the defendant. In the

years since January 6, the defendant has refused to take responsibility for puting Pence in danger,

instead blaming Pence. On March 13, 2023, he said, “Had Mike Pence sent the voles back to the

legislatures, they wouldn't have had a problem with Jan. 6, so in many ways you can blame him

for Jan. 6. Had he sent them back to Pennsylvania, Georgia, Arizona, the states, I believe, number

one, you would have had a different outcome. ButI also believe you wouldn't have had ‘Jan. 6°

as we call it”

Rioters—again, many bearing pro-Trump paraphemalia. indicating their allegiance—

breached the Senate chamber,7 rifled through the papers on the Senators” desks," and stood on

the dais where Pence had been presiding just minutes earlier.72 On the House side, rioters watched

“5 GA 1922 (VideoofCapitol Riot 01/06/2021).
4% GA 1693 (Transcript of CNN Town Hall 05/10/2023)
4 GA 1944 (Video of Pence Evacuation 01/06/2021).
“GA 1914 (VideoofCapitol Riot 01/06/2021).
“9 GA 1911 (VideoofCapitol Riot 01/06/2021).
“5 GA 1910 (VideoofCapitol Riot 01/06/2021).
“9 Isaac Amsdorf and Macve Reston, Trump claims violence he inspired on Jan. 6 was Pence’s

Sault, Wash. Post, (Mar. 13, 2023, 8:09 pm),
hitps://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2023/03/13/trump-pence-iowal.
19 GA 1956 (Video of Senate Gallery Doors CCTV 01/06/2021),
1 GA 1955 at 16:20 (Video of Senate Floor 01/06/2021).
2 GA 1955 at 29:15 (Video of Senate Floor 01/06/2021),
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463 GA 1922 (Video of Capitol Riot 01/06/2021).
464 GA 1693 (Transcript of CNN Town Hall 05/10/2023). 
465 GA 1944 (Video of Pence Evacuation 01/06/2021). 
466 GA 1914 (Video of Capitol Riot 01/06/2021).
467 GA 1911 (Video of Capitol Riot 01/06/2021).
468 GA 1910 (Video of Capitol Riot 01/06/2021).
469 Isaac Arnsdorf and Maeve Reston, Trump claims violence he inspired on Jan. 6 was Pence’s 
fault, Wash. Post, (Mar. 13, 2023, 8:09 p.m.), 
https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2023/03/13/trump-pence-iowa/. 
470 GA 1956 (Video of Senate Gallery Doors CCTV 01/06/2021). 
471 GA 1955 at 16:20 (Video of Senate Floor 01/06/2021). 
472 GA 1955 at 29:15 (Video of Senate Floor 01/06/2021). 
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as police evacuated lawmakers from the House chamber, smashing glass windows surrounding a

locked door that stood between them and the fleeing Members and staffers.” At least one rioter

recorded video showing Members being evacuated while the growing crowd screamed at the

Capitol Police officers guarding the locked door to the House Speaker's Lobby.

‘Someof the worst violenceofthe day took place outside of the Capitol on the Lower West

Terrace—ihe side of the building facing the Ellipse where the defendant had given his speech

There, scaffolding placed in anticipation of the January 20 Inauguration created a tunnel leading

toa setof double glass doors into the centerofthe Capitol building. After rioters had forced their

way onto restricted Capitol grounds and past the temporary barriers, including layers of snow

fencing and bike racks, they attacked the law enforcement officers trying to protect the building

with flag poles, bear spray, stolen police riot shields, and other improvised weapons.” Of his

time defending the Capitol, one Metropolitan Police Department Officer said:

1 feared for my life from the moment I got into that—we were walking into the
crowd, when the Capitol Police officer was leading us into the front line. And
especially when I got sprayed in the middle ofthe crowd. I—at that point, honestly,
1 thought, this is it. Yeah, multiple times...You know, you're getting pushed,
kicked, you know, people are throwing metal bats at you and all that stuff. I was
like, yeah, this is fucking it.

“The officer described that the rioters he encountered at the Capitol were wearing both “tactical

gear” and “Trump paraphernalia” and appeared to be acting outof“pure, sheer anger.”

“75 GA 1938 at 00:05 (Videoof HouseFloor 01/06/2021); GA 1905 (Video inside Capitol Building
01/06/2021).
“4 GA 1936 at 06:18 (Video of House Chamber Doors 01/06/2021).
“8 GA 1920 (Video of Capitol Riot 01/06/2021); GA 1917 at 54:30 (Video of Capitol Riot
01/06/2021).
6A 5-6(I
6A +
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In the years after January 6, the defendant has reiterated his support for and allegiance to

rioters who broke into the Capitol, calling them “patriots” and “hostages,” providing them

financial assistance, "and reminiscing about January 6as “a beautiful day.” Atarally in Waco,

Texas, on March 25, 2023, the defendant started a tradition he has repeated several times—opening

the event with a song called “Justice for AIL” recorded by a groupof charged—and in many cases,

convicted—January 6 offenders known as the “January 6 Choir” and who, because of their

dangerousness, are held at the District of Columbia jail.“2 At the Waco Rally, of the January 6

Choir, the defendant said, “our people love those people, they love those people.” The defendant

has also stated thatifre-elected, he will pardon individuals convictedofcrimes on January 6.

On the eveningof January 6, the defendantand[EGS attempted to exploit the violence:

and chaos at the Capitol byhavingJSG call Senators and attempt to get them to further delay

the certification. At around 7:00p.m,JESS placed calls to five U.S. Senators and one U.S.

Representative. 4 attempted to confirm phone numbers for Membersof Congress whom

“8 GA 1973 at 16:52 (Videoof Waco Rally 03/25/2023); GA 1962 at 48:29 (Video of Trump at
Faith and Freedom Coalition 06/17/2022); GA 1971 (Videoof Trump Interview 02/01/2022).
GA 1935 at 35:50, 01:16:16 (Video of Greensboro Rally 03/02/2024).

“40 GA 1966 at 09:30 (Video of Trump Interview 09/01/2022).
“81 GA 1967 at 45:18 (VideoofTrump Interview 08/23/2023); GA 1692 (Transcript ofCNN Town
Hall 05/10/2023)
“2 GA 1973 at 03:00 (Video of Waco Rally 03/25/2023). See, e.g., UnitedStates v. Jordan Robert
Mink, 211-25 (D.D.C. 2023); United States v. Ronald Sandlin, 21-88 (D.D.C. 2022); United
States v. Barton Shively, 21-cr-151 (D.D.C. 2022); United States v. Julian Khater, 21-cr-222
(D.D.C. 2022); United States v. James McGrew, 21-c5-398 (D.D.C. 2022).
“55 GA 1973 at 06:02 (Video of Waco Rally 03/25/2023).
“4 GA 1971 at 15:51 (Video of Trump Interview with Schmitt 02/01/2022).
“GA 1904 at row 1383(EE):CG 1696(NE
4 GA 1697 : GA 1401-1406(EE:GA
1698-1701 D.
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the defendant haddirected[ESS to call.” Ina voicemail that[EI] intendedforone Senator,

said, “I'm calling you because I want to discuss with you how theyre trying to rush this

hearing and ow we need you, our Republican friends, to ry to just slow it down so we can get

these legislatures to get more information to you. And [know they're reconvening at eight tonight,

but the only strategy we can follow is to object to numerous states and raise issues so that we can

get ourselves into tomorrow ideally until the end of tomorrow. He then asked the Senator to

“object to every state” to “give us the opportunity to get the legislators who are very, very close to

pulling their votes.” This concession—that legislatures had not et asked to review their slates—

stood in contrast to[JSS] and the defendant's lies at the Ellipse that they already had.*** Next,

in a voicemail intended for another Senator,[JE] told more lies.*® He falsely claimed that

Pence’s decision not to use the defendant's fraudulent electors’ certificates had been surprising,

and that in lightof the surprise, “we could use a litle time so tha the state legislatures can prepare

even more to come to you and say, “Please give this back to us for a while so we can fix it”!

then repeated knowingly false claims of election fraud, including that non-citizens had

Voted in Arizona and an outeome-determinative number of underage voters had cast ballots in

Georgia.

Although the attack on the Capitol successfully delayed the certification for approximately

six hours, the House and Senate resumed the Joint Session at 11:35 p.m. ** But the conspirators

GA 1977 J
9 GA 1928 at 2:20:13, 3:37:54 (Videoof EllipseRally 01/06/2021)
aa 17s(EE
“id
“1d
“3 GA 1703 (Congressional Record 01/06/2021).

sa-
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were not done. Within ten minutes, at 11:44 p.m. |ESSEwho earlier that day wroteto[REY

that “[tJhe siege is because YOU and your boss did not do what was necessary"—emailedJE

again and urged him to convince Pence to violate the law, writing, “I implore you to consider one

‘more relatively minor violation [of the ECA] and adjourn for 10 days to allow the legislatures to

finish their investigations, as well a to allow a full forensic audit ofthe massive amount of illegal

activity that has occurred here.”

At3:41 a.m. on January 7, as Presidentofthe Senate, Pence announced the certified results

ofthe 2020 presidential election in favorofBiden. *

IL Legal Framework

In Trump, the Supreme Court held that former presidents are immune from prosecution for

core official acts, enjoy at least a rebuttable presumption of immunity for other official acts, and

have no immunityforunofficial act, and remanded to this Court for further proceedings consistent

with its holding. 14'S. Ct. at 2327, 2332, 2347. This section sets forth the applicable legal

principles and then Section III applies them to the categories of conduct that the superseding

indictment alleges and that the Government intends to prove at trial in order to demonstrate that

noneofthe defendant's conduct is immunized.

In Trump, the Supreme Court announced the principles that gover a former President's

claim of constitutional immunity from federal criminal prosecution. The Supreme Court divided

presidential acts nto three categories: (1) core presidential conduct that Congress has no power to

regulate and for which a former President has absolute immunity: (2) other official presidential

acts for which the President has at least presumptive immunity; and (3) unofficial conduct for

aa rros-1700EEE
“% GA 1925 at 19:14, 20:34 (Video of Congress Joint Session 01/06/2021); GA 1704 at 41
(Congressional Record 01/06/2021)
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which the President has no immunity. Jd. at 2327, 2331-32. With respect to the first category of

core official conduct, when the President's authority to act is “conclusive and preclusive,”

Congress may not regulate his actions, and the President has absolute immunity from criminal

prosecution. /d. at 2327 (quoting Youngstown Sheet & Tube Co. v. Sawyer, 343 U.S. 579, 638

(1952) (Jackson, J., concurring)). Applying those principles to the original indictment, the

Supreme Court concluded that the defendant is “absolutely immune from prosecution for the

alleged conduct involving his discussions with Justice Department officials” and his “threatened

removalof the Acting Attomey General” d. at 2335. The superseding indictment omits those

allegations, and the Supreme Court did not find that any other conduct alleged in the original

indictment implicated “conclusive andpreclusive”presidential authority. See id. at 2335-40.

The threshold question here, then, iswhether the defendant can carryhis burden to establish

that his acts were official and thus subject to presumptive immunity. Id. at 2332; see Dennis v.

Sparks, 449 U.S. 24,29 (1980) (noting that for immunity doctrines, “the burden is on the official

claiming immunity to demonstrate his entitlement”). Official conduct includes acts taken within

the “outer perimeter” of the President’s official responsibilities, covering actions so long as they

are “not manifestly or palpably beyond [his] authority.” Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2333 (quoting

Blassingame, $7 F 4th at 13). But consistent with the D.C. Circuit's opinion in Blassingame, the

Supreme Court suggested that a President who speaks “as a candidate for office or party leader”—

as thedefendantdid here —does not act in his official, presidential capacity. /d. at 2340. As the

D.C. Circuit explained, a President acting as a “candidate for re-election” is, to that extent, not

carrying out an official responsibility. Blassingame, 87 F.4th at 17; accord id. at 5 (“When a

sitting President running for re-election speaks in a campaign ad orinaccepting his political party's

nomination at the party convention, he typically speaks on matters of public concem. Yet he does
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so in an unofficial, private capacity as office-seeker, not an official capacity as office-holder. And

actions taken in an unofficial capacity cannot qualify for offcial-act immunity.” (emphasis in

original). To assess whethera presidential action constitutes an “official” act, courts must apply

an “objective analysis” that focuses on the “‘content, form, and context” of the conduct in

question. Trump,144S. Ct. at 2340 (quoting Snyder v. Phelps, 562 U.S. 443, 453 (2011). A

President’s motives for undertaking the conduct and the fact that the conduct is alleged to have

violated a generally applicable law are not relevant considerations. Id. at 2333-34.

Ifa President’s actions constitute non-core official presidential conduct, he is at least

presumptively immune from criminal prosecutionforthat conduct, 144 S. Ct. at 2328, 2331; id.

12332 (reserving whether “this immunity is presumptive or absolute... [because we need not

decide that question today”). The Government can overcome that presumptive immunity by

demonstrating that “applying a criminal prohibition to that act would pose no ‘dangersofintrusion

‘on the authority and functionsofthe Executive Branch.” 1d. at 2331-32 (quoting Fitzgerald, 457

USS. at 754). Just as the inquiry into whether conduct is official or unofficial is “necessarily

factbound,” Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2340, with “{t]he necessary analysis [being]. . . fact specific,”

id. at 2339, 50 100 should be the inquiry into whether any “presumption of immunity is rebutted

under the circumstances,” id. at 2337. The analysis should first identify the specific alleged act at

issue, and then determine whether criminal liability for the act intrudes on a relevant Executive

Branch authority or function, taking care not to “conceive[] of the inquiry at 100 high a level of

generality.” Banneker Ventures, LLC. Graham, 198 F.3d 1119, 1141 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (reversing

district court in civil immunity case). Such an approach recognizes that Executive authority has

limits —boundaries imposed by constitutional text, the separation of powers, andprecedent —and

that application of criminal law to the Presidents official conduct does not per se intrude
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impermissibly on Executive Branch authority and functions. Cf. Trump, 14'S. Ct. at 2327 (“If

the President claims authority to act but in fact exercises mere ‘individual will’ and “authority

without law,” the courts may say so.”) (quoting Youngstown, 343 U.S. at 655 (Jackson, J.,

concurring)

These principles for assessing whether the conduct alleged in the superseding indictment

is immune apply equally to evidence. The Goverment may not introduceevidenceofimmunized

official conduct against a former President at a trial, even to prove that the former President

‘committed a crime predicated on unofficial conduct. 1d. at 2340-41.

IL. None of the Allegations or Evidence Is Protected by Presidential Immunity

Atits core, the defendant's scheme was a private one; he extensively used private actors

andhis Campaign infrastructure to attempt to overturn the election results and operated inaprivate

capacity as a candidate for office. To the limited extent that the superseding indictment and

proffered evidence reflect official conduct, however, the Government can rebut the presumption

of immunity because relying on that conduct in this prosecution will not pose a dangerofintrusion

on the authority or functions of the Executive Branch. Below, the Government categorizes the

‘conduct outlined in Section I and provides “content, form, and context” for this Court to determine

that the defendant’s conduct was private or that, in the alternative, any presumptive immunity is

rebutted “under the circumstances.” Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2337. This analysis is necessarily fact-

intensive, and all of the Government's analysis below is based on the unique facts and

circumstances of this case.

“This section first addresses the defendant's interactions with Pence, because in Trump, the

Supreme Court held that when the defendant conversed with Pence about “their official

responsibilities,” the conduct was official. 144 S. Ct. at 2336. Accordingly, the Government

explains below why any presumptive immunity as to the defendant's official conduct regarding
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Pence is rebutted. Other than the specific official conduct related to Pence that the Supreme Court

held to be official, none of the defendants other actions were official. This section categorizes

that conduct and provides the “content, form, and context” that establishes its unofficial nature.

These categories are: a) the defendant’s interactions, as a candidate, with state officials; b) the

defendants efforts, as a candidate, to organize fraudulent electors; c) the defendant's public

speeches, Tweets, and other public statements as a candidate; d) the defendant's interactions, as a

candidate, with White House staff; and ¢) other evidenceofthe defendant's knowledge and intent.

Lastly, even if these categories of conduct and evidence were to be deemed official, the

Government can rebut the attendant presumptionof immunity as described below.

A. The Defendant's Interactions with Pence

The only conduct alleged in the original indictment that the Supreme Court held was

official, and subject to at least a rebuttable presumptionof immunity, was the defendant's attempts

to lie to and pressure Vice President Pence to misuse his role as President of the Senate at the

congressional certification. The Supreme Court sated that “[w]henever the President and Vice

President discuss their official responsibilities, they engage in official conduct,” and further

explained that because Pence’s role at the certification was “a constitutional and statutory duty of

the Vice President,” the defendant was “at least presumptively immune from prosecution for such

conduct.” 14'S. Ct. at 2336. Accordingly, unlike allof the other threshold determinations that

the Court will have to make about whether the defendant's conduct alleged in the superseding

indictment was official, with respect to the defendant’s conversations with Pence about Pence’s

official role at the certification proceeding, the Court can skip to the second step: whether the

Government can rebut the presumption of immunity that the Supreme Court held applies to such

conversations. Because the Executive Branch has no role in the certificationproceeding—and

indeed, the President was purposely excluded from it by design—prosecuting the defendantforhis
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commupt efforts regarding Pence poses no danger to the Executive Branch’s authority or

functioning.

As described below, the Government also intends to introduce at trial evidence regarding

‘conversations between the defendant and Pence in which they did not discuss Pence’s official

responsibilities as Presidentofthe Senate and instead acted in their private capacities as running

‘mates. And the Government intends to elicit at trial evidence about aPencestaffer’s conversations

withco-conspirator[JESSE] Those conversations were official and therefore not immune.

1. The defendant’s interactions with Pence as the President of the Senate were
official, but the rebuttable presumption of immunity is overcome

‘The superseding indictment and the Government's trial evidence include the defendant's

attempts to influence Pence’s “oversightof thecertification proceeding in his capacity as President

ofthe Senate.” Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2337. These conversations included one-on-one conversations

between the defendant and Pence (see, e.g.. supra pp. 49, 63-65, 72-74, describing conversations.

on December 5 and 25, 2020, and January 1, 3, 5, and 6, 2021%%%), as well as conversations in

which the defendant included private actors, such asco-conspirator[JESSE in bis attempts to

convince Pence to participate in the conspiracies (see, e.g.. supra pp. 66-67 and 71-72, describing

conversations on January 4 and 5, 2021)

The Supreme Court held that discussions between the defendant and Pence conceming

Pence’s roleatthe certification proceeding qualify as official conduct,andthereforeare subject to

4% The Govemment's factual proffer also describes a conversation between the defendant and
Penceon December 19—the same day that the defendant issued his “will be wild!” Tweet calling
supporters to Washington—in which the defendant told Pence that it would be good to have lots.
of their supporters in town on January 6. Seesupra pp. 60. At trial, the Government intends to
use this unofficial portion of the conversation, held between running mates, but not Pence’s

se which included a reference (0 the certification proceeding on January 6. GA 440-441
EEEGA 1020 (Pence,So Help Me Godp. 437). Seeinfra p. 145-146.
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a rebuttable presumption of immunity, because they involved “the President and the Vice President

discuss[ing] their official responsibilities.” 1d. at 2336. Those discussions qualify as official

because “[p]residing over the January 6 certification proceeding at which Members of Congress

‘count the electoral votes is a constitutional and statutory duty of the Vice President.” See id. at

2336; U.S. Const. Art. I, § 3, cl. 4. The discussions at issue did not pertain to Pence’s role as

President of the Senate writ large, however, but instead focused only on his discrete duties in

presiding over the certification proceeding—a process in which the Executive Branch, by design,

plays no direct role. Trump, 14'S. Ct. at 2337. A prosecution involving the defendant's efforts

to influence Pence in the dischargeofthis particular duty, housed in the Legislative Branch, would

not “pose any dangers of intrusion on the authority and functions of the Executive Branch.” /d.

The Executive Branch has no authority or function to choose the next President

Blassingame, 87 F.4th at 17. To the contrary, the Constitution provides that the States will appoint

electors to vote for the President and Vice President. U.S. Const. Art. 1,§ 1, cl. 2. And all States

have chosen to make such appointments based on the ballots cast by the people in their respective

states. See Chiafalo v. Washington, 591 U.S. 578, 581 (2020). “The Congress may determine the

‘Timeof chusing the Electors, and the Day on which they shall give their Votes,” U.S. Const. Art.

IL § 1,¢l. 4, but the Exceutive Branch has no direct role in that process. The next step in the

process established by the Constitution similarly provides no role for the Executive Branch: the

House and Senate meet in joint session, with the President of the Senate present to “open all the

certificates” of the state-appointed electors in the presence of the House and Senate, for them to

be counted. U.S. Const. Amend. XIL “The person having the greatest number of votes for

President, shall be the President, if such number be a majorityof the whole numberof Electors

appointed.” [d. Onlyif the state-appointed electors have failedtomake a choice, ie., no candidate
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states.  See Chiafalo v. Washington, 591 U.S. 578, 581 (2020).  “The Congress may determine the 

Time of chusing the Electors, and the Day on which they shall give their Votes,” U.S. Const. Art. 

II, § 1, cl. 4, but the Executive Branch has no direct role in that process.  The next step in the 

process established by the Constitution similarly provides no role for the Executive Branch: the 

House and Senate meet in joint session, with the President of the Senate present to “open all the 

certificates” of the state-appointed electors in the presence of the House and Senate, for them to 

be counted. U.S. Const. Amend. XII.  “The person having the greatest number of votes for 
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has such a majority, does the choice fall to the House of Representatives, who, voting by state

delegation, “choose immediately, by ballot,” from the three presidential candidates receiving the

most electoral votes. /d. There, too, the Executive Branch plays no role in the process.

The exclusionof the Executive Branch reflects fundamental constitutional principles. The

“executive Power” is “vested in a President” only for “the Termoffour Years.” US. Const. Art.

IL § 1, cl. 1, and it transfers to his successor, by operation of law, “at noon on the 20th day of

January,” U.S. Const. Amend. XX. Permitting the incumbent President to choose his own

successor—or, worse still, to perpetuate himself in power—would contradict the entire

constitutional system that the Framers created. “In free Govermments,” Benjamin Franklin

explained, “the rulers are the servants, and the people their superiors [and] sovereigns.” 2 The

Recordsofthe Federal Conventionof1787, at 120 (Max Farrand ed., 1911). A government could

not be considered a “genuine republic,” Madison argued, unless “the persons administering it,”

including the President, “be appointed, either directly or indirectly, by the people; and that they

hold their appointments” for a “definite period.” The Federalist No. 39 (J. Madison). Thus, while

the Framers recognized “the necessity of an energetic Executive,” they justified and checked his

power by ensuring that he always retained “a due dependence on the people.” The Federalist No.

70 (A. Hamilton): see Seila Law LLC v. CFPB, 591 U.S. 197,223-24 (2020). The Framers further

recognized that while regular elections would serve as “the primary control on the goverment,”

“experience has taught mankind the necessity of auxiliary precautions” as well. The Federalist

No. 51 (J. Madison).

Some of those precautions are reflected in the design of the Electoral College itself.

“[WJaryof ‘cabal, intrigue, and corruption,” the Framers “specifically excluded from service as

electors “all those who from situation might be suspectedof too great devotion to the president in
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office.” Trump, 14'S. Ct. at 2339 (quoting The Federalist No. 68 (A. Hamilton). They were

keenly aware, as Justice Story later explained, that “an ambitious candidate” could hold out “the

rewardsofoffice, or other sources of patronage,” in an effort “to influence a majority of votes;

and, thus, by his own bold and unprincipled conduct, to secure a choice, to the exclusion of the

highest, and purest, and most enlightened men in the country.” Joseph Story, 3 Commentaries on

the Constitutionofthe United States § 1450, at 314 (1833 ed.). To guard against that possibility,

Article II provides that “no Senator or Representative, or Person holding an Officeof Trust or

Profit under the United States, shall be appointed an Elector.” U.S. Const. Art. IL § 1, cl. 2. Asa

leading early American commentator observed, these limitations serve “to prevent the person in

office, at the time of the election, from having any improper influence on his re-clection, by his

ordinary agency in the government.” See 1 James Kent, Commentaries on American Law *276

(8thed. 1854).

The Constitution's structure further reflects the Framers’ considered choice to exclude the

incumbent President from playing a role in choosing the next President. The Constitution reflects

‘an abiding concern that governmental “power is of an encroaching nature, and that it ought to be

effectually restrained from passing the limits assigned toit,” not least to protect against “the danger

to liberty from the overgrown and all-grasping prerogative of an hereditary magistrate.” The

Federalist No. 48 (J. Madison); see Metro. Wash. Airports Auth. v. Citizens for Abatement of

Aircraft Noise, Inc., S01 US. 252, 273 (1991) (“The abuses by the monarch recounted in the

Declaration of Independence provide dramatic evidence of the threat to liberty posed by a too

powerful executive”). The Framers therefore designed a system of separated powers in part to

ensure that “[n]o man is allowed to bea judge in his own cause, because his interest would certainly

bias his judgment, and, not improbably, corrupt his integrity.” The Federalist No. 10 (J. Madison).
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The defendant's charged conduct directly contravenes these foundational principles. He

sought to encroach on powers specifically assigned by the Constitution to other branches, to

advance his own self-interest and perpetuate himself in power, contrary to the willof the people.

As such, applying a criminal prohibition to the defendant's conduct would not pose any danger of

intrusion on the authority and functions of the Executive Branch; rather, it would advance the

Constitution's structural design to prevent one Branch from usurping or impairing the performance

of the constitutional responsibilities of another Branch. See Clinton v. Jones, 520 U.S. 681, 699-

702 (1997).

History confirms that presidents have never understood their wide-ranging duties to

encompass any direct role in the function of collecting, counting, and certifying the resultsof a

presidential election. As President Lincoln explained in 1864, “[bly the Constitution and laws the

President is charged with no duty in the conduct ofa presidential election in any State,” and “[iJf

any election shall be held, and any votes shall be cast in the StateofTennessee for President and

Vice President of the United States, it will belong, not to the military agents, nor yet to the

Exceutive Department, but exclusively to another department of the Government, to determine

whether they are entitled to be counted, inconformitywith the Constitution and lawsofthe United

States.” 8 Collected Worksof Abraham Lincoln, 71-72 (1953). When Congress later sent to

Lincoln for his signature a “Joint resolution declaring certain States not entitled to representation

in the electoral college.” Lincoln signed the resolution “in deference to the view of Congress

implied in its passage and presentation to him,” but “disclaimed all right of the Executive to

interfere in any way in the matter of canvassing or counting electoral votes.” House Special

Committee, Counting Electoral Votes, HR. Misc. Doc. No. 44-13, at 229-230 (1877). The

Government is awareofno contraryevidence, includingof any President, other than the defendant,
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seeking to influence his Vice President in the dischargeofhis duties as President of the Senate in

presiding over the joint session. The absence of any such historical tradition is reinforced by the

fact that in 22 of the 59 certification proceedings the Vice President has not presided at all. See

Joel K. Goldstein, The Ministerial Roleofthe Presidentofthe Senate in Counting Electoral Votes:

A Post-January6Perspective,21 UNH. L. REV. 369, 402 & App’x 1 (2023).

‘When it comes to the certification proceeding specifically, not only has the President been

deliberately excluded from the process, but the Vice President's role, as President of the Senate,

is highly circumscribed and ministerial in nature. The Twelfth Amendment gives the President of

the Senate no substantive role in determining how to count the votes of the electors appointed by

the states. Rather, it provides only that he “shall in the presence of the Senate and House of

Representatives, open all the certificates,” and then shifts to the passive voice: “and the votes shall

then be counted.” Nothing in the Constitution remotely suggests that the single individual serving

as Presidentofthe Senate would have the momentous responsibility to decide which votes to count

and how they should be counted. Indeed, as Pencehimself explained on January 6, 2021, giving

the President of the Senate such a role “would be entirely antithetical to the [Constitution's]

design”? And, removing any possible doubt, “Congress has legislated extensively to define the

Vice President's role in the counting of the electoral votes,” Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2337 (citing 3

USC. § 15), and it has never provided any substantive role for the Vice President, instead

assigning the resolution of disputes to the two Houses of Congress. Moreover, Congress has

#7 GA 1685 (Pence Dear ColleagueLetter 01/06/2021).
“% Legislation confirming the ministerial nature of that role dates to the Electoral Count Act of
1887, Pub. L. 49-90, 24 Stat. 373 (1887). See3 U.S.C. §§ 15-18 (2020 ed.) (assigning all power
to resolve vote-counting disputes to the two Houses of Congress, while assigning to the President
of the Senate only the ministerial duties of “presiding,” “preserv[ing] order,” “openfing] . . . the
rifecalling] for objections,” and “announcling] the state ofthe vote” after receiving the
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1887, Pub. L. 49-90, 24 Stat. 373 (1887).  See 3 U.S.C. §§ 15-18 (2020 ed.) (assigning all power 
to resolve vote-counting disputes to the two Houses of Congress, while assigning to the President 
of the Senate only the ministerial duties of “presiding,” “preserv[ing] order,” “open[ing] . . . the 
certificates,” “call[ing] for objections,” and “announc[ing] the state of the vote” after receiving the 
results from the tellers). 
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now made explicit—echoing and reaffirming constitutional tradition and practice—that, with

limited exceptions of no relevance to this case, “the role of the President of the Senate while

presiding over the joint session shall be limited to performing solely ministerial duties,” 3 U.S.C.

§150)(1). He “shall have no power to solely determine, accept, reject, or otherwise adjudicate or

resolve disputes over thepropercertificateof ascertainmentof appointment ofelectors, the validity

ofelectors, or the votes of electors.” Id. § 15(b)(2).%” Because the Vice President's role is and

has always been ministerial, rather than substantive or discretionary, it is difficult to imagine an

occasion in which a President would have any valid reason to try to influence it. As such,

criminalizinga President's efforts to affect the Vice President's role as the Presidentof the Senate

overseeing the certification of Electoral College results would not jeopardizean Executive Branch

function or authority.

Critically, applyingacriminal prohibition to the discrete anddistinctive categoryofofficial

interactions between the President and Vice President alleged in this case would have no effect—

chilling or otherwise—on the President's other interactions with the Vice President that implicate

Exceutive Branch interests. The President would still be free to direct the Vice President in the

discharge ofhis Executive Branch functions, such as “presid[ing] over . .. cabinet meetings,”

engaging in “diplomacy and negotiation,” or performing any other presidential duties that the

President chooses to delegate. See Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2336 (intemal quotation marks omitted).

The President would likewise still be free to advise the Vice President on how to “advance the

“ Section 15ofTitle 3 was amended in the Electoral Count Reform Act of 2022, Pub. L. 117-
328, 136 Stat. 4459, 5237-40 (2022), in response to the defendants conduct here, to eliminate any
doubt that the President of the Senate’s role at the joint session is ministerial. And because the
rebuttal analysis is necessarily prospective in nature, the current versionof Section 15 supplies the
relevant measure, in this context, of “the Vice President’s role in the countingofelectoral votes,”
Trump, 14S. Ct. at 2337.
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President's agenda in Congress.” by casting tiebreaking votes on legislation or nominations. 1d.

at2337. None of these legitimate Executive Branch functions would be chilled or affected at all.

Lastly,the fact that thedefendant regularly includedotherprivate actors, such as his private

attorney and co-conspirator in some conversations to attempt to pressure Pence

(Superseding Indictment, ECE No. 226 $9 75-76; supra pp. 66-67, 71-72) strengthens the

conclusion that prosecuting the defendant for his actions using] to help recruit Pence into

the conspiracies does not infringe on any Executive Branch authority or function. As set forth in

Section I, private co-conspirators worked to schedule the January 4 meeting at which

attempted to pressure Pence. Although White House Counse!|| EEE ws invited to the

meeting, when he arrived to attend, the defendant explicitly excluded him from it—meaning that

the only attomey attending the meeting for the defendant was his privately-retained

counsel. In[JEEENI tettine. when[EER arrived at the Oval Office for the meeting, the

defendant “said words. indicating he dida’t want me at the meeting" It is hard to imagine

stronger evidence that conduct is private than when the President excludes his White House

Counsel and only wishes to have his private counsel present.

Next, the phone call on January § that the defendantand[JESSE] made to Pence.[EEN

andJE was the resultofthe private co-conspirators” failure to convince[J andJ to do

as[JESSEN vreed in the meeting on the moming of January $5that[EE]andJ took at the

defendant's request. The defendant's decision to include private actors in the conversations with

Pence about his role at the certification makes even more clear that there is no danger to the

Executive Branch’ functions and authority, because the[GSE] conversations had no bearing on

any Executive Branch prerogative. Instead. all ofthis conduct objectively benefitted the defendant

ox mon
.o7-
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in his private capacity as a candidate. The Court should therefore find the presumption of

immunitytoberebutted.Andbecause the presumption is rebutted, any participant in the meeting

or phone call—including Pence,JEEN and[NEIcan testify about it at rial

2. The defendant's interactions with Pence as a running mate were unofficial

At trial, as indicated supra pp. 12-14, the Government intends to introduce evidence of

private phone calls or in-person meetings (which occasionally included Campaign staff) that the

defendant had with Pence in their unofficial capacities, as running mates in the post-election

period. These conversations were not described in the original indictment nor analyzed by the

Supreme Court in its opinion, nor are they described in the superseding indictment. In these

conversations, the defendant and Pence discussed their electoral prospects, election-related

litigation, and the possibiltyof the defendant running again in 2024ifhis legal challenges failed

For example, Pence “tried to encourage” the defendant “as a friend.” when news networks

projected Biden as the winnerofthe election: on other occasions, softly suggested the defendant

“recognize [the] process is over” even if he was unwilling to concede; and encouraged the

defendant to consider running for election again in 2024. Although the defendant and Pence

naturally may have touched upon arguably official responsibilities that were tangential to their

election prospects—for instance, whether the federal government should begin its logistical

transition to prepare for a different Administration®'—the overall context and content of the

conversations demonstrate that they were primarily frank exchanges between two candidates on a

shared ticket, and the Government does not intend to elicit testimony about any peripheral

discussionofarguably official responsibilities. See Blassingane, 87 F.4th at 17 (‘{A] President

Ses on 10EE+5
See GA 1018 (Pence,So Help Me God p. 432).

-o8-
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acts in a private, unofficial capacity when engaged in re-election campaign activity.”): see also

UnitedStates v. Helstoski, 442 U.S. 477, 488 n. 7 (1979) (in the Speech or Debate context, when

‘an act contains both protected legislative components and non-protected components, the correct

‘course is to “excis[e] references to legislative acts, so that the remainderofthe evidence would be

admissible”). Together, these discussions show the defendant and Pence considering advice from

their shared Campaign advisors, weighing electoral strategies, and grappling with their loss. Both

men had something to gainby winning re-election, making more notable the persistence of Pence’s

suggestions on how to accept the resultsof the election without losing face.

Even if the Court determines that these conversations were official, however, the

‘Govemment can rebut the presumption ofimmunity because the useof this evidence poses no risk

to Executive Branch prerogatives. The contentofthe conversations atissue—the defendant and

Pence’sjoint electoral fate and how to accept the electionresults —haveno bearing on any finction

of the Executive Branch. See Blassingane, §7 F.4th at 4 (“The Office of the Presidency as an

institution is agnostic about who will occupy it next.”).

3. JE one-on-one interactionswithJG were unoftcial
Pence staffer [ER also participated in a January 5 meeting with and,

(Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 226 78a; supra pp. 69-70) and on January 6 engaged in a

lengthy email exchangewith[JESSE] (Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 2269 99; supra p. 85).

These interactions were outsideofthe defendant's presence, and the latter was a seriesofemails.

‘These conversations were not official, within the meaning of Zrump, since the defendant was not

involved and did not otherwisedirect[JE] actions, and becauseofthe other information above

describing[JESSE inherently private role.

99.
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B. The Defendant's Interactions, in his Capacity as a Candidate, with Officials in the
Targeted States

1. The interactions at issue were unofficial

At tial, the Government will introduce evidence that the defendant, in his capacity as a

candidate, contacted state elected officials to use false claims of election fraud 10 induce their

assistance with the charged conspiracies at the point in the electoral process in which the states

ascertain electors. These communications included callsto [JJ] the Govemor of Arizona; a

meetingwith Michigan legislators at the White House: acall to[JJl] the Speakerofthe Arizona

State House; a callto[J the Attomey General of Georgia; and a call to|ESE ve

‘Georgia SecretaryofState. The contacts, sometimes in person and sometimes by phone, were part

of a single course of conduct aimed at lying to and influencing these state officials to aler the

resultsofthe election in the defendant's favor. In each conversation, the defendant raised false

claimsofelection fraud when pressingthestate officials, often asking them to take steps toprevent

or overtum the ascertainmentof Biden's legitimate electors. And in each case, the sate officials

informedthedefendant that theyhadnotseen the fraud hewasclaiming had occurred in their sate.

Notably, allof these electedofficialswere the defendant's fellow Republicans; he madenoefforts

to contact the equivalent individuals holding the same offices in Nevada, New Mexico,

Pennsylvania, or Wisconsin, all of whom were Democrats. Most importantly, as with the

defendant's plan regarding the fraudulent elector slates, as President, he had no official role in the

process by which states appointed and ascertained their presidential electors. See 14'S. Ct. at

2353 (Barts, J., concurring) (“The President has no authority over state legislatures or their

leadership, so it is hard to see how prosecuting him for crimes committed when dealing with the

Arizona House Speaker would unconstitutionally intrude on executive power.”). The content,
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form, and contextofthe defendant’s interactions with these state officials fimly establish that his

‘conduct was unofficial.

a. CallstoEEN(supra pp. 17-18)

‘The defendant called then the Governor of Arizona, on or about November 9.5

“Thedefendant’s call to[J] was unofficial and undertakenas a candidate. Throughout the call

the defendant was engaged in partisan electioncering. His comments focused on the vote count in

Arizona in his particular race, and on the margins and allegations of aud that could potentially

benefit him personally as a candidate. in tum, responded by giving the defendant his

assessment of the defendants electoral prospects in Arizona—prospects that were dim. ** The

defendant did not ask about the vote counts for, o claim fraud existed in, any race other than his

own. And he raised fraud claims in his context—about whether he could sill win Arizona—not

in the larger contextof election integrity. The defendant claimed that he would deliver evidence

ofelection fraudto[JEN then did not*** The call was a surpriseto[Jil] and unusually short

and to the point for the defendant, who usually liked to chat.*** In contrast, according to[HE

this call contained little conversation or pleasantries and was solely focused on the vote count in

the Presidential ace and the defendant’ fraud claims

“This call must also be considered in the context of the conspirators’ additional pressure

campaign on, On other occasions, JESS tried toreach[EH butJEN declined to

2 GA 656-658 : Ga 727 .
59 SooGA 636-638 See also GA 667

1d.
81d.
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accept the calls.*” And on November 30, the day signed the certificate of ascertainment

declaring Biden’ electors the legitimate ones for Arizona, the defendant Goined by Pence) again

catedJER asain raised fiaud claims, and again fied to substantiate them. When[HN
failed to do as the defendant demanded, after the call, the defendantattacked[JI publicly

through Twitter

Eachof these communicationswithJIE] was unofficial. The defendant engaged in them

all in bis capacity a a candidate in an attempt to elicit [JIE support in re-installing him as

president

b. Meeting with Michigan legislators (Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 226
36; supra pp. 31-34)

‘The defendant’s November 20 Oval Office meeting with Michigan state legislators was

private in nature. During the meeting, the defendant raised claims of election fraud in the state

related specifically and only to his own election, and the legislators explained that the defendant

had lost not because of fraud but because he had underperformed with educated female voters. *'®

‘Although the meeting took place in the OvalOffice—as did many wnofficial Campaign meetings

in which the defendant participated in the post-electionperiod®"'—a close examination of all of

the other circumstances surrounding the meeting makes clear that it was a Campaign meeting.

GA 661 )
5% GA 658-659, 667-668 )
5% GA 831-834 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 113012020); GA 835-836, GA 1892 (Donald J. Trump
Tweet 113012020).
519 GA 563-564 }
$1 See og GAT23, 725 GA 728-730

: GA 752 GA 7377
:GA_739-740 i GA 746

)
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The defendant originally initiated the meeting through RNC Chairwoman

a private and partisan actor, and then followed up himself with[IEEE and |HEEEHE-—both

fellow Republicans and strong political supporters of the defendant*'2 Cf. Trump, 144 S. Ct.

at 2340 (suggesting the President acts in an unofficial capacity when acting as “party leader”).

Although the defendant did not specify the topic of the meeting in advance, both ad

assumed—correctly—that the defendant wanted to see them to discuss claims of

election fraud related to his own race Notably. the defendant did not include in the meeting

invitation other Michigan officials who held positions more relevant to the election and

certification—the Governor and SecretaryofState—but who were not Republicans. 14

At the time, public interest and alarm were piqued by news that the defendant was meeting

with legislators fiom a state where there were pending election disputes and where the Governor

had not yet signed a certificate of ascertainment, and the White House declined to state the topic

ofthe meeting *** During a press conference on the momingof November 20, White House Press

Secretary[ESSN vos asked about the meeting and claimed, “This is not an advocacy

meeting. There will be no one from the Campaign there. He routinely meets with lawmakers from

all across the country.”'6

claim was false. Over the courseofthe meeting, the defendant dialed in both

IEEE spite ber request not to participate—and [JESSI*"" The defendant's Chief of

$12 GA 69-71—555-557(EE
51 GA 556-559 ).
54 GA 559-561 : Ga 71-74(EE
$15 GA 1712 (Email from the White House Press Office 11/20/2020).
*1° Jd. (Email from the White House Press Office 11/20/2020).
an —a52(EE G 55
s61 ).
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Staff, was present for at least part of the meeting. ”'* But besides who

separate fiom his Chief of Staff duties assisted the defendant with Campaign-related logistics,”

10 other Executive Branch staff joined the meeting: in fat, according fo te and
White House Counsel| EEE wanted no part of it As|EENandINSEE bad expected.

the defendant was focused on his own vote count in Michigan and on claims of fraud that related

only to him.*? a private Campaign attorney, then dominated the rest of the meeting with

a monologue of false fraud claims *

“The only reason that there were topicsofconversation other than the defendant's claims of

election fraud in his race was because the legislators, on their own initiative, brought them up,

including presenting the defendant with a letter on COVID that they had prepared specifically to

have something to talk about other than the defendant’s unsupported election fraud claims —an

official portion of the meeting about which the Government does not intend to elicit testimony at

trial. The legislators then took photos with the defendant, and the meeting ended; afterward,

{ook the group on a tourof the White House.
As planned, after the meeting,[JTEH] and[NEEKIN released their statement that publicly

disclaimed evidence ofoutcome-deteminativefraud in the election in Michigan *2* The statement

also specifiedthat[JEE andJEEEHI bad raised with the defendant issues related to Michigan's

GA 560 6a 361-362(EE
59 GA 348358 ).
6 50 ): GA 345-351(IG 655

=caress
2 GA 567-569 .

GATS, 80-81 : GA 559, 561-562 .

25 GA 75,9495 ): GA 1040 (Joint Statement 11/20/2020).
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need for federal funds to fight COVID. 26 When the defendant responded to the legislators’ public

statement in a Tweet, the private nature of that message, sent as a candidate seeking to overtum

the results of his ownelection—We will show massive and unprecedented fraud!” —further

demonstrates the private nature of the meeting it concemed.*” In addition, it was one of six

retweets and replies the defendant sent over an approximately thirteen-minute period, all of which

were focused on allegations of election fraud in his own race. Notably, the defendant did not

conduct similar meetings in this period with legislators in states where he had won or even where

he had lostbylarge margins, nordid he seeka meeting with the Michigan officials—the Governor

and Secretary of State—who could have provided him with information about the integrityof the

election

As further context establishing the private natureofthis meeting. it was the opening volley

of a larger pressure campaign on the same Michigan legislators by the defendant, his co-

‘conspirators, and his Campaign. For example, days after this meeting,[GSH] sent text messages

intended to urge[EE and JIEEEH to belp overtum the results in Michigan In the same

time period, the Campaign publicized contact informationfor[JE and[NEEEHN (although the

umber published for was wrong) and encournged the defendant's supporters o flood
their phone lines with complains **

52 Jd, (Joint Statement 11/20/2020).
7 GA 799-800 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/21/2020).
2% GA 801-802 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/22/2020); GA 803-804 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
11/22/2020); GA 805-806 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/22/2020); GA 807-808 (Donald J. Trump
‘Tweet 11/22/2020); GA 809-810 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/22/2020); GA 811-812 (Donald J.
Trump Tweet 11/22/2020).
2 GA 559-561 : Ga 71-74 ).
26a TS : Ga 77

1 GA 913-914 (Team Tramp Tweet 01/03/2021).
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e. CantvitnJERI (SupersedingIndictment, ECF No. 2264 19; supra
p-19)

‘The defendant's call to[JJil] on November 22, 2020, also was unofficial. *> Along with

his private attomey, the defendant made the call in his capacity as a candidate and pressured

on electoral maters over which neither thedefendant—nor even[EREERad an offical
ole.

“The contextofthe call makes its unofficial nature clear. The defendant placed the call to

alongwith[JESS his lead Campaign attorney, and no White House officials participated

in the call In fact, did most of the talking The defendant and were

singularly focused on fraud claims that affected only the defendant, and did not raise any other

races in Arizona. ** And the content ofthe cll confirmed it was unofficial: the defendant and his

private attomeyasked[JERR the defendant's political ally, to take steps to replace Arizona's

legitimate electors with illegitimate ones for the defendant—a step that necessarily only affected

the defendant's race, out ofall the races on the same ballot.

“The call must also be viewed in the larger context of the pressure campaign the defendant

and his co-conspirators puton[JE and other Arizona officials. Immediately after speaking to

the defendant and[EGS spoke to Arizona State Senate President [EIEN A
week later, during the “hotel hearing.”[SSH] and[GB] failed to bring the promised evidence and

instead admitted “w]e don’t have the evidence, but we have lotsoftheories **** See supra p. 19.

SGA 621.2 (EE
MGA )
GA2231 )
a
GA 22:25.32:34 .
GA 733) .

PGA 36. .
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When [JIEH publicly announced that he would not take extralegal action on the defendant's

behalf, and the defendant attacked on Twitter. Then, days before January 6,

made another attempt o convince to act in contravention of the law and his
principles * And just as was done with the Michigan legislators, the defendant’s Campaign and

publicized contact information forJG andBG in an attempt to pressure them to
undertake the same actions the defendant and co-conspirators had asked them privately to

‘perform. like others who publicly opposed the defendant’s efforts, was harassed and

threatened **

a. cal toEEN supra pp. 23-24)

The defendant's call on December § to [J the Georgia Attomey General, also was

private. He undertook it to speakwith[i about 7exas v. Pennsylvania, a lawsuit filed by the

Texas Attomey General against Pennsylvania, Georgia, Michigan, and Wisconsin seeking to

prevent those states from certifying their election results in favor of Biden based on a claim that

the manner in which those states had administered their elections had violated the Constitution. **

The defendant’s interest in Texas v. Pennsylvania was personal and privat; the lawsuit

dealt only with the election for the offices of President and Vice President, not the myriad ofher

races on the same ballots. Indeed, the day after his call with[J] the defendant—in bis personal

‘capacity and with the assistanceof co-conspirator [JESSE] as his private attomey—intervened in

559GA554-555(DonaldJ.Tramp Toveet 12/06/2020); GA 852-853 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
12/06/2020).
6257-1
541 GA 915 (Team Trump FacebookPost 01/02/2021): GA 916 (Team Trump Tweet 01/02/2021):
GA 1982 at 22:00 ): see also GA Tins

GA 61-64 ): Mot. for Leave to File Bill of Complaint, Tevas v
Pennsylvania, No. 2-0-1553 (5. Ct. Dee. 7, 2020).
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the suit®* and in so doing “affirmatively communicated to the Supreme Court (and the public) that

he was acting and speaking in that matter in his ‘personal capacity” as a candidate for reelection.”

Blassingame, 87 F.4th at 16,

The defendant initiated the callwith[3 after a political intermediary laid the groundwork

for it, and immediately raised the lawsuit, which was the principal topic of conversation on the

call ** Basedon['sestimate and the Presidential Daily Diary, the call lasted about ten minutes

and the defendant placed it at night from his private residence in the White House. In fact,

shortly before speakingwith[gd the defendant had spokenwith[SEH the Texas Attorney

General who had filed the lawsuit,**” and immediately after speaking with [3, the defendant

called ENN, the Missouri Attomey General who authored an amicus brief supporting the

lawsuit that sixteen other state attorneys general joined.

‘The speedofthe filingof the defendant’s interventionbrief the following day echoed what

he told: he was “running outoftime,”*” presumably because landmark dates in the electoral

process, like December 14 and January 6, were fast approaching. Lastly, the defendantand[J

also spoke about the importance of their fellow Republican party members, Senators[Zl]and

EER. winning their pending election—further making clear this call was unofficial5

$4 Mot. to Intervene, Texas v. Pennsylvania, No. 22-0-155 (S. Ct. Dec. 9, 2020).
GA 64(I

“GA 67(C72
7GA 742( : . for Leave to File Billof Complaint, Texas
v. Pennsylvania, No. 22-0-155 (S. Ct. Dec. 7, 2020).

“5 GA 742(I); '3rict of Missouri et al. as Amici Curiae
Supporting Plaintiff, Zexasv. Pennsylvania,No. 22-0-155 (S. Ct. Dec. 9, 2020).

GA 66(EE
6A 67(EE
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«cot oREI(snnice. ECF Xo. 2235
supra pp-

The defendant’s January 2 call to[JESE wes unofficial and is not subject to

immunity; its content, form, and context make clear that the defendant undertook it as a candidate

‘and plaintiff in a private lawsuit inwhich| EEN wes a defendant

has said that the purpose of the call was to discuss the lawsuit,**! and he acted

accordingly during it. At the outsetof the callJJ EHIl] made introductionsofall the participants

on the defendant'sbehal [JERR and[JER —allofwhom were affiliated with

the Campaign's litigation efforts, which the defendant brought in his capacity as a candidate for

Presidentofthe UnitedStates5%

‘Throughout the cal, the defendant and his advisors approached the conversation through

his role as a candidate and with a focus on his private lawsuit. For instance, in an apparent

reference to individuals retained for his private lawsuit, the defendant claimed, “We're going to

have an accurate mumber over the next two days with certified accountants. But an accurate

number will be given, but it’s, it’s in the fiftesof thousands, and that’s people that went to vote

and they were told they can’t vote because theyve already been voted for." Some of his false

claimsoffraud paralleled claims made in Campaign lawsuits, such as that ofa substantial mumber

ofdead and non-resident voters—for example, in Trump v. Raffensperger.astate court case whose

complaint was appended to the federal suit Trump v. Kemp. the defendant's complaint asserted

that 4,926 out-of-state voters had cast ballots, while on the call the defendant cited the number

>t 6a 367-368(I
52 GA 1154 (Tr. ofCall 01/02/2021).
553 Complaint at 1, Trump v. Kemp, No. 1:20-¢v-5310 (N.D. Ga. Dee. 31,2020), ECF No. 1
554 GA 1154 (Tr. of Call 01/02/2021).
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4,925 And he deferred to his private attorneys at multiple points throughout the conversation.

For instance,afterJENGEENN told the defendant, “the challenge that you have is the data you

have is wrong,” the defendant tured toJEEEIN and asked, “Well, JE, how do you respond to

that? At one point, interjected and invoked the Campaign’ litigation, asking

whether “we can find some kind of agreement ... to find a path forward that’s less litigious.”**"

And near the end of the call, JIEEN, the defendant's lead counsel in the lawsuit against

requested “10 sit down with your office, and we can do it through purposes of

compromise just like this phone call” to review data." GEER counsel, [NEEEEN.

responded that [JEGERH cited numbers were inaccurate, but agreed to meet with him.”

“The defendant's calltoJERR was purely a private one, which he undertook as a

candidate and the plaintiff in a lawsuit. Indeed, a federal district court has concluded that the

call was a Campaign call rather than official business; when sought

removal to federal court of his criminal case in Fulton County, Georgia, a court in the Northern

District of Georgia issued an order declining to assume jurisdictionbecause [JIGZII] had failed

to meet his burden of showing that his role in the call was official rather than unofficial. See

Georgia v. Meadows, 692 F. Supp. 3d 1310, 1332 (N.D. Ga. 2023), aff'd 88 F. 4th 1331, 1349

(11th Cir. 2023) (petition for cert. filed) (‘lls participation in the call reflected a clear

attempt to further Trump's private litigation interests .. . ”) (emphasis in original); see also

Arizona v. Meadows, No. CV-24-02063-PHX-JIT, 2024 WL 4198384, at *7 (D. Ariz. Sept. 16,

$55 Complaint at 19, Trump v. Raffensperger, No. 2020CV343255 (Ga. Super. Ct. Dec. 4, 2020)
available at: Trumpv. Kemp, No. 1:20-¢v-5310 (N.D. Ga. Dec. 31,2020), ECF No. I-1 at 12-79.
556 GA 1159 (Tr.ofCall 010272021).
557 GA 1157 (Tr.ofCall 01/02/2021).
55% GA 1170(Tr. ofCall 01/02/2021).
59 GA 1170-1171 (Tr. of Call 01/02/2021)
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2024) (similarly denying[J llll notice of removal to federal court of a criminal case in

Arizona related to the defendant's fraudulent elector plan on the basis that[JJlll conduct in

furtheranceofthe plan charged by the State “is unrelatedto| IEllofFicia! duties”).

2. Even if the defendant's contacts with state officials were official, the
Government can rebut the presumptionof immunity

Although the Supreme Court did not resolve the issue in Trump, it described the basis for

concluding that using the defendant's conductof lying to and pressuring state officials to change

the legitimate vote in a criminal prosecution would not intrude on Exceutive Branch functions or

authority:

Indeed, the Constitution commits to the States the power to “appoint” Presidential
electors “in such Manner as the Legislature thereof may direct.” Art. II, § 1,¢l. 2;
see Burroughs v. United States, 290 US. 534, 544 (1934). “Article IL, § I's
appointments power,” we have said, “gives the States far-reaching authority over
presidential electors, absent some other constitutional constraint.” Chiafalo .
Washingion, 591° US. 578, 588-589 (2020). By contrast, the Federal
Government's role in appointing electors is limited. Congress may prescribe when
the state-appointed electors shall meet, and it counts and certifies their votes. Ar.
IL § 1, cls. 3, 4. The President, meanwhile, plays no direct role in the process, nor
does he have authority to control the state officials who do. And the Framers, wary.
of “cabal, intrigue and corruption,” specifically excluded from service as electors.

“all those who from situation might be suspected of too great devotion to the
president in office.” The Federalist No. 68, at 459 (A. Hamilton): see Art. IL § 1.
cl.2.

14'S. Ct a1 2339. Under the Constitution, the Executive Branch has no constitutionally assigned

role in the state-clectoral process. To the contrary, the constitutional framework excludes the

President from that process to protect against electoral abuses. See supra p. 93. Accordingly,

applying federal criminal law to the defendant's use of fraud to interfere with electoral processes

carried out by the states does not intrude on Executive Branch authority or functions. Rather, it

ensures that the President's conduct remains consistent with the Constitution's allocation of that

authority to the States, while in no way impairing his ability to “encourage [state officials] to act
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in a mannerthatpromotesthe President'sviewofthepublic good” 14'S. Ct. at 2338. The

President remains free, for instance, to urge state officials to institute measures to combat a

pandemic or make amangements to provide emergency relief. This case does not remotely

implicate such official conduct. What neither the President nor any other candidate may do is

furtherbis private campaign for office by using fraudulent means to have state officals certify him

as winner ofa presidential election despite the will ofthe voters. Accordingly, applying criminal

‘penalties to that conduct will not intrude on any Executive Branch authority or function.

C. The defendantsefforts,as a candidate, to organize fraudulent electors

1. The conduct at issue was unofficial

The defendant's condut with respect to the elector scheme i inherently private, and not

subject to immunity. See 144'S. Ct. at 2353 .2 (Barrett, J., concurring in part) (“Sorting private

from official conduct sometimes will be difficult—but not always. Take the President’s alleged

attempt 10 organize altemative slates ofelectors. In my view, that conduct is private and therefore

not entitled to protection”). The President of the United States has no official responsibilities

relatedo the organizationor voting ofelectors in the various states—by virtue of the Constitution,

that process takes place in the states according o the laws and procedures setforthby each state.

See US Const,Art. IL, § 1,cl. 2. At oralargument beforethe Supreme Cour,the defendant

initially conceded that the plan to submit fraudulent electors directed by the defendantand[SSH

was not official. Tr. of Oral Argument at 29-30; Trump, 14'S. C1. at 2338. The Goverment

nonetheless sets orth here the context, form, and contentofthe defendant's private contacts with

RNCChairwoman[JEEI] in furtherance of the fraudulentelectorplan because the defendant

conversely suggestedin the same oral argument tha he will argue that thoseeffortswereofficial

See 1445. Ct. at 2338.
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The defendant had two relevant contacts with first, be and co-conspirator

cattedJERE on December 6 to ask her to ensure that the effort was properly
coordinated (Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 226 453; supra p. 50), and second, on the evening

of December 14, emailed the defendant through his executive assistant,| EREHN to

inform him that the fraudulent electors had cast votes as he had directed (Superseding Indictment,

ECF No. 226 66: suprap. 57).

“he defendantandJESSEN1 toJHGEEHN on Decenmber6was private. The defendant
placed the call along with a private attomey and co-conspirator, to the

Chairwomanof a political organization whose objective was to elect a broad set of Republicans at

the federal and state level, including the defendant and other allied candidates. was.

acting in his capacity as a private attomey for the defendant; on the same day,[SSE] emailed

with several other private attomeys and wrote, “This is huge—and hugely important. Lets make

sure the various state electors are aware of the absolute necessity of meeting on the 14°, casting

their votes, and otherwise complying with the transmittal requirements offederal law! Finally,

the contentofthe call was likewise unofficial. The defendant and asked[EEN ©

work with the Campaign, o ensure that the fraudulent electors were properly organized, which she

agreed to do—and did, as is clear from her further contacts with[SSI] and[IESSER resarding

the plan.

JERR v1 to the defendant on December 14 was likewiseaprivate communication:
simply forwarded the defendantanRNC communication summarizing the electoral vote

GA 1716-1717 .
5 GA 323.325 ): GA 1286-1287

|GA 1326-1327
GA 1288-1200 ).
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to inform him that the private task the defendant had given her was complete, and

confirmed that she had relayed the message by writing, “Its in front of him!" As discussed

infra pp. 145-147, when a White House staffer facilitates unofficial conduct by relaying private,

political communications, the private action is not converted to an official one simply because an

Executive Branch aide helps cay it out.

2. Even if the conduct were deemed official, the Government could rebut the
presumption ofimmunity

In any event, even if the defendant's efforts to convene fraudulent electors could be

considered official, the presumption would be rebutted because “a President has no legal

authority —and thus no officialcapacity —to influence how the States appoint their electors,” and

accordingly, there is “no plausible argument for barring prosecution of that alleged conduct.”

Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2353 n.2 (Barrett, J., concurring in part). “[While Congress has a limited

role [in the appointment of Presidential electors), the President has none.” Id. Accordingly,

applying the criminal law to the defendant's “alleged attempt to organize altermative slates of

electors,” while properlyviewedasprosecution for private conduct, seeid., implicates no authority

or functions of the Executive Branch—and therefore including such conduct in the defendant's

‘prosecution poses no danger of intrudingon Executive Branch authority or functions. No federal

executive function is impaired by applying criminal law to the alleged conduct of privately

organizing fraudulent latesofelectors.

s ga 32-329(I:c+ 1453-143(HE
J
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D. The Defendant's Public Speeches, Tweets, and Other Public Statements as a
Candidate

1. The statements at issue were unofficial

Merely because the President is speaking to the public—even on “matters of public

concern” does not automatically render the communication official. Blassingane, 87 F.4th at

19-20. Instead, what matters is “whether the President is speaking (or engaging in conduct) in an

official capacity as office-holder or instead in an unofficial capacity as officer-seeker,” id. at 19,

as determined by “content, form, and context,” Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2340. Starting before the

election and lasting until January 6, the defendant at various times communicated publicly not as

President but as a candidate for office. These communications included public Campaign

speeches, Tweets, and other public statements and comments. The defendant’s communications

that the Goverment has alleged in the superseding indictment and described in Section I were all

made in his capacity as a candidate and are not official.

a. Speeches

The defendant made a number of speeches as a candidate, rather than as an office-holder.

See 14455. Ct. at 2339-40 (“There may .... be contexts in which the President, notwithstanding the

prominence of his position, speaks in an unofficialcapacity —perhaps as a candidate for office or

party leader.”). The superseding indictment cites, and the Government plans to use at tial, two:

the defendant’s Campaign speech ata political rally in Dalton, Georgia, on January 4, 2021, and

his Campaign speech ata political rally on the Ellipse on January 6, 2021.
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i. Dalton, Georgia, on January 4, 2021 (supra p. 68)

In his capacity as a candidate, the defendant traveled to Dalton, Georgia, on January 4 at

the invitation of two Republican U.S. Senators who were competing in a run-off election the

following day to retain their seats. The RNC paid for the event *

‘The White House's records, including the rip binder that White House staff prepared for

the event and that includes a schedule and manifests, further confirm the private nature of the

Dalton speech ** The defendant was the only Executive Branch participant in theevent —other

attendees were federal and state elected officials, the Chairman of the Georgia Republican Party,

and the founder of Bikers for Trump.** The trip binder included a Hatch Act disclaimer stating

that “employees of the Federal Government may not use their official itle or position when

participating in a political event.” Its description of the “event” to which the defendant was

traveling was “Remarks at Victory Rally.” Similarly, the Presidential Daily Diary from that day

describes that “[t]he President made remarks at the Georgia Senate Victory Rally. This

nomenclature —the use of the phrase “Victory Rally" is significant. “Victory” necessitates one

political candidate or party defeating another, and allies are the kinds of events that candidates

hold to excite their supporters and gamer votes.

554 GA 17181724 ): GA 1725-1729
GA 1750-1752 GA 1733-1736

] ). GA 1744
{ LGA 1745-1746

{ )
GA1751-1755 | .
GA 1752 .
1d,
1d,
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Moreover, thedefendant's Campaign sent numerous fundraising emailsbefore, during, and

after the speech, confirming the event's private nature. Ina January 4 email around 3:00 p.m., the

Campaign sent a fundraising email with the subject line “EPIC Rally in 6 HOURS,” that began,

“President Trump is heading to GEORGIA for a RALLY with Senators[ZENandEEE

J. This ally is goingtobe EPIC and will show the Nation that REAL Americans, like YOU,

are fired up and ready to FIGHT to keep our Republican Senate Majority. The Senate Runoff

Election is TOMORROW,and it's going to take the support of Patriots from all around the Nation

ifwe're going to WIN BIG and SAVE America from the Radical Left." Later, at 9:21 p.m., the

Campaign sent a fundraising email (in the nameofthe defendant's son) that began, “My father is

on stage RIGHT NOW in Georgia rallying with Senators[ZN=nIEA 0

DEFEND our Senate Republican Majority. Are YOU watching?" The email reminded voters

that “The Senate Runoff Election is TOMORROW and YOU are the only one who can stop [the

Left”) from taking over.” Another email at 10:41 p.m. (sentinthe nameof the defendant) began,

“I just stepped off stage after speaking at an EPIC Victory Rally in Georgia with Senators[EEE]

JodIEPEA. The energyofthe American People was UNMATCHED and| know

we're going to WIN BIG tomorrow.”

M0 See, e.g. GA 1759-1762 (Campaign Fundraising email 01/04/2021); GA 1763-1765
(Campaign Fundraising email 01/042021); GA 1766-1767(EE
I): GA 1768-1771 (Campaign Fundraising email 01/04/2021).
ST See, e.g, GA 1772-1775 (Campaign Fundraising email 01/04/2021): GA 1776-1778
(Campaign Fundraising email 01/042021); GA 1779-1780 (EEE
J): GA 1781-1784 (Campaign Fundraising email 01/04/2021)

gq
ST See, e.g. GA 1785-1788 (Campaign Fundraising email 01/04/2021) GA 1789-1791
(Campaign Fundraising email 01/042021); GA 1792-1793(,
J): GA 1794-1797 (Campaign Fundraising email 01/04/2021)

-u7-
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Finally, the content of the Dalton speech confirms its unofficial nature. The defendant

beganby telling the crowd, “Tomorrow, eachofyou is going to vote in oneofthe most important

runoffelections in the historyofour country. ... You're going to get everyone you know. You're

going to show up to the polls in record numbers. You got to swamp them, and together, we're

going to defen the Democrat extremists and deliver a thundering victory to[RN
And someone that has really been a star in Washington, |ERENT" He also used the

speech to pressure Pence.*’* Muchofthe speech then veered into the defendants principal claims

of fraud and irregularities in the presidential election, but he occasionally refumed to the theme of

the following day's election. including discussionofthe Democratic candidates.

ii. The Ellipse on January 6, 2021 (Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 226
86; supra pp. 75-78)

“The “content and context”ofthe Ellipse rally, including the people involved in “organizing

the rally,” Trump, 14'S. Ct. at 2340, demonstrate that it too consistedofnon-official conduct

The Ellipse rally—named the Save America Rally or the March for Tramp—was planned and

executed by private political supporters, including Women For America First (WFAF), a S01(c)(4)

organization that advocated for the defendant’ reelection in advance of election day in 2020 and

throughout the post-election time period.” Cf. Trump, 14'S. Ct. at 2340 (“Knowing... who

was involved in... . organizing the rally[] could be relevant to the classification” of the Ellipse

speech as official or unofficial ). The Ellipse rally was originally planned to take place at Freedom

Plaza, but after WFAF began to plan the rally independent of the defendant, a

57 GA 1089 (Dalton Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/04/2021).
575 GA 1090 (Dalton Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/04/2021).
76 GA 1091 (Dalton Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/04/2021).

653 GA 1801-1802
.
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private fundraiser for the defendant, contacted WEAF to discuss moving the event to the Ellipse

and featuring the defendant as a guest The organizers and planners of the event were almost

exclusively private individuals, with minimal involvement by White House advance staff. The

United States Secret Service, which is charged with the President's protection at all times, even

during unofficial events, considered the rally to be “a campaign event” The rally was

completely funded by a $2.1 million private donationby|EEE » erocery chain heiress

“This private funding, while not dispositive, is a strong indicator that the event was unofficial

he relly oxganizer who bad the most deck eoatoct with the defendant, wes an
employee ofthe defendant's Campaign until December 31, 2020, and aftr that, aprivate citizen.

And in public statements since leaving office, the defendant has said repeatedly that he “had

nothing to do with the rally “other than they asked me to make a speech. I showed up for a

speech 7%

For weeks leading up (0 the event, the defendant promoted it on Twitter using the word

“rally”—a word that the defendant, on bis Twitter account, reserved almost exclusively for

political and Campaign events. As with the trip binder for the Dalton remarks, the defendant’ trip

binder for the Ellipse speech also reinforces the private nature of the event. Although it does not

GA 301-302 : GA 1804 -
7 GA 399-403 | then the Special Agent in Charge
of the Washington Field Office of the Secret Service, elaborated that the defendant's protective
detail “wasn't getting infomation [about the rally] rom their counterpartsa the White House staff
because this was not a staff-driven event. This was a campaign driven event” GA 399.
3 GA 615-652 LGA 1142
_— 1505-1818 ): GA 1895 :

GATSIo-1822
9 GA 483-484 .
5Riley Hoffman, Read: Harris- Trumppresidentialdebatetranscript(Sept. 10,2024, 11:58 PM),
available at hitps:/abenews.zo.comPolities harri-trump-presidential-debate-transcript/
story?id=113560542; see also GA 1692 (Transcript of CNN Town Hall 05/10/2023)

-19-
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include the same Hatch Act disclaimer—perhaps because the event, in contrast to the Dalton rally,

was not for the benefit of another political candidate—it describes the event as the defendant's

“Remarks at the Save America Rally™—using a word, “rally.” that reflected an unofficial,

Campaign-related event 53

‘The defendant's White House employees understood the rally and the defendant's speech

at it to be a private, unofficial exercise and acted accordingly. Consistent with the Hatch Act's

requirement that officials within the Executive Branch (other than the President or Vice President)

must refrain from using their official authority for partisan political purposes, see 5 U.S.C.

§ 7323(a)(1). on the moming of the rally, an email from White House photographer

I vic JRE os copied. provided “[a] reminder today isa political event.”

Likewise, the defendant’s White House speechwriting staff understood that the speech was a

political, unofficial one and used their personal devices and personal email accounts to do most of

the drafting and fact-checking for the defendant's Ellipse speech, though some last revisions to the

speech on the moming of January 6 occurred over White House email*% And officials in the

White House Counsel's Office who customarily reviewed the defendants official remarks

pointedly did not review the Ellipse speech because it was an unofficial Campaign speech.

Similarly. the White House website in the moments afer the defendant's speech at the rally made

no mention of it—instead, the official webpage touted official accomplishments like COVID

GA 1833 ): GA 539 .
5 See GA 636 :GA 191-192 1
GA 18341843 ): GA 1651
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vaccines and peace in the Middle East.**" By contrast, the speech was advertised heavily by the

defendant's Campaign Twitter account, which also repeatedly posted clipsofthe eventinprogress

and afterward5%

‘The day-oflogisticsofthe Save America Rally further indicate its private nature. No other

Executive Branch officials spoke. Instead, other speakers included WFAF officials, the

defendant's political allies, two U.S. Representatives, and the defendant’s co-conspirators and

privateatomeys,[ESS onJESS
Moreover, the defendant'sappearancewasconsistentwithaCampaign rally,notan official

event. The crowd at the rally consisted ofthe defendant's political supporters, who held signs and

wore clothing bearing the defendants Campaign slogans ** And the manner in which the

defendant took the stage at the rally was also consistent with his Campaign rallies: instead of

enteringas a military band played Hail to the Chief, as he might at an official presidential event,

the defendant entered and exited the Ellipse speech to the songs he had used throughout his

Campaign (Lee Greenwood's “God Bless the U.S.A.” and the Village People’s “Y M.C.A"*).

57 See The White House Home Page (screenshot), WHITEHOUSE.GOV (Jan. 6, 2021)
hitps://web.archive.org/web/20210106154456 hitps:www.whitehouse.gov.
5% GA 954 (Team Trump Facebook Post 01/06/2021): GA 955 (Team Trump Facebook Post
01/06/2021); GA 956 (Team Trump Facebook Post 01/06/2021); GA 957 (Team Trump Tweet
01/06/2021); GA 958 (Team Trump Tweet 01/06/2021); GA 959 (Team Trump Tweet
01/06/2021); GA 960 (Team Trump Tweet 01062021); GA 961 (Team Trump Tweet
01062021); GA 962 (Team Trump Tweet 01062021); GA 963 (Team Trump Tweet
01/06/2021),
5 GA 1928 (Video of EllipseRally 01/06/2021).
0 See GA 1913 (Video of Ellipse Rally 01/06/2021); GA 1908 (Video of Ellipse Rally

01/06/2021).
#' Compare KIRH-TV Tulsa, President Trump arrives at White House, YouTube
itps://www.youtube.com wateh?v=j7uSobMdISA with GA 1928 at 3:28:50 and 4:42:55 (Video
of Ellipse Rally 01/06/2021).
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Tellingly, the significant similarities with the defendant’s Dalton Campaign speech?

confimn that the Ellipse speech delivered just two days later—was private, partisan

electioneering. The defendant covered many of the same topics and told many of the same lies

about fraud in onlyhis election—in some cases, using the exact same words. For instance:

«The defendant, asa candidate, falsely claimedhe had won the election (Dalton at GA 1102:
“I 1an two elections. I won both of them. Second one, much more successful than the
first” Ellipse at GA 1115: “I've been in two elections; Iwon them both, and the second
one Twon much bigger than the first”).

© The defendant, as a candidate and the leader of a political party, implored political
supporters to pressure Pence(Daltonat GA 1090: “I hope Mike Pence comes through for
us, Thave to tell you. Thopethat our great Vice President, our great Vice President comes
through for us. He'sa great guy.Of course,ifhe doesn’t come through, Twon't like him
quite as much.” Ellipse at GA 1116: “I hope Mike is going to do the right thing. 1 hope
so. hope so. BecauseifMike Pence does the right thing, we win the election.”

The defendant, as a candidate and the leader ofa political party, attacked a fellow party
member who had been insufficiently subservient (Dalton at GA 1104: Georgia Govemor
EEER+: » “incompetent govemor.” Ellipse at GA 1125: [Il was “oneof the
dumbest governors in the United States.”

The defendant, who in hiscapacityas a candidate had suffered personal legal defeats in his
private, election-related litigation at the Supreme Court, attacked it (Dalton at GA 1095:
“I'm not happy with the Supreme Court. They are not stepping up to the plate. They're
not stepping up.” Ellipse at GA 1125: “I'm not happy with the Supreme Court. They love
to rule against me.”).

© The defendant, as a candidate, made myriad false claims regarding fraud in the presidential
election, including:

o Arizona

= Non-citizens cast 36,000 votes (Dalton at GA 1106: “In Arizona, more than
36,000 votes were cast by non-citizens.” Ellipse at GA 1134: “Over 36,000
ballots were illegally cast by non-citizens.” and

2 See GA 1088 (Dalton Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/04/2021).
See GA 1114 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).

S12-
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® There were more ballots than voters (Dalton at GA 1106: “There were
11,000 more ballots than there were voters.” Ellipse at GA 1134: “11,600
‘more ballots and votes were counted, more than there were actual voters.”).

o Georgia

® There were more than 10,000 dead voters (Dalton at GA 1103: “We were
up. 10,315 ballots were cast by individuals whose name and date of birth
‘matches a Georgia resident who died in 2020 prior to the election. Then
‘your wacky secretary of state said two people, two people.” Ellipse at GA
1133-1134: “Over 10,300 ballots in Georgia were cast by individuals whose
names and datesofbirth match Georgia residents who died in 2020 and
prior to the election.”);

* More than 2,500 ineligible felons voted (Dalton at GA 1103: “2,506 ballots
were cast by individuals whose name and date of birth matches an
incarcerated felon in a Georgia prison. Maybe they aren’tall there, but they.
did a lot of work. 1 paid a lot of money to a lot of people. I can tell you
that” Ellipse at GA 1134: “More than 2,500 ballots were cast by
individuals whose names and dates of birth match incarcerated felons in
Georgia prison—people who are not allowed to vote.”);

* Thousandsof unregistered people voted (Dalton at GA 1103: “4,502 illegal
ballots were cast by individuals who do not appear on the state’s voter
rolls.” Ellipse at GA 1134: “More than 4,500 illegal ballots were cast by
individuals who do not appear on the state’s own voter rolls.”);

* More than 18,000 voters used vacant addresses (Dalton at GA 1103:
“18,325 illegal ballots were cast by individuals who registered to vote using
an address listed as vacant according to the postal service.” Ellipse at GA
1134: “Over 18,000 illegal ballots were cast by individuals who registered
to vote using an address listed as “vacant,” according to the Postal
Service.");

® Atleast 88,000 ballots were illegally backdated (Dalton at GA 1103: “At
least 86,850 ballots were cast by people whose registrations were illegally
backdated.” Ellipse at GA 1134: “At least 88,000 ballots in Georgia were
cast by people whose registrations were illegally backdated.”);

= Underage voters cast 66,000 ballots (Dalton at GA 1103: “66,000 votes in
Georgia were cast by people under the legal voting age.” Ellipse at GA
1134: “66,000 votes—each oneof these is far more than we need. 66,000
votes in Georgia were cast by individuals under the legal voting age.”); and
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= 15,000 voters had moved out of the state before the election (Dalton at GA
1103: “At least 15,000 ballots were cast by individuals who moved out of
the state prior to the November 3rd election, or maybe they moved back in.”
Ellipse at GA 1134: “And at least 15,000 ballots were cast by individuals
who moved out of the state prior to November 3rd clection. They say they
moved right back. They moved right back. Oh, they moved out; they
moved right back. Okay. They missed Georgia that much. 1do. love
Georgia. But it's a corrupt system.”).

© Michigan

= 17,000 ballots were cast by dead people (Daltonat GA 1106: “An estimated
17,000 ballotswerecast by dead people.” Ellipse at GA 1135: “More than
17,000 Michigan ballots were cast by individuals whose names and dates of
birth match people who were deceased”).

o Nevada

* Signature verification machines were flawed (Dalton at GA 1106: “In Clark
County, Nevada, over 130,000 ballots, this is far, just 50 you know, all these
numbers, these are far more than we need, were processed on machines
where the signature matching threshold was intentionally lowered to a level
that you could sign your name, “Santa Claus,” and it wouldn't pick it up.”
Ellipse at GA 1134: *In Clark County, Nevada, the accuracy settings on
signature verification machines were purposely lowered before they were
used to count over 130,000 ballots.”); and

® There were tens of thousandsof double votes (Dalton at GA 1106: “More
than 42,000 people in Nevada double voted.” Ellipse at GA 1134: “There
were also more than 42,000 double votes in Nevada.”).

o Pennsylvania

® The Commonwealth had more votes than voters (Dalton at GA 1105: “In
Pennsylvania, there were 205,000 more ballots cast than there were voters.”
Ellipse at GA 1127: “So, in Pennsylvania, you had 205,000 more votes than
you had voters.”);

= 8,000 dead people voted (Dalton at GA 1106: “Pennsylvania also had an
estimated 8,000 dead voters.” Ellipse at GA 1127: “Over 8,000 ballots in
Pennsylvania were cast by people whose names and dates of birth match
individuals who died in 2020 and prior to the election.”);

= 14,000 out-of-state voters voted (Dalton at GA 1106: “14,000 ballots
illegally cast by out of state voters.” Ellipse at GA 1127: “Over 14,000
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estimated 8,000 dead voters.” Ellipse at GA 1127: “Over 8,000 ballots in 
Pennsylvania were cast by people whose names and dates of birth match 
individuals who died in 2020 and prior to the election.”); 

 14,000 out-of-state voters voted (Dalton at GA 1106: “14,000 ballots 
illegally cast by out of state voters.”  Ellipse at GA 1127: “Over 14,000 
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ballots were cast by out-of-state voters. So these are voters that don’t live
in this state.”);

= 400,000 absentee ballots appeared after the election (Dalton at GA 1106:
“There's an unexplained 400,000 vote discrepancy between the number of
‘mail-in ballots in Pennsylvania sent out reported on November 2nd, 2020,
and the number reported on November 4th. They can’t explain it. 400,000
previously unreported mail-in ballots, magically appeared. They couldn't
explain it. And all ofa sudden they just happened to find 400,000. That's
alot ofpeople.” Ellipse at GA 1128: “The day before the election, the state
of Pennsylvania reported the number of absentee ballots that had been sent
out, yet this number was suddenly and drastically increased by 400,000
people. It was increased —nobody knows where it came from—by 400,000
ballots one day after the election.”); and

® Tensofthousands of ballots were received back before they were mailed
out (Dalton at GA 1106: “55,000 ballots received back before they were
even sent” Ellipse at GA 1128: “And more than 60.000 ballots in
Pennsylvania were reported received back—they got back—before they
were ever supposedly mailed out. In other words, you got the ballot back
before you mailed it, which is also logically and logistically impossible.
Right?)

o Wisconsin

= Hundreds of illegal drop boxes were used (Dalion at GA 1105: “In
‘Wisconsin over 90,000 ballots wereillegally harvested. Can'tdo that. Not
allowed to. Through so-called human drop boxes and over 500 illegal
unmanned drop boxes were put out statewide.” Ellipse at GA 1131: “In
Wisconsin, corrupt Democrat-run cies deployed more than 500 illegal,
unmanned, unsecured drop boxes, which collected a minimumof 91,000
unlawful votes.”); and

= 170,000 invalid absentee votes were counted (Dalton at GA 1105: “Over
170,000 absentee votes were counted that are blatantly illegal under
Wisconsin law and should never have been included in the tally.” Ellipse
at GA 1131: “Over 170,000 absentee votes were counted in Wisconsin
withouta valid absentee ballot application. So they had a vote, but they had
no application, and that’s illegal in Wisconsin.”)

The defendant's language throughout the speech was that ofa candidate focused on his re-

election. He claimed that he would not concede, that he received more votes than he had four

years earlier, that the election was over by 10:00 p.m. on election night, and that he wanted to go
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 170,000 invalid absentee votes were counted (Dalton at GA 1105: “Over 
170,000 absentee votes were counted that are blatantly illegal under 
Wisconsin law and should never have been included in the tally.” Ellipse 
at GA 1131: “Over 170,000 absentee votes were counted in Wisconsin 
without a valid absentee ballot application.  So they had a vote, but they had 
no application, and that’s illegal in Wisconsin.”). 

The defendant’s language throughout the speech was that of a candidate focused on his re-

election.  He claimed that he would not concede, that he received more votes than he had four 

years earlier, that the election was over by 10:00 p.m. on election night, and that he wanted to go 
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back eight weeks to fix the election result. Significantly, he made manyof these statements at the

beginningof the speech, framing the themes for the restof the speech.

In addition, although countless federal, state, and local races also were on the same ballots

as the defendant on election day—including those of every sitting member of the House of

Representatives, even those on whom the defendant was counting to object at the congressional

proceeding—the defendant focused only on his own race, the election for President, and only on

allegations favoring him as a candidate in targeted states he had lost.” He claimed his “election

victory” was “stolen,” that he would not “concede,” and that “with only threeofthe seven states

in question, wewin the presidencyofthe United States.” He framed the claimsofelection fraud

in termsofhis own election and the marginofvictory in his own race, and he spoke to his political

supporters using the pronoun “we” showing that he was speaking not to all citizens, but only to

his own voters.” Finally, the defendant repeatedly aimed accusations at Biden, his principal

opponent in the election contest, as would a candidate.**

b. Tweets

Oneofthe tools the defendant used for partisan politicaladvantage —and in furtherance of

the charged conspiracies—was his personal Twitter account. He used his Twitter account to

undermine public confidence in the electoral system, spread false claims of election fraud, attack

those speaking the truth that the defendant had lost the election, exhort supporters to travel to

Washington for the certification proceeding, and marshal his supporters’ anger at, and pressure on,

#4 GA 1118-1119 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021)
5 GA 1122, 1126-1136 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021),
9 GA 1115, 1122 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
“7 GA 1115, 1132-1133, 1136 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
“% GA 1119, 1133, 1135 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
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back eight weeks to fix the election result.  Significantly, he made many of these statements at the 

beginning of the speech, framing the themes for the rest of the speech.594

In addition, although countless federal, state, and local races also were on the same ballots 

as the defendant on election day—including those of every sitting member of the House of 

Representatives, even those on whom the defendant was counting to object at the congressional 

proceeding—the defendant focused only on his own race, the election for President, and only on 

allegations favoring him as a candidate in targeted states he had lost.595 He claimed his “election 

victory” was “stolen,” that he would not “concede,” and that “with only three of the seven states 

in question, we win the presidency of the United States.”596 He framed the claims of election fraud 

in terms of his own election and the margin of victory in his own race, and he spoke to his political 

supporters using the pronoun “we”—showing that he was speaking not to all citizens, but only to 

his own voters.597  Finally, the defendant repeatedly aimed accusations at Biden, his principal 

opponent in the election contest, as would a candidate.598 

b. Tweets

One of the tools the defendant used for partisan political advantage—and in furtherance of 

the charged conspiracies—was his personal Twitter account.  He used his Twitter account to 

undermine public confidence in the electoral system, spread false claims of election fraud, attack 

those speaking the truth that the defendant had lost the election, exhort supporters to travel to 

Washington for the certification proceeding, and marshal his supporters’ anger at, and pressure on, 

 
594 GA 1118-1119 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
595 GA 1122, 1126-1136 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021). 
596 GA 1115, 1122 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021). 
597 GA 1115, 1132-1133, 1136 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021). 
598 GA 1119, 1133, 1135 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021). 
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Pence. As described below, an objective analysis of “content, form, and context,” id. at 2340,

establishes that the select Tweets that the Government intends to offer at tral were unofficial

Asan initial matter, the defendant sent, or directed the sending of, all Tweets and re-Tweets

from @realDonaldTrump, the personal Twitter account that the defendant started long before

assuming the presidency The defendant began tweeting from @realDonaldTrump in May

2009. Throughout his campaign for the presidency in 2016, the defendant used this Twitter

account for electioncering purposes; he even announced the selection of Pence as his Vice

Presidential nominee over Twitter.” Since the end of his term in office, the defendant again has

used the account for private purposes. During his presidential term, the defendant sometimes used

the @realDonaldTrump account to tweet about official business, including regarding COVID

reliefand vaccines, legislation in Congress, and Executive Branch business. But he also regularly

used the account to post on unambiguously private matters —for example, when he posteda picture

of himself golfing with Jack Nicklaus and Tiger Woods at the Trump NationalGolfClub inJupiter,

Florida, and re-tweeted a Trump Organization post about the Trump New York hotel being “named

the #1 “Best Hotel in the World"

The Supreme Courts decision in Lindke v. Freed, 144 S. Ct. 756, 769 (2024), confirms

that a public officials personal social-media account can be used for both personal and public

business, and—consistent with Trump—that a fact-specific inquiry is required to discern into

which category a post falls. In conducting the necessary Tweet-by-Tweet analysis, context and

GA 25-527 TE 34(EE
“@ GA all ): see hups://x.com/realDonaldTrump/status’
7539650700031098882 lang=en (Donald J. Trump Tweet 07/15/2016)
“0 utps://x.comreal DonaldTrumplstatus/1091760712756744192_ (Donald J. Trump Tweet
02/02/2019); httpsy/x.com/realdonaldirump/status/1172353230505938946 (Donald J. Trump
Tweet 09/12/2019).
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the @realDonaldTrump account to tweet about official business, including regarding COVID 

relief and vaccines, legislation in Congress, and Executive Branch business.  But he also regularly 

used the account to post on unambiguously private matters—for example, when he posted a picture 

of himself golfing with Jack Nicklaus and Tiger Woods at the Trump National Golf Club in Jupiter, 

Florida, and re-tweeted a Trump Organization post about the Trump New York hotel being “named 

the #1 ‘Best Hotel in the World!’”601

The Supreme Court’s decision in Lindke v. Freed, 144 S. Ct. 756, 769 (2024), confirms 

that a public official’s personal social-media account can be used for both personal and public 

business, and—consistent with Trump—that a fact-specific inquiry is required to discern into 

which category a post falls.  In conducting the necessary Tweet-by-Tweet analysis, context and 

 
599 GA 525-527 ( ); GA 534 ( ). 
600 GA 411 ( ); see https://x.com/realDonaldTrump/status/
753965070003109888?lang=en (Donald J. Trump Tweet 07/15/2016). 
601 https://x.com/realDonaldTrump/status/1091760712756744192 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 
02/02/2019); https://x.com/realdonaldtrump/status/1172353230505938946 (Donald J. Trump 
Tweet 09/12/2019). 
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content matter. Simply because a Tweet relates to a matter of public concer does not

automatically transform it into an official communication. In Blassingame, §7 F.4ih at 20, the

D.C. Circuit rejected thedefendant's contention thatany and all ofthe President's communications

are immune official acts whenever they involve a matter of public concer. The D.C. Circuit

recognized that the “integrity of the 2020 election” was a matter of public concem, but if the

defendant spoke about that issue “in his personal capacity as a candidate for reelection rather than

in his official capacity as President,” it was unofficial speech notshieldedby immunity. Jd. Thus,

‘when a court consults “contentand context” to inform the official-act inquiry, see Trump, 144 S.

Ct. at 2340, a claim that all Tweets concerning election integrity were official must fail.

An analysis of the @realDonaldTrump account during the time period of the charged

conspiracies demonstrates that the defendant frequently used the account to advance his unofficial

objectives as a candidate. Ofthe more than 1,200 Tweets, the vast majority were related to the

2020 presidential election. For example, he announced over Twitterthat[JES and others were

taking over his Campaign legal team, and he repeatedly used the platform to espouse fale claims

of election fraud and promote political rallies on his behalf.“ [JERE the defendant's Deputy

Chief of Staff and the only person other than the defendant with control over the

(@realDonaldTrump Twitter account, acknowledged that he sometimes consulted with Campaign

‘personnel about material he was going to post on the account, that he worked as a volunteer for

the defendant's Campaign at the same time that he served as DeputyChiefofStaff, and that he did

“2 GA 784-785 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/14/2020): GA 786-787 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
11/14/2020); GA 944-945 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021); GA 881-852 (Donald J. Trump.
‘Tweet 12/22/2020); GA 884-885 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/23/2020); GA 905-906 (Donald J.
Trump Tweet 01/01/2021); GA 938-939 (Donald J. Trump Twveet 01/05/2021).
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not differentiate between his official and Campaign duties and when he would send Tweets on the

account for Campaign purposes as a Campaign volunteer. **

A reviewofthedefendant'sofficial @POTUSAS account presentsa relevant contrast. The

defendant used this institutional account primarily to re-tweet other accounts like the

@realDonaldTrump account, as well as @WhiteHouse. There were 74 Tweets from the

@POTUS4S account during the charged conspiracies. Noneof them include the defendants

election-related claims or his election challenges. *** The last four Tweets in the account, which

the Government cites here to show context, were re-TweetsofTweets from @realDonaldTrump

regarding January 6. These include two Tweets that the defendant issued on the afiemoon of

January 6 purportedly asking individuals to support law enforcement and “stay” peaceful; notably,

the @POTUSAS account archive does not include the defendant's Twitter pressure campaign

against Pence, such as the 2:24 p.m. Tweet on January 6.7

Below, the Government analyzes the “content, form, and context,” id. at 2340, ofvarious

categories of the defendant's Tweets. All of these categories consist of unofficial Tweets.

ey———|
“4 GA 1899 (Spreadsheetof@POTUS4S Tweets).
8 1d. (Spreadsheet of @POTUS4S Tweets).

1d, (Spreadsheet of @POTUSAS Tweets). The four re-Tweets are: on January S, “Antifa is a
Terrorist Organization, stay out of Washington. Law enforcement is watching you very closely!
@DeptofDefense @ThelusticeDept @DHSgov @DHS_Wolf @SecBemhardi @SecretService
@FBI”; on January 6, “Please support our Capitol Police and Law Enforcement. They are truly
on the sideof our Country. Stay Peaceful” and “I am asking for everyone at the U.S. Capitol to
remain peaceful. No violence! Remember, WE are the Party of Law & Order — respect the Law
and our great men and women in Blue. Thank you!”; and on January 7, a link to a speech the
defendant gave on that date about the eventsof the previous day.
“7 Compare id. (Spreadsheetof @POTUSAS Tweets) with GA 946-947 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
0106/2021).
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the @POTUS45 account archive does not include the defendant’s Twitter pressure campaign 

against Pence, such as the 2:24 p.m. Tweet on January 6.607 

Below, the Government analyzes the “content, form, and context,” id. at 2340, of various 

categories of the defendant’s Tweets.  All of these categories consist of unofficial Tweets. 

603 GA 526-532 ( ). 
604 GA 1899 (Spreadsheet of @POTUS45 Tweets). 
605 Id. (Spreadsheet of @POTUS45 Tweets). 
606 Id. (Spreadsheet of @POTUS45 Tweets). The four re-Tweets are: on January 5, “Antifa is a 
Terrorist Organization, stay out of Washington.  Law enforcement is watching you very closely! 
@DeptofDefense @TheJusticeDept @DHSgov @DHS_Wolf @SecBernhardt @SecretService 
@FBI”; on January 6, “Please support our Capitol Police and Law Enforcement.  They are truly 
on the side of our Country.  Stay Peaceful” and “I am asking for everyone at the U.S. Capitol to 
remain peaceful.  No violence!  Remember, WE are the Party of Law & Order – respect the Law 
and our great men and women in Blue.  Thank you!”; and on January 7, a link to a speech the 
defendant gave on that date about the events of the previous day. 
607 Compare id. (Spreadsheet of @POTUS45 Tweets) with GA 946-947 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 
01/06/2021). 
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i. Tweets, as candidate, casting doubt on election integrity

As described in Section I, the defendant attempted to discourage mail-in voting and

undermine confidence in the election results to prepare to declare victory evenifhe lost. See, e.g.

suprarp. 6. Just as his public statements casting doubt on the election were unofficial, 50 too were

the analogous Tweets that the defendant posted in his capacity as a candidate. The contextofthese

Tweets confirms this conclusion. The defendant issued the Tweets in advance of election day, in

the midst of his campaign for re-election; furthermore, he made them while his own Campaign

advisors were warning him that Biden supporters were much more likely to use mail-in voting, the

very method the defendant attempted to discourage. In addition. the Tweets’ content further

reinforces their private nature; they show the defendant taking a partisan electioneering position

on an issue rather than proposing any official measures to address a problem that the defendant

claimed existed.

ii. Tweets making false claims of election fraud

“The superseding indictment alleges that the defendant repeated and widely disseminated

false claimsofelection fraud. See. e.g., Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 226$9 12, 14. One of

the ways that he did so was by Tweet, constantly, day in and day out. Examples of the kinds of

Tweets that the Goverment intends to use at trial are set forth throughout Section I, in which the

defendantfalselyclaimed victory andoutcome-determinativeelection fraud in targeted sates. See,

eg. supra pp. 22-23, 32, 45, 55-56, 62:63.

These kinds of Tweets all shared common internal characteristics that establish their

unofficial nature. The defendant used the language ofa candidate when he spoke in termsofhis

personal electoral victory (“I win!” or “We win!”).%" He divided his audience between personal

8 See, e.g. GA 772-773 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/05/2020); GA 774-775 (Donald 1. Trump
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allies who supported his election challenges and enemies who did not, dismissing the latter as

“RINOs” (shorthand for Republicans in Name Only) or “the Democrats." And he focused only

on fraud claims that would affect his own electionandwas fixated on his own margin of victory

(“farmore votes than are necessary to win") 51°

iii. Tweets and re-Tweets attacking those speaking the truth about the
election

On multiple occasions, the defendant issued a Tweet, or re-tweeted an agents Tweet, in

order to attack individuals who had spoken out publicly to defend the integrity of the 2020

presidential election and reassure the public that there had not been outcome-determinative fraud.

‘These instances include:on November 11, the defendant attacked Philadelphia City Commissioner

after he dispelled fraud claims in a television interview that the defendant saw: ©" on

November 29, the defendant issued a Tweetattacking [Jl] when he appeared on 60 Minutes:">

on December 6, the defendant re-tweeted a post by his agent, [Jl] attacking Arizona House

speaker [JEN] for 2 public announcement that the defendant had not presented Arizona

legislators with any evidence of outcome-determinative fraud and that the Arizona legislature

‘could not overturn election results basedonunsupported theoriesoffraud: again on December

6, the defendant re-tweeted a post by his agent,[gi] labeling four Republican state legislators

‘Tweet 11/06/2020); GA 797-798 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/18/2020); GA 850-851 (Donald J.
‘Trump Tweet 12/05/2020).

See, eg, GA 777-778 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/11/2020); GA 860-861 (Donald J. Trump
‘Tweet 12/07/2020); GA 752-783 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/13/2020); GA 795-796 (Donald J.
“Trump Tweet 11/17/2020); GA 881-882 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/22/2020),
419 GA 909-910 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/01/2021); GA 911-912 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
01/01/2021).
411 GA 1953 at 2:20-4:13 (Video of Interview with CNN 11/11/2020); GA 777-778 (Donald 1.
“Trump Tweet 11/11/2020).
#12 GA 825-826 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/29/2020).
13 GA §54-855 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/06/2020).
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“cowards” aftr they issued a public announcement that they could not overtum the popular vote

and appointtheir own electors: and onDecember21,thedefendant attacked Wisconsin Supreme

Court Justice[ITE for ruling against him. '*

IEEE (superseding Indictment, ECF No. 226 § 41; supra
p-38)

After[JE then a Philadelphia City Commissioner, gave a television interview on

‘November 11 and made clear that he had not seen evidence of fraud there, the defendant issueda

‘Tweet attacking[JER in partisan terms. The defendantcalled [JRE] 2 “so called Republican

(RINOY” and finished the Tweet with “We win!” In so doing, the defendant was acting as a

candidate frustrated that a memberofis politcal party refused to perpetuatethelies the defendant

was promoting to advance his personal political interests.

©)EEEspr vp. 45)

On November 29, when 60 Minutes aired an interviewwith[J] formerly the CISA

director, defending the integrityofthe election, the defendant tweeted an attack on the television

programand[EERE+: cloimed that the 2020 election was “probably our

least secure EVER!" These complaints about[JSS and mail-in ballots echoed others

which the defendant was making regularly as a candidate only in tates in which he had lost the

election. He also issued the Tweet between two other Tweets in which he was speaking as a

candidate. Thirty minutes before the[GE] Tweet, the defendant used his @realDonaldTrump

account to discuss Campaign litigation—specifically, he wrote, “We have some big things

FGA836,858(DonaldJ.Trump Tweet 12/06/2020)
15 GA 875-880 (Donald J. Trump Tweets 12/21/2021).
15 GA 777-778 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/11/2020).
97 GA 825-826 (DonaldJ.Trump Tweet 11/29/2020).
1% See, e.g., GA 867-872 (Donald J. Trump Tweets 12/13/2020).

1324
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happening in our various litigations on the Election Hoax. Everybody knows it was Rigged. They

Know Biden didn’t get more votes from the Black community than Obama, & certainly didn’t get

80,000,000 votes. Look what happened in Detroit, Philadelphia, plust”** And within twenty

minutesof the[J] Tweet, the defendant issued another Tweet about 60 Minutes, this time asking

whether the “Fake News” program was paying attention to a Tweet that the defendant then linked

toby[ESIen 2 private citizen—who in tum was publicizing what he characterized

as a Campaign litigation victory on the defendant'sbehalfbyco-conspirator[JSR] in litigation

in Georgia #0

‘The defendant's Tweet regarding 60 Minutes and[JE] was unofficial. The Campaign

litgation-focused Tweets surrounding it demonstrate that the “us” whom the defendant claims 60

Minutes never consulted was the defendant's Campaign, not his Administration.

© BE 0d Pennsylvania legislators (Superseding
Indictment, ECF No. 226 99 21, 43; supra pp. 20, 40)

In the early moming hours on December 6, upon retuming from a Campaign speech in

Valdosta, Georgia, the defendant re-tweeted a December 4 Tweetfrom[JEl|who was working

‘with the Campaign and to overturn the election results®! attacking Arizona House

‘speaker[JE afterJE released a public statement that he had not seen evidenceofelection

fraud and could not take action to overturn the election results in Arizona.22 Just four minutes

49 GA 823-824 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/29/2020).
9 GA 827-828 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 11/29/2020). A week later, the court dismissed the
lawsuit, stating that the plaintiffs “essentially ask the Court for perhaps the most extraordinary

reliefever sought in any Federal Court in connection with an election. They want this Court to
substitute its judgment for thatoftwo-and-a-half million Georgia voters who voted for Joe Biden,
‘and this Tam unwilling to do.” Pearsonv.Kemp, 1:20-cv-4809, ECF No. 79 at 43 (N.D. Ga) (Tr.
of 12/7/2020 Hire).
©seegenerale. A 1315-1550(I
2 GA 854-855 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/06/2020),
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earlier, the defendant had written “Thank you[JER while re-tweeting anotherof[EH

Tweets that read, “President Trump is back on the campaign trail today!!! America is the best

country on earth and @realDonaldTrump is the greatest President!”

On the same day, December 6, the defendant also re-tweeted a Tweetby[Fl] an agent

of the defendant who was working closely with [JESSE Tweet attacked four

Pennsylvania legislators who, like [JEJE] had issued a public statement that they could not

overtum the valid election results. The defendantre-tweeted[JER] post without comment.

Bothofthe defendant's re-tweets on December 6 were unofficial. At the time, both[HE]

‘and[JRE] were, at a minimum, private agentsofthe defendant who were working to overtum the

election results in his favor. [Jl] and[JIE] original Tweets were in serviceof that objective—

hey were attempting to pressure state officials to take extralegal actions to replace their states”

duly-ascertained electors with thedefendant's fraudulent ones. The defendant's re-postingofthese

private Tweets was similarly private.

@) (Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 226 46; supra
p-41)

On December 21, when Wisconsin's Govemor signed a certificate of final determination

confirming that Biden had won the state based on the resolution by the Wisconsin Supreme Court

ofa lawsuit in Biden's favor, the defendant took to Twitter to attack Justice[|IRENE who had

written the majority opinion that ruled against him 5" The defendant claimed —falsely—that he

5 GA 852-853 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/06/2020).
J. (DonaldJ. Trump Tweet 12/06/2020),

25 GA 856. 858 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/06/2020). See, e.g, GA 1851-1852(J

6 GA 856, 858 Donia J. Trump Tweet 12/06/2020)
7 GA 1233-1235 (Wisconsin Certificate of Ascertainment 11/30/2020 and Certificate of Final
Determination 12/21/2020). Trump v. Biden, 394 Wis. 2d 629 (Wis. 2020); GA 875-880 (Donald
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had endorsed in his election for the Wisconsin Supreme Court, and implied that the

endorsement hadcaused [JRE to win.” The defendant then encouraged “Republicans in

Wisconsin” to go “to their State Legislators and overtum this ridiculous State Election. We won

ina LANDSLIDE!" The entire contextofthe defendant's Tweet about[JEREII—including

his fictitious endorsementof[JERE his encouragement of Wisconsin Republicans to lobby

their legislators, and his claim at the end that “Wewon” demonstrates that the Tweet as a whole

‘was partisan, personal, and unofficial

© oo al and Secretary of
State (supra pp. 18, 26-31)

‘Throughout the post-election period, the defendant used his status and power as the head

ofa political party to bring political pressure to bear on fellow Republicans, including Arizona

Govemor [IlGeorsia Govemor [Jl and Georgia Secretary ofState|IEEE 1» be

‘Tweets, the defendant assailed the three elected officials because they refused to take extralegal

actions to benefit him personally, suggested that they would suffer politicallyif they did not do as

he asked. and repeatedly suggested that they were “RINOs” and not real Republicans. The

defendant launched these public attacks both as “a candidate for office” and as “a party leader.”

Trump. 14'S. Ct. at 2340, and they were thus unofficial

J. Trump Tweets 12/21/2020).
© Jd. (Donald J. Trump Tweets 1221/2020); GA IS7-188TE
Although the defendant did not endorse Justice as he claimed. he did endorse a
congressional candidate with the sumame wa another midwestern state. See
hitps:/x.comvreal DonaldTrump/status/12928 795242 10395842.
9 GA §77, 880 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/21/2020).
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iv. Tweets exhorting individuals to travel to Washington, D.C., for the Save
America Rally (Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 2269 68, 72, 79(b);
supra pp. 60, 64, 71-73)

Beginning on December 19, and continuing through early January, the defendant used the

@realDonaldTrump account to promote theprivate, campaign-styleEllipse rally at whichhe spoke

‘on the momingof January 6. Indeed, someof the defendant’s Tweetsfromthis account were re-

tweeted and amplified by the defendant's Campaign Twitter account. The defendant's multiple

Twveets on this topic®® included his inital message that there would be a “[blig protest in D.C. on

January 6th. Be there, willbe wild!"? In tum, that Tweet linked to a document draftedby[EE

Jthc nothingtodowithJERR offical duties asa White House trade advisor, but
rather constituted unofficial political activity by a Campaign volunteer who the Office of Special

Counsel already had determined to have violated the Hatch Act on numerous occasions by

attacking the defendant's opponent during the lead up to the 2020 presidential election.®* For the

reasons described supra pp. 118-126 that makeclear that the Ellipse rallywas a private event, and

the defendant's remarks there unofficial, his Tweets as a candidate promoting the event were

unofficial.

© See, e.g.. GA 896 (Team Trump Retweet of Donald J. Trump Tweet 12262020): GA 901
(Team Trump RetweetofDonald J. Trump Tweet 12/30/2020): GA 902 (Team Trump Refweet of
DonaldJ. Trump Tweet 12/30/2020); GA 534 ).
1 GA 886-887 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/26/2020); GA 897-898 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
12/27/2020); GA 899-900 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/30/2020): GA 903-904 (DonaldJ.Trump.
Tweet 01/01/2021): GA 905-906 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/01/2021); GA 913-914, 1891
(Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/01/2021): GA 921-922 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/03/2021): GA
923-924 (DonaldJ.Trump Tweet 01/03/2021): GA 928-929 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/04/2021);
GA 932-933 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/05/2021); GA 938-939 (Donald J. Trump Tweet
01/05/2021),
2 GA 873-874 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/19/2020).
© Jd. (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/19/2020); GA 1853-1865 (Report of Prohibited Political
Activity Under the Hatch Act 11/18/2020).
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v. Tweets regarding Pence’s role on January 6 (Superseding Indictment,
ECF No. 22699 69, 79(a), 82; supra pp. 61, 71-73)

As the defendant set his sights on using Pence’s role as Presidentof the Senate to overturn

the election results at the January 6 certification proceeding, concurrent with his direct efforts to

pressure Pence, the defendant began to issue Tweets falsely claiming that Pence could use his

ministerial position to benefit the defendant as a candidate. For instance, on December 23, the

defendant re-tweeted a Tweet by a Campaign surrogatenamed[SESH who bad posted a

facially fake White House memorandum titled “Operation ‘PENCE’ CARD,” which falsely

claimed that Pence could unilaterally disqualify legitimate electors. The defendant issued

similar Tweets as the certification grew closer, including posting on January $ that “[tJhe Vice

President has the power to reject fraudulently chosen electors.” And twice on the morning of

January 6, before his speech at the Ellipse rally, the defendant tweeted again about Pence. First,

at 1:00 am, the defendant wrote, “[i]f Vice President @Mike_Pence comes through for us, we

will win the Presidency. Many States want to decertify the mistake they made in certifying

incorrect&even fraudulent numbers in aprocess NOTapprovedbytheir State Legislatures (which

it must be). Mike can send it back!” He again focused on Pence’s role in the certification at

8:17 a.m. when he wrote, “States wan to correct their votes, which they now know were based on

imegularities and fraud. plus cormupt process never received legislative approval. All Mike Pence

has to do is sendthemback to the States, AND WE WIN. Do it Mike, this is a time for extreme

courage!

64 GA 883 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/23/2020); GA 449py
1023 LS So Help Me God p. 439-40); see also G. -

Ga a. (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/05/2021).
6 GA 940-941 (DonaldJ.Trump Tweet 01/06/2021).
7 GA 942.943 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021).
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The context and content of these Tweets establish that they were unofficial. Through the

Tweets, the defendant was using the political pressureofhis supporters and social media followers

to convince Pence to take an action to benefit the defendant as a candidate and help him overtum

the results of the election. As discussed supra pp. 91-96, the defendant played no official role in

the congressional certification proceeding and was not using his Tweets about Pence’s role to

advance any Executive Branch or governmental interest. Likewise, the defendant had no role in

whether state legislatures might take action regarding their own electoral slates (though his claim

that these legislatures were poised to do so was also false). And the defendant’s language

throughout the Tweets is that of a candidate seeking to win an election, including stating to his

political supporters that if Pence “comes through for us, we will win the Presidency” and “All

Mike Pence has to do is send them back to the States, AND WE WIN."6%

The private and Campaign nature of the Tweets is further confirmed when viewed in the

context of the defendant’s increasing desperation as even his unlawful path to remain in power

narrowed. When the defendant re-tweeted the “Operation Pence Card” Tweet on December 23,

the defendant knew that he had lost the legitimateelectoralcollege vote and had begun summoning

supporters to Washington for the Ellipse rally on January6. When he tweeted on January 5 that

Pence had the power to reject fraudulent electors, Pence already had “told him many times” that

Pence did not believe he had such power—including as recently as the day before." And in the

carly morning hours of January 6, when the defendant again tweeted publicly that Pence should

exceed his authority as President of the Senate when counting electoral votes, the defendants

1d; GA 940-941 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021).
9 GA §73-874 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/19/2020).
Ga as7-460(EN
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638 Id.; GA 940-941 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021). 
639 GA 873-874 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 12/19/2020). 
640 GA 457-460 ( ). 
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‘personal desperation was at its zenith: he was only hours from the certification proceeding that

spelled the end.

vi. The defendants 2:24 pm. Tweet on January 6 (Superseding
Indictment, ECF No. 226 94; supra pp. 80-81)

‘The defendant's 2:24 p.m. Tweet aimed at Vice President Pence was unofficial. The

defendant personally posted the Tweet on the afiermoon of January 6 ata point when he already

‘understood that the Capitol had been breached, writing: “Mike Pence didn’t have the courage to

do what should have been done to protect our Country and our Constitution, giving States a chance

to certify a corrected setoffacts, not the fraudulent or inaccurate ones which they were asked to

previously certify. USA demands the tratht”6"

‘The defendant's actions and knowledge in the hours leading up to this Tweet provide

helpful context. First, the evening before, on January S, the defendant had dictated a Tweet to

[MRE 5 ie listened to the angry crowd gathered outside the White House.” That Tweet shows

that the defendant understood that his gathering supporters, who were angry and believed his false

claims that the election had been stolen, were a powder keg. At 5:05 pam, he tweeted:

“Washington is being inundated with people who don’t want to see an election victory stolen by

emboldened Radical Left Democrats. Our Country has had enough, they won't take it anymore!

‘We hear you (and love you) from the Oval Office. MAKE AMERICA GREAT AGAIN!"

Thereafter, the defendant continued to fixate on preventing the certification proceeding.

Asdescribed above,he tweeted about ifat 1:00 a.m.onJanuary6andagainat §:17 am.5% Afier

anoromlEamp Twee OGL).
«26a 535-538(I
5 GA 936-937 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/05/2021).
4 GA 940-941 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021); GA 942-943 (Donald J. Trump Twveet
01/06/2021).
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the 8:17 a.m. Tweet, the defendant worked on his remarks for the Ellipse and planned to include

language explicitly putting pressure on Pence regarding the certification until advisors prevailed

on him not 0.5 At 11:15 am., the defendant called Pence and tried one last-ditch effort to

convince him to fraudulently reject or retum Biden's legitimate electors.“ Pence was resolute

and unmoved, and the defendant was furious.” Inuediately after the call, the defendant directed

that the original language targeting Pence be reinserted in his prepared remarks for the Ellipse

nally 5%

‘The defendant then went to the Ellipse and delivered a falschood-laden speech to his angry

supporters. He purposely singled out Pence by claiming that Pence had the power to overturn the

election results and—though the defendant stood at the podium with full knowledge that Pence

would not do so—gave the crowd false hope that Pence might exercise that power.” The

defendant told the crowd to act, stating, we “can’t let it happen” and then directed his supporters,

who were angry and motivated by his speech, to marchto the Capitol

Insteadof marching with his supporters as he said he would, the defendant returned to the

‘White House. ! He wen to the dining room next to the Oval Office and began to watch television

coverage of the events at the Capitol.” Although the Goverment does not intend to use at trial

5 GA 1680. : 6a638-642(HE
.

EGA 471-472 : GA 1668-166 .
#1 GA_471472 GA 1668-1669
EE) 225-250 .
2a 1681 Go os.0(GA 1670-1679) .
©See GA 1114-1141 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021).
9 See GA 1140-1141 (Ellipse Rally Speech Draft Tr. 01/06/2021)
“isos(Io'
| 0
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evidence ofthe defendant's discussions with White Housestaff during this time period. it provides

necessary context: when news broke that rioters had breached the Capitol, the defendant's

advisors including Deputy White House Counset INANE +o INNEEHNNN
urged the defendant to issue a caning message and make efforts t stop the riot. The defendant

refused, responding that the people at the Capitol were angry because the election had been

stolen. Eventually, all of the defendant's staffers left him alone in the dining room. Fox

News contined to report on the growing crisisa the Capitol. 5

It was at that point—alone, watching news in real time, and with knowledge that rioters

hadbreached the Capitolbuilding that the defendant issued the2:24 pn, Toveet atacking Pence

for refusing the defendant's entreaties to join the conspiracy and help ovestum the results of the

election. One minute later, the Sectet Service was forced o evacuate Pence to a secure location

in the Capitol“ This was roughly ninety minutes aftr Pence had anounced publicly that he

would not act unlawfully to overtum the election; the certification proceeding was underway:“0

and the first breach ofthe Capitol building liad occurred minutes before, at 2:12 pau! At that

GAAI(advisors fold the defendant that “{iJhere’siol, and there
ate people inside the Capitol Building”): GA 122 calling eli
the defendant “that someone's gotten into the Capitol J: GA 232-231
ER GA 165169 )
4 GASI748 ): GA 232-234 : GA
123
GA 546 ).

£56 GA 1931 (Video of Fox News Coverage 01/06/2021).
“6A 516 ): GA 946-947 (DonaldJ. Trump Tuvet 01/06/2021).
GA TIT ): GA 1944 (Video of Pence Evacuation 01/06/2021)

© GA 1651-1686 (Pence Dear Colleague Leter01/06:2021: G2 1567-1565(ENN
-

“GA 1937 (Video of House Floor 01/06/2021): GA 1954 (Video of Senate Floor 01/06/2021),
1 GA 1957 at 00:40-1:25 (VideoofSenate Wing Door CCTV 01/06/2021); GA 1909 at 00:15
1:10 (Video of Capitol Riot 01/06/2021),

u1-
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point, the defendant's only hope to disrupt the certification proceeding and retain power was

through his angry supporters. The defendant further revealed the private nature of his desperate

conductas a candidate, rather than a President, in an exchange (that the Government does not plan

to use at trial) he had withaide [JE] shortly after the 2:24 p.m. Tweet. Upon receiving a phone

call alerting him that Pence had been taken to a secure location,[IE] rushed to the dining room to

inform the defendant in hopes that the defendant would take action to ensure Pence’s safety.

Instead,after[JI] delivered the news, the defendant looked at him and said only, “So what?"%*

‘The private, unofficial nature of the 2:24 p.m. Tweet contrasts with two other Tweets the

defendant sent during the following hour and a video message he sent two hours later, and which

the Government does no intend to introduce at trial. Only after advisors had again urged the

defendant to calm matters at the Capitol, the defendant at 2:38 p.m. posted. “Please support our

Capitol Police and La Enforcement. They are truly on the sideofour Country. Stay peacefull™*

As the violence at the Capitol nonetheless escalated, the defendant at 3:13 p.m. posted, “I am

asking for everyone attheU.S. Capitol to remain peaceful. No violence! Remember, WE are the

Party of Law & Order respect the Law and our great men and women in Blue. Thank you!™ss*

And after those Tweets failed to disperse the rioters, and after sill more demands from his staff

“GA 310317 .
3 GA 124-125 ) (“both[EAN2nd1went down and told him

wu got 10 tell people zet out of the Capitol. the people who were breaching the Capitol”): GA 232
(And said.we need to tell everyone to get the fuck outof the

Capitol, night now); GA 237 ) and “argued
10 the president, you have o (ell people (0 get out.ght now. as well Or the first time

I'd ever heard him raise his voice, yelled at the president. .. He said. you need (0 tll them now:
‘you're destroying your legacy: you're destroying everything anyone's ever worked for:vou’ve got
to tell these people to get outofthe Capitol, immediately. ”): GA 480—
(“I think we were probably, at that point, encouraging the President that he needed to come out
and say something. he needed to condemn this and say something about it”).
5 GA 948-949 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021).
5 GA 950-951 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021).
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that he do more to stop the riot, the defendant at 4:17 p.m. tweeted a video message in which he

finally asked those at the Capitol—whom he described as “very special” people that he “love[d]"—

to leave the Capitol, while also claiming that “[w]e had an election that was stolen from us.”*%

He senta Tweet at 6:01 p.m. that conveyed a similar sentiment: “These are the things and events

that happen when a sacred landslide election victory is so unceremoniously & viciously stripped

‘away from great patriots who have been badly & unfairly treated for so long. Go home with love

&in peace. Remember this day forever!”*”

The defendant at least has an argument—though he issued the 2:38 p.m. and 3:13 p.m.

Tweets only after being harangued by his staff while he adamantly refused to do anything at all—

that he was addressinga matterofpublic safety as President (the riot at the Capitol). Likewise, in

the 4:17 p.m. message, the defendant, while still focused on his election loss, asked rioters to

evacuate the breached Capitol, and foreshadowed the sentiment in his 6:01 p.m. Tweet when he

said to “[g]o home with love & in peace.” By contrast, in the 2:24 p.m. Tweet, the defendant

focused solely on the Vice President's role in the certificationofthe presidential election results—

matter of intense personal concern to the defendantas a candidate for office. Even assuming that

topic constituted a “matter[]of public concer,” Blassingame, 87 F.4th at 14, the defendant's 2:24

© GA 1952 (Video of Rose Garden Speech 01/06/2021); GA 1868 (Rose Garden Speech Draft
Tr. 01/06/2021).
“7 GA 952-953 (DonaldJ.Trump Tweet 01/06/2021).

There are, however, strong arguments that allof these Tweets were unofficial. For example, in
some ofthem, the defendant misleadingly suggested that the already-violent crowd should “[s}tay™
or “remain” “peaceful” while failing to urge or direct those unlawfully at the Capitol to leave, as
his advisors had urged him to do. He also used the messages to recognize the rioters at the Capitol
as his own supporters, calling them “WE and telling them that they were “very special” and that
he loved them. And even as early as the aftemoonof January 6, when violence still raged at the
Capitol, the defendant justified and revered the rioters” lawless actions on hisbehalf when he
tweeted that “[tJhese are the things and events that happen” and to “[rJemember this day forever!”
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666 GA 1952 (Video of Rose Garden Speech 01/06/2021); GA 1868 (Rose Garden Speech Draft 
Tr. 01/06/2021). 
667 GA 952-953 (Donald J. Trump Tweet 01/06/2021). 
668 There are, however, strong arguments that all of these Tweets were unofficial.  For example, in 
some of them, the defendant misleadingly suggested that the already-violent crowd should “[s]tay” 
or “remain” “peaceful” while failing to urge or direct those unlawfully at the Capitol to leave, as 
his advisors had urged him to do.  He also used the messages to recognize the rioters at the Capitol 
as his own supporters, calling them “WE” and telling them that they were “very special” and that 
he loved them.  And even as early as the afternoon of January 6, when violence still raged at the 
Capitol, the defendant justified and revered the rioters’ lawless actions on his behalf when he 
tweeted that “[t]hese are the things and events that happen” and to “[r]emember this day forever!”
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pm. Tweet reflected speech made “in an unofficial, private capacity as office-seeker, not an

official capacity as office-holder.” 1d. at 5.

Given allof this context, the 2:24 p.m. Tweet was unofficial. When the defendant sent it,

he knew that what he had asked Pence to do, and that he claimed would “protect our Country and

our Constitution,” was contrary to the ECA; that no state was poised to “certify a corrected set of

facts;” thata large crowdofhis political supporters had gathered in Washington at his urging; that

these supporters were angry and believed his false claims that the election had been stolen; that he

had called them to action through his Ellipse speech, in which he told them that Pence might sill

do as he wished and directed these supporters to march to the Capitol; and that his supporters had

done s0 and had breached the Capitol building

The defendant also knew what his advisors were forcefully urging him to do as President

issue a message to quell the emergency at the Capitol. Instead, the defendant refused repeatedly

until his advisors gave up and left him alone in the dining room. It was then that the defendant

issued the 2:24 p.m. Tweet, as a candidate communicating to his angry supporters that Pence had

let him—and them—down. The contentofthe 2:24 p.m. Tweet was not a message sent to address

a mater of public concem and case unrest; it was the message of an angry candidate upon the

realization that he would lose power. And unlike the defendant's later Tweets that day, the

defendant was not asking the individuals at the Capitol to “remain peaceful,” leave the building,

or “go home.”

c. Other public statements

By virtue of his status as a candidate for re-election, the defendant occasionally made

public statements—whether in response to questions or otherwise. Examples of such statements

set forth in Section | are the defendant's statements in advanceof the election to seed public doubt

in the outcome (supra p. 6), the defendant's televised election night remarks to his supporters
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he knew that what he had asked Pence to do, and that he claimed would “protect our Country and 

our Constitution,” was contrary to the ECA; that no state was poised to “certify a corrected set of 

facts;” that a large crowd of his political supporters had gathered in Washington at his urging; that 

these supporters were angry and believed his false claims that the election had been stolen; that he 

had called them to action through his Ellipse speech, in which he told them that Pence might still 

do as he wished and directed these supporters to march to the Capitol; and that his supporters had 

done so and had breached the Capitol building.

The defendant also knew what his advisors were forcefully urging him to do as President: 

issue a message to quell the emergency at the Capitol.  Instead, the defendant refused repeatedly 

until his advisors gave up and left him alone in the dining room.  It was then that the defendant 

issued the 2:24 p.m. Tweet, as a candidate communicating to his angry supporters that Pence had 

let him—and them—down.  The content of the 2:24 p.m. Tweet was not a message sent to address 

a matter of public concern and ease unrest; it was the message of an angry candidate upon the 

realization that he would lose power.  And unlike the defendant’s later Tweets that day, the 

defendant was not asking the individuals at the Capitol to “remain peaceful,” leave the building, 

or “go home.” 

c. Other public statements 

By virtue of his status as a candidate for re-election, the defendant occasionally made 

public statements—whether in response to questions or otherwise.  Examples of such statements 

set forth in Section I are the defendant’s statements in advance of the election to seed public doubt 

in the outcome (supra p. 6), the defendant’s televised election night remarks to his supporters 
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(supra pp. 7-8), and the defendant's telephonic endorsementof[JESS false allegations at the

Gettysburg “hotel hearing” (supra p. 39).

Each of the defendants cited public statements was made in his capacity as a candidate.

His pre-election statements, for instance, were made in contexts like the Republican National

‘Convention or in the midst of statements about political polling.” His election night remarks

weremade to aroomofhis supportersandwere abouthisstatusas a candidatein thepending

election” And his contribution to the Gettysburg “hotel hearing” was to call in by dialing one

of his private attomeys, who broadcast his personal message by holding her phone to the

‘microphone so that he could make statements supporting thoseofhis private attorneys.” Tn sum,

the defendant made allofthese comments as a candidate for office, and was speaking about his

own election. They were unofficial.

2. In the alternative, any official portions of the defendant's public speeches,
‘Tweets, or statements should be excised

Altematively,if segregable portions of the speeches, Tweets, or statements are found to be

presumptively immune official conduct, the first alternative would be to excise them from the

speeches, allowing the Government to rely on the unofficial statementsin those speeches.

The D.C. Circuit has long recognized that district courts have “discretionary power to

delete objectionable portions”ofevidence “where appropriate,” United States v. Lemonakis, 485

F.24941,949 (D.C. Cir. 1973),and the Supreme Court has approvedofthat practice in the context

of statements that contain protected legislative acts along with unprotected acts under the

Constitutions Speech or Debate Clause, see United States v. Helstoski, 442 US. 477, 488 n.7

9 GA 1951 at 22:08-22:18 (VideoofRNC Speech 08/24/2020); GA 1927 at 2:50-3:28 (Video
‘of Donald J. Trump Statement 10/27/2020)
#0 GA 1974 (Video of White House Speech 11/04/2020).
1 GA 1945 at 2:06:23-2:07:23 (VideoofPennsylvania Hotel Hearing 11/25/2020).
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(1979) (approving practiceof “excising references to legislative acts, so that the remainder of the

evidence would be admissible”); see also Gov't of Virgin Islands v. Lee, 775 F.2d 514, 523 (3d

Cir. 1985) (“even where a conversation includes a discussionofboth legislative acts and non-

legislative acts, the conversation can be examined and the immunized aspectsof the conversation

deleted”). This is a familiar practice across a rangeof legal contexts. See, e.g., Samia v. United

States, 599 U.S. 635, 653 (2023) (upholding use of a redacted statement to avoid constitutional

concerns); Davis v. Washington, S47 U.S. 813, 829 (2006) (“Through in limine procedure, [rial

courts] should redact or exclude the portions of any statement that have become testimonial, as

they do, for example, with unduly prejudicial portions of otherwise admissible evidence.”); In re

Rail Freight Fuel Surcharge Antitrust Litig. - MDL No. 1869, 34 F.4th 1,13 (D.C. Cir. 2022)

(relying on Lemonakis). Redaction of any statements ultimately found to be immune, while

‘admitting the significant remaining unofficial content, would resolve any constitutional questions

under Trump.

To the extent that excision does not resolve any arguable immunity claim, then evenifthe

defendant's conduct in these speeches, Tweets, and statements can be nudged across the lin from

Campaign conduct to official action, it is so heavily intertwined with Campaign-related conduct

that prosecuting it does not pose a danger to any Executive Branch function or authority. Because

the defendant bears the burden in the first instance of proving that conduct was official 50 as to

qualify for presumptive immunity, the Government in its replybriefwill address any specific

arguments the defense makes regarding the speeches, Tweets, and statements discussed here.
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E. The Defendant's Interactions, in his Capacity as a Candidate, with White House
Stafr

1. The interactions at issue were unofficial

‘White House staffers witnessed or engaged in private, unofficial communications with the

defendant. These staffers included[JJEEENI the White House Senior Advisor who acted as a

‘conduit between the defendant and the Campaign: and [JG] who both volunteered for

the Campaign while working in the White House:JIE] a staffer who witnessed a pertinent private

remark by the defendant;and[JERER] the defendant's executive assistant.

Federal law confirms that the defendant’s Campaign-related conversations with these

White House staffers were unofficial. The Hatch Act permis certain White House staffers to

‘engage in political activity while on duty, see 5 U.S.C. § 7324(a)(1), but prohibits them from using

their “official authority or influence for the purposeofinterfering with or affecting the result ofan

election,” 5 U.S.C. § 7323(a)(1). These staffers can thus wear two hats. They can work in their

private capacity to advance the interests ofa political candidate, including while on official duty,

or they can work in their official capacity to carry out Executive Branch responsibilities—but they

may not wear both hats at the same time. Accordingly, when the defendant’s White House staff

‘participated in political activity on hisbehalfas a candidate, they were not exercising their official

authority or carrying out official responsibilities. And when the President, acting as a candidate,

engaged in Campaign-related activities with these officials or in their presence, he too was not

engaging in official presidential conduct 57

Precedent from the D.C. Circuit further confirms that the defendant was not engaging in

official presidential conduct when he spoke with White House staffers about Campaign matters.

2 Indeed, at least two of the witnesses— | NEI odIRE with the White
House Counsel's Office about their ability fo engage with the Campaign, demonsirating that they
‘understood their roles with respect to the Campaign were distinct from their White House roles.

Su7-
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In fnre Lindsey, 158 F.3d 1263, 1278-79 (D.C. Cir. 1998), the D.C. Circuit recognized that senior

White House personnel may serve as the President's agents in a personal capacity to act as a

conduit for unofficial information from a private party. The D.C. Cireuit held that while the

President's communications with his personal attomey are “fully protected by the absolute

attomey-client privilege.” id. at 1283, a White House lawyer “cannot rely on a government

attomey-client privilege to shield evidence from the grand jury,” id. at 1281. But a White House

lawyer may invoke the President's personal attomey-client privilege when he acts as “an

intermediary” to convey unofficial information from the Presidenttohis personal attorney. fd. As

the court explained,a President must often “rely on aides” to communicate with personal advisors,

suchas his personal attorneys, and the involvementof those aides does not alter the personal nature:

of the underlying communication. d. at 1281-82. Similarly in this case, the transmission of a

private Campaign communication by or to the defendant through a White House employee serving

as an intermediary did not render that communication official and thereby shield it from use in a

criminal rial against the defendant.

In sum, just as the President can at times act “in an unofficial capacity” including as “a

candidate for office or party leader,” Trump, 144 S. Ct. at 2340—s0 t00 can the Executive Branch

staffaround him. Simply because a staffer holds a ttle in the Executive Branch and interacts with

the President does not mean that the interaction is necessarily official. See Blassingame, 87 F.4th

at 14 (noting “the settled understanding that immunity is based on ‘the nature of the function

performed, not the identity of the actor who performed it.” (quoting Clinton, 520 U.S. at 695).

When the individuals listed below interacted with the defendant in the circumstances described in

Section I, those conversations were unofficial.
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-I
From August 2020 through the endof the defendant's administration. was an

Assistant to the President without a defined portfolio.” More importantly for the Court's

purposes, during the charged conspiracies,[JJEEHI served as a conduit of information from

the Campaign to the defendant and discussed Campaign matters with the defendant. These actions

were, consistent with [ re Lindsey, unofficial.

As part of its immunity analysis, the Court should consider multiple different interactions

involving [EEE nove of which bear on his official White House responsibilities: (1) a

‘November 13 phone call in which the defendant told|IGEN be was zoing toput[ESS in

chargeofthe Campaign's legal efforts under an agreement where the defendant only would pay if

were successful, and[JJEEIll evaranteed the defendant he never would have to pay

(supra pp. 11-12); (2) a November conversation with the defendant regarding[SEEN (supra

P- 44); (3) an undated conversation in which he told the defendant that[ESSH fraud allegations

could never be proved in court and the defendant responded, “the details don’t matter” (supra

pp. 12-13); (4) a November or December 2020 conversation in which[JJEEN expeined to

the defendant why one of his fraud claims was “bullshit” (supra p. 13); (5) a late December

exchange with the defendant regarding the verification[[ESSER] wanted him to sign in Trump v.

Kemp (supra p. 27); (6) a January 4, 2021, conversation[GENE baowiESSER (ECF

No. 226 § 77; supra p. 66), after which Herschman reported to the defendant that[ESSER had

admitted his plan was “not going to work” (supra p. 66): and (7) a variety of occasions on which

reported to the defendant that his Campaign and its hired experts had found various

election fraud claims to be unsupported (supra p. 12).

S149-
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Section I also includes actionsby[EEN tatdo not reflect any presidential conduct

because the defendant was not involved. These include December 3 text messages that

exchanged with regarding false fraud claims at a Georgia

legislative hearing (ECF No. 226 § 26(a): supra pp. 21-22), and December 13 text messages

exchanged with Campaign personnel regarding the fraudulent elector scheme (ECF

No. 226 9 60: supra pp. 52-53).

The content of each of[EEN communications with the defendant enumerated

above involve the defendant's Campaign, including the status and viabilityofthe defendant's fraud

claims, the quality of the advice the defendant was receiving from his Campaign advisors, his

litigationandelectoral prospects, and the legality and practicalityof JESSE] proposal that Pence

reject Biden's legitimate electors at the certification proceeding. None of the communications

pertain to general election policy issues or considerations, Justice Department criminal

investigations, Executive Branch functions, or any other presidential responsibilities.

As context for all these communications, the Court should consider

relationship with the defendant, his role in the White House, and his interactions with the

Campaign. relationship with the defendant and his family pre-existed his position

in the White House, and[JENE represented the defendant in bis impeachment trial

did not have a defined portfolio, and worked on matters related to the Justice

Department, including the Portland riots and Section 230of the Communications Decency Act, as

well as Middle East issues and pardons. The Government does not intend to elicit specific

information about communications had with the defendant regarding his official

duties.

Tororo >
-150-
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EER :s ot acting in an official capacity during the conversations enumerated

above, but as a conduit for information from the Campaign. contact with the
Campaign began in October 2020, when he asked Campaign staffersJl neINR
for a tutorial on campaign basics and operations ”* He continued to talk to [Jil] and

leading up to the election to understand different electoral college win/loss scenarios.’ Shortly

thereafter, in early November 2020|EIENos[EKER vo handled ethics issues in

the White House Counsel's Office, for permission to engage with the Campaign, and thereafter

began frequent contact with Campaign staff” Several days after the election,

went to the Campaign headquarters in Virginia for the first time, while

EI EE [RE] vere there too. As discussed supra
p. 9. on November 7—likely the same day he went to the Campaign headquarters— | GENER

joined Campaign staffers, including|JET NEEMandJEM = the White House to discuss with

the defendant the fact that networks that moming had projected Biden as the winner of the

election.” The Campaign staff and told the defendant his chance of victory was

slim. 50 also participated in various Oval Office meetings with the defendant, Pence,

‘White House staff, Campaign officials,and |ERNIE"!

‘The defendant heard and mentioned.to[JEEN and others. various fraud allegations

throughout the post-election period, sometimes from his outside attorneys like[SSH]or[ESSER

6 GA 672-673 .
7 GA 673, 686 .
EGA 673 .
GA 194-195 .
GA 196-197 .
See, e.g. GA 683-684 .
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Consistent with this, [NEN ose IEE and if certain fraud allegations were
accurate, so that he could challenge information provided to the defendant by people like[ISS

ad[EE also began interacting on a near-daily basiswith[JE
Campaign staffer who|EERE odIEEE be covld trust © The Campaign, in tum,

hired two outside firms [JG andJEST investigate fraud allegations.
told the defendant that people external tothe Campaign were hired to look into fraud allegations.

Overall, served as a conduit of day-to-day informationbetween[JE and

the defendant during the post-election period testified that around th tine that[ESS
was named to lead legal efforts, “I was introduced to and I started

predominately reporting to JENIN He elaborated that “started to cll
me more and more. It would be, you know, once every couple of days that then it was kind of

every day for a period oftime that 1 was talking toJESSE With hi information.
ona dailybasis,[JERE attempted to debunk the false fraud allegations in the White House.

For example, afer watching {esify in a December 10, 2020, hearing in
Georgio,JERI sched ot toJEEER Through this channelJINNsmed abot

and[JESS wiformfindings —that no substantial fraud allegations were supported—

essentially in real time. 5? also participated in calls with[[§ll] and had the number

GA 673 : Ga 710 ).
GAT : Ga 715 .

SGA TIS D-
“GA TIS .
“GA SS .
“GA 59 .
“GA TI .
SGATIS, 719 .
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of one of its managing directors, [ENE in bis cell phone; some of those calls occurred at

the White House.”JEdirectly passed the information to the defendant ***

Ind other contact regarding initiatives by the Campaign or its outside
attomeys. For example,JIE wes on a call with the defendant and[SSSR] on December

9 regarding the defendant's motion, in his capacity as a candidate, to intervene in Texas .

Pennsylvania. Separately. [JJG spoke to the defendant about the lawsuit, and explained

how the legal system worked and that the Campaign—no the Justice Department or FBI—was

responsible for filing election challenge lawsuits.

Throughout these conversations, evenif[JJERI could be understood to have been

acting in an official capacity—which he was not—rather than a Campaign one, the defendant was

himself acting in his private capacity as a candidate.Thedefendant was askingfor| NEE

View on various strategic decisions he was making regarding his Campaign and his private

attomeys, and he was getting reports from [SEH on information related to actual and

potential election challenges important to his candidacy and private Campaign. All of this context

establishesboth that [JEEEI wore two hats—oneofficial,oneprivate—andthat thedefendant

interactedvithJENIN in these conversations as a candidate rather than as President, The
interactions between the defendant and| that the Government intends to introduce at

trial were thus all private.

© GATIT-TI8 .
@2GATI3 .
GA 687 3
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b.
served as Assistant to the President and White House Deputy Chiefof Staff. He

also volunteered his time for Campaign work, including traveling to political rallies with the

defendant and posting pictures and videos.” The Government will elicit from JIEZERN at tial

that he was the only person other than the defendant with the ability 10 post to the defendant's

Twitter account, that he sent tweets only at the defendant's expressdirection, andthat JIE did

not send certain specific Tweets, including one at 2:24 p.m. on January 6, 2021. He also will

generally describe the defendant's Twitter knowledge and habits, including that the defendant was

“very active on his Twitter account,” “paid attention to how his tweets played with his followers.”

“was very engaged in watching the news,” and “knew how to read the replies and see all the replies

ofwhat people were saying and doing which... led to where he would retweet things,” and that

any Tweet sent “between 5 or 6 a.m. until 9 or 10 am.” and after “9 or 10 p.m.” generally was the

defendant personally sending out the Tweet, as opposed tohaving JIEEER do it. None of this

proposed testimony on [IEREE's part constitutes evidence of an official act. General information

about access to the defendant's Twitter account, as wellas[IERZER's testimonythat[REZER did

ordid not issue a particular Tweet, is unrelated to any particular official act by the defendant

« IEE.
IEA wes an Assistant to the President and a volunteer for the Campaign.” She will

testify about two specific sets of conversations: (1) a handful of conversations in which the

defendant, in advance of the election, said that he would simply declare victory (supra p. 5); and

or——
© GA 528-529(HE)
“Ga 527(EE:G/ 5+(I
97 GA 241-244(EE)
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(2) an unprompted statement in which the defendant remarked,in aprivate moment,that[SSE]

claims were “crazy” (supra p. 44).

Regarding the pre-election conversations,[J Jlnas testified that COVID's expected effect

on the election, and in particular the anticipated phenomenon that the defendant would take an

early lead in some sates based on the election day vote that would dissipate as mail-in ballots were

counted, was discussed among Campaign personnel and dual-hat White House staffers who

simultaneously volunteered for the Campaign. In that context, the defendant told and

others words to the effect of, “We'll just declare victory.” Regarding the defendant's statement

abou[ESSERJE wil testy about a November 20 phone call in which the defendant mocked

and laughedat[SSEN] and called herallegations —that he adopted and amplified—“crazy.”™®

In allof these interactions, the defendant was interacting as a candidatewith [Jl not as

President. With respect to his pre-election comments about declaring victory, the context of the

conversations indicates that the defendant was responding in real fime to information that

Campaignstaffprovided him on private matters. Similarly, the November 20 conversation among

thedefendant,[JHand RENrecording[EEE was also a Campaign conversation. [Ill

and[JERR two staffers who volunteered for the Campaign while working in the White House,

were informally discussing with the defendant developments in his Campaign—namely that one

of his private attomeys had been a sourceofpublic embarrassment. The defendant then dialed his

privateattomey,[JSS] and made the comment about her claims with her on the muted phone

line. The defendant was not seeking advice from White House staffers: he was making funof his

private attomey in the presence of Campaign volunteers.

GA 250253 .
GA 258 .
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.
was an Assistant to the President and DirectorofOval Office Operations.” At trial,

the Government will elicit fromJ] that he witnessed an unprompted comment that the defendant

made to his family members in which the defendant suggested that he would fight to remain in

power regardless of whether he had won the election. Specifically, following the 2020 election

while aboard Marine One, the defendant told his wife, daughter|I NEREHIN and son-in-law

JIEEER1 doesn't matterifyou wonor lost the election. Youstill have to fight like hell.”

See supra p. 14-15. ‘happened to overhear this comment, but was not participating in the

conversation.”

“This statementi plainly private. It was exclusively about the election and the defendant's

determination, as a candidate, to remain in power whether he won or lost. The defendant made

the comment to his family members, who campaigned on hisbehalfand served as private advisors

(in addition to any offical role they may have played). The fact that it was overheardby[IJa

‘White House staffer, does not convert it to an official communication.

a
To a limited extent, the allegations in the superseding indictment and the Government's

evidenceinvolve[JERR] the defendant's executive assistant in the White House. SectionI

describes multiple instances in which[JRE] received emails intended for the defendant or sent

emails on the defendant’s behalf. These instances include: sending to a groupofprivate

attomeys, including [GEE] an email with the subject “From POTUS" directing the private

attomeys to include material ertca of[NRGERRN i private lass see supra

Ga 307B=Ga304-305(EE
GA 308 .
GA 309 .
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pp. 42); receiving from an email for the defendant providing a copy of the

message[SHI had drafied to exert pressure on Michigan Senate Majority Leader[JH (se

supra p. 34);[REY receivingfrom[JERR the RNC's “Elector Recap” email to put in front

ofthe defendant (see supra p. 57); and[JER]receiving an email from[ESE on December 23

asking to update the defendant on “overall strategic thinking” on the defendant’s status as a

candidate (see suprap. 61).

‘None of these actionsby[JERR in which she was merely facilitating communications

between the defendant and his private attomeys or private political allies. constitute the

defendant's official conduct. regularly facilitated the defendant's purely private matters,

including communications with his children about his Thanksgiving travel ™ The defendant's

relianceon[JER] to pass messages to and from personal advisors, friends, and family does not

render the underlying private communications official. See Lindsey, 158 F.3d at 1281-82.

2. Even if this evidence were deemed official, the Government could rebut any
presumption ofimmunity

Evenif an “official” gloss were applied to the defendants conversations with White House

staff pertaining solely to the President's chances as a candidate to successfully challenge the

election results, the use of such evidence would not intrude on Executive Branch functions or

authority. “The Office of the Presidency as an institution is agnostic about who will occupy it

next.” Blassingame, $7 F.4th at 4. Whatever blurringofthe lines might exist between candidate

conduct and official conduct in conversations that the President may conduct with his immediate

oa toot ano 115)(17020io
dadis going to stay in DC for thanksgiving- ust waned to let you know!”onl
|B tow 1765, 1153 (11/16/2020, “Has DIT solidified his Thanksgiving plans. from
- RENheresponded “As of earlier today, FLOTUS wants to stay up here and POTUS
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staff, introducing evidence ofconversations with dual-hat White Housestaffmembers—those who

function in both a Campaigu-related capacity and an official advisory capacity—when they are

speaking to the President in his capacity as a candidate or in their Campaign-related capacity does.

not impede decision-making on matters entrusted to the Executive Branch. The Supreme Court

required that is rebuttal analysis focus on Executive Branch authority and functions—uot merely
on anything that the President might say or do while at the White House. Here, the Executive

Branch has no authority or function in the certification ofthe next President. Accordingly. the use

ofevidence ofWhite House staffers’ Campaign-capacity discussions with the President about how

to challenge state election results—challenges brought in his capacity as a candidate—does not

risk impairing the constitutional role of the Executive Branch.

F. Other Evidenceof the Defendant’s Knowledge and Intent

‘The Government intends to introduce at trial additional evidence to prove the defendants

knowledge and intent. These include(1) public statements by federal officials that the defendant

did not direct be made (specifically, public statements by Attomey General[J and CISA

Director [JE] about the lack of election fraud and foreign interference); (2) evidence that the

defendant was reviewing Twitter and watching television throughout the aftemoonofJanuary 6;

and (3) the defendants post-Administration statements. None of this evidence will involve

testimony from the defendant's Executive Branchstaff about his official actions.

1. The evidence at issuewas unofficial

a. Statements by federal officials.

P carman.49
In a public statement issued on December 1, 2020, Attorney General[JE said that the

Departmentof Justice had not seen evidenceoffraud sufficient to change the election result, and
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that claims that votingmachineshadskewedelection results wereunsubstantiated. * [Ji]decided

to make his statement without informing the defendant in advance.’ He prepared the statement

becausehehadbeen watching the defendant repeat claimsof election fraud publicly despite direct

knowledge,from[EE] and others, that they were false, and[fg was growing more and more

frustrated by the defendant's actions.” On November 29,JF saw the defendant appear on the

Maria Bartiromo Show and claim, among other false things, that the Justice Department was

“missing in action” and had ignored evidence of fraud.’ decided it was time to speak

publicly in contravention of the defendant's false claims, set up a hunch with a reporter for the

Associated Press, and made hisstatement—all without informingorseeking permission from the

defendant. The same day, on behalf of the Campaign, and[J issued a statement

attacking [JJ for his comments” In the days that followed, [JI] acknowledged and

criticized [JE statement during his podcast, asking rhetorically “ds reading the same

things we're reading?” and prompting guest to comment that “the DOJ has not been

following up on these leads as far as we know right now. That statement seemed to be very

premature. ... [TJhere’s no way one can look at this election in these states and say that it was

done properly.”

Statement is not an official act by the defendant. Zrunp treats only the defendant's

own acts as potentially immune, see, e.g., 144 S. Ct. at 2338, consistent with the “justifying

purposes of the immunity”to ensure that the President can undertake his constitutionally

75 GA 1242-1243 (Email from Comms Alert 12/01/2020).
GA 12-13 .

Ga 10 .
7 GA 1244 (Trump Campaign Press Release 12/01/2020)
70 GA 1978 at 1:56-12:04, 3206-3316 (EE
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designated functions effectively, free from undue pressures or distortions.” id. at 2332 (intemal

‘quotation marks omitted). The immunity that the Supreme Court recognized thus does not imply

that acts by other government officials can qualify as presidential acts. More to thepoint,[EEN

statement does not revealanyofficial action by the defendantbecause[J] did not give his public

statement at thedefendant's directionoreven with his knowledge. To thecontrary,if thedefendant

had been aware of what[i intended to do he undoubtedly would have instructed [Ji not to

make the statement; when the defendant learnedof[EE] statement, he was so angry that

tendered his resignation and, momentarily, the defendant accepted—until [GENE =

[IEEERp<vated upon the defendant to calm down and convinced[Ji]to delay his departure.™!

‘The Government does notintend to introduce evidence that implies that[J orhisdeputies refuted

the defendant's fraud claims to him directly: instead. the Goverment intends to introduce [EEE]

statement and [JSSH Campaign response to it, as wellas[JJI]recognition and repetition

ARsatement
ii. (supra pp. 42-43)

On November 17, CISADirector[JE] tweeted a link to an open letter by 59 election

security experts and touted it in an effort to promote public confidence in the election's

infrastructure.” This was similar to what had done five days earlier on November 12,

when he had publicized the joint statement CISA issued with the National Association of

Secretaries of State, the National Associationof State Election Directors, and other organizations

declaring the 2020 election to be “the most secure in American history” and that there was “no

evidence that any voting system deleted or lost votes, changed votes, or was in any way

Ga 107-115(Io- 115-11>
712 GA 790 (Tweet 11/17/2020),
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compromised.” On November 17,[Ell promoted the expert report on his own initiative and,

as he later leamed, contrary to the defendant's wishes; the defendant promprlyfired[EY the
same day, by Tweet.” The Govemment does not intend to introduce any evidence about the

defendant's removal of[ER] Rather, as with[JE] public statement public Tweets

were not official actions by the defendant and thus are not protected by presidential immunity.

b. The defendant’s use of Twitter and television on January 6 (Superseding
Indictment, ECF No. 226 § 92; supra p. 79)

Forensic evidence fiom the defendants iPhone and observations by witnesses otherwise

testifying about unofficial acts will establish that upon his returm from the Ellipse, throughout the

aftemoon on January 6, the defendant sa in the dining room by the Oval Office, where he used his

phone to review Twitter and watched the television, which was tumed on and displaying news

coverageof the riot at the Capitol"

As explained in the Government's expert notice, ECF No. 183, an FBI Computer Analysis

Response Team forensic examiner can testify as to the news and social media applications

downloaded on the defendant's phone,” and can describe the activity occurring on the phone

throughout the afteroonof Jamuary 6." The phone’s activity logs show that the defendant was

using his phone, and in particular, using the Twitter application, consistently throughout the day

afte he retumed from the Ellipse speech.”

755 GA 779 (Tweet 11/12/2020); GA 1236-1237 (Election Security Joint Statement 11/12/2020).
74 GA 791-794 (DonaldJ. Trump Tweet 11/17/2020).
75 GA 1869-1871 .
75GA 1900 .
7 GA 1872-1885 .
7% GA 1902
Phone. )
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tn addition,|EIN"REA" «nd INNERERI-ch of whom are, as described

supra pp. 147-154, 156, otherwise expected to testify about the defendant's unofficial acts—will

offer the objective observation that during the afiemoon of January 6, the television in the

defendant’s dining room, where he spent the day, was on and tuned into news programs that were

covering in real time the ongoing eventsa the Capitol. In tum, the Governmentwill introduce the

authenticated coverage showing what Fox News was playinginreal time while the defendant sat

in the room with the television on. This evidence is particularly relevant to the defendant's

knowledge at the time he issued the 2:24 p.m. Tweet, which, as described above, was unofficial.

Noneofthis evidence involves testimony about an act by the defendant at all, and it shows

what social media and news the defendant privately reviewed in serviceofissuingaprivate Tweet,

The Government will not elicit testimony from the defendant's staffers about his official

deliberations, reactions to social media or television, or official actions taken in response. The

defendant's review of social media and television news—under these particular circumstances—

was no different from thatofany other citizen or candidate and therefore was unofficial.

c. The defendant's post-Administration statements (supra pp. 81,83)

As the Government identified in its Rule 404(b) notice, ECF No. 174-1 at 89, the

Government will introduce some of the defendant’s mumerous statements that post-date his time

as President in which he has blamed Pence and approved of the actions of his supporters who

breached the Capitol and obstructed the certification proceeding, thus providing evidence of his

intent on January 6.

™GA3IS .
GA 541-543 .

2 See, e.g. GA 1970 at 17:37 (Video of Trump Interview 07/10/2021): GA 1926 at 1:15:30
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‘The defendant's endorsementofthe violent actionsofhis supporters on January 6, and his

sentiment that they were justified in threatening Pence—allmadewhile thedefendantwas a private

citizen after the end of his temn in office—are probative of his intent during the charged

conspiracies. The Government intends to offer them as evidence of the defendant’s intent on

January 6, not as evidenceofhis official acts.

2. Even if this evidence were deemed official, the Government could rebut any
presumptionof immunity

‘The useoftheevidenceregarding formerAttomeyGeneral[JJand CISADirector[EH

would not intrude on Executive Branch authority or functions because the federal officials”

statements reflected those officials” positions, knowledge, and expertise—not presidential acts or

direction. The President is the “the only person who alone composes a branch of government,”

Trump, 14'S. Ct. at 2329 (citation omitted), but Congress structures the Executive Branch and

assigns manifold specific duties to subordinate officers who in tur execute the law. The President

is responsible to take care that the laws be faithfully exceuted, see U.S. Const. Att. 2,§ 3, but that

does not mean that every executive officialis at all imes performing presidential acts. Allowing

the Government to introduce evidence of these independent actions and public statements of

subordinate officials in the Executive Branch, not taken at the directionofthe President, does not

intrude on the authority or functionsofthe Executive Branch. Nothing in Trump dictates such an

(Video of Conroe Rally 01/29/2022): GA 1971 at 15:51, 16:42 (Video of Trump Interview
02/01/2022); GA 1962 at 48:29 (Videoof Trump at Faith and Freedom Coalition 06/17/2022): GA
1966 at 09:30 (Videoof Trump Interview 09/01/2022); GA 1975 at 43:07 (VideoofWaco Rally
03/25/2023); GA 1694 (Transcript of CNN Town Hall 05/10/2023): GA 1964 (Video of Trump
Campaign Statement 2024); GA 1967 at 45:18 (Videoof Trump Interview 08/23/2023); GA 1965
at 56:10, 57:11 (Video of Trump Interview on Meet the Press 09/17/2023); GA 1935 at 35:50,
01:16:16 (Video of Greensboro Rally 03/02/2024); GA 967 (Donald J. Trump Truth Social Post
03/11/2024); Isaac Arsdorfand Maeve Reston, Trump clains violence he inspired on Jan. 6 was
Pence’s fault, Wasi. Post, (Mar 13, 2023, 809 pm)
hitps://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2023/03/13 trump-pence-iowa.
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outcome that would effectively bar any Executive Branch employee from providing evidence

against a President who committed crimes in his private capacity. Put concretely, allowing these

independent acts of Executive Branch officals to be used in the prosecution would not chill any

Presidential conduct, and thus any presumption of immunity is overcome.

‘The same is true for testimony by White Housestaffabout the President's reviewofTwitter

or his watching public events on television. Assuming for the moment that the President

sometimes acts in an official capacity when watching television or reviewing Twitter, no statute

or constitutional provision addresses the matter, and using evidence of his activity that virtually

all citizens engage in—i.e., checking their social-media feeds and watching television—does not

intrude on any authority or functions of the Executive Branch.

IV. Conclusion

Based on a “factbound analysis,” for the reasons explained above, the Court should

determine that the conduct described in the factual proffer of Section Iof this motion is not subject

to presidential immunity. As part of this determination, the Court should specify four

determinations, and do so ina single order: (1) that the Goverment has rebutted the presumption

of immunity attached to the defendant's official communications with the Vice President (see

Supra pp. 49, 63-67, 77-74; ECF No. 226 94 11(¢), 67, 70-78, 80, 82, and 84); and (2) that the

remaining conduct described in Section I (that is, conduct other than the official communications

with the Vice President) was not official, and, in the alternative, that the Government has rebutted

any presumptive immunity for any of the remaining conduct that the Court finds to be official.

The Government requests alternative rulings regarding rebuttal for all conduct the Court finds to

be unofficial, to buttress the Courts record, ensure thorough and efficient appellate review, and

minimize the riskof successive roundsof interlocutory appeal.

-164-- 164 - 

outcome that would effectively bar any Executive Branch employee from providing evidence 

against a President who committed crimes in his private capacity.  Put concretely, allowing these 

independent acts of Executive Branch officials to be used in the prosecution would not chill any 

Presidential conduct, and thus any presumption of immunity is overcome. 

The same is true for testimony by White House staff about the President’s review of Twitter 

or his watching public events on television.  Assuming for the moment that the President 

sometimes acts in an official capacity when watching television or reviewing Twitter, no statute 

or constitutional provision addresses the matter, and using evidence of his activity that virtually 

all citizens engage in—i.e., checking their social-media feeds and watching television—does not

intrude on any authority or functions of the Executive Branch. 

IV. Conclusion

Based on a “factbound analysis,” for the reasons explained above, the Court should 

determine that the conduct described in the factual proffer of Section I of this motion is not subject 

to presidential immunity.  As part of this determination, the Court should specify four 

determinations, and do so in a single order: (1) that the Government has rebutted the presumption 

of immunity attached to the defendant’s official communications with the Vice President (see

supra pp. 49, 63-67, 77-74; ECF No. 226 ¶¶ 11(c), 67, 70-78, 80, 82, and 84); and (2) that the 

remaining conduct described in Section I (that is, conduct other than the official communications 

with the Vice President) was not official, and, in the alternative, that the Government has rebutted 

any presumptive immunity for any of the remaining conduct that the Court finds to be official.

The Government requests alternative rulings regarding rebuttal for all conduct the Court finds to 

be unofficial, to buttress the Court’s record, ensure thorough and efficient appellate review, and 

minimize the risk of successive rounds of interlocutory appeal. 

Case 1:23-cr-00257-TSC   Document 252   Filed 10/02/24   Page 164 of 165



Case 1:23-r-00257-TSC Document 252 Filed 10/02/24 Page 165 of 165

Furthermore, based on the determination that all the conduct described in Section 1 is not

immune from prosecution, and because Section 1 encompasses all the allegations in the

superseding indictment, the Court should further specify: (3) that the defendant is subject to trial

on the superseding indictment; and (4) that the Government is not prohibited at trial from using

evidence of the conduct described in Section I, subject at a later date to non-immunity based

objections and this Court's admissibility rulings under the Federal Rules of Evidence.

Respectfully submitted,

JACK SMITH
Special Counsel

15/ Molly Gaston
Molly Gaston
‘Thomas P. Windom
Senior Assistant Special Counsels
950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW
Room B-206
Washington, D.C. 20530
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